Symbiotic interactions between the parasitic weed *Striga hermonthica* and the arbuscular mycorrhizal fungus *Rhizophagus irregularis* in rice

A thesis submitted by

Andrew J. McNally

In partial fulfilment of the requirement for admittance to the degree of Doctor of Philosophy at the University of Sheffield



Department of Animal & Plant Sciences University of Sheffield Sheffield S10 2TN United Kingdom

September 2016

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank my supervisors, Professor Julie Scholes and Professor Duncan Cameron, for accepting me onto this project, and for their supervision which has been vital to me throughout. I would also like to thank them for their patient reading of this thesis and for their feedback. I am very grateful to Irene Johnson, Maggi Killion, Nichola White and Dr Steffi Tille for all of their technical help. Irene Johnson deserves special mention for providing so much time and quality demonstration to my project. I would like to thank Professor David Read and Dr Gareth Phoenix who acted as project supporters and provided me with support whenever needed. I thank Professor Mike Burrell, Dr Mark Burrell, Dr Heather Walker and Dr Anne-Laure Hepp for their help with mass spectrometry. I acknowledge the funding generously provided by the University of Sheffield.

The friends I have made in Sheffield have been so important; Emily Beardon, Laura Jacobs, Eric Kuria, Richard Louden, Alex McFarlane, Alexis Moschopoulos, Suo Qiu, Peijun Zhang, and many others.

Finally, I would like to thank my parents, my brother and sister, and my friends back home for their support.

Declaration

No portion of the work referred to in this thesis has been submitted in support of another application for another degree or qualification at this or any other university or institute of learning.

Abstract

The parasitic weed *Striga hermonthica* and the arbuscular mycorrhizal (AM) fungus *Rhizophagus irregularis* are both obligate root symbionts that appear to have opposing functions *in planta*. *S. hermonthica* is a parasite that presents a serious threat to subsistence agriculture in sub-Saharan Africa (SSA), whereas *R. irregularis* can enhance host fitness by providing nutrients and inducing plant defence against a range of pathogens and parasites. Previous research into the interaction between AM fungi and *Striga* has found a suppressive effect of the fungus on parasite infection. This has been attributed to a reduction in parasite-seed germinating strigolactones (SLs) released from the host roots as a result of AM-facilitated nutrient enhancement. Given their requirement for association with host roots, *Striga* and AM fungi enter an inherent competition to acquire resources, and alter host physiology in order to achieve their optimum fitness. It is therefore likely that the interaction will involve more than just the pre-attachment SL signalling mechanism. The aim of this thesis was to develop our understanding of this interaction by exploring symbiont success and the effect of the interaction on host growth and physiology.

In chapter 2, the host plant, rice, was grown in pots with both *S. hermonthica* and a commercially available *R. irregularis* inoculum. *R. irregularis* acted as a highly mutualistic symbiont. However, in combination with *S. hermonthica*, there was an increase in *S. hermonthica* infection. Root metabolome analysis indicated opposing effects of each symbiont on host defence chemistry at the time of harvest. I hypothesised that the down-regulation of host defences known to occur during the early stages of AM colonisation were responsible for the increase in *S. hermonthica* infection, and that high nutrient supply coupled with nutrient provision by the fungus allowed the host plant to support the increase in parasite demand for host nutrients.

In chapter 3, I manipulated the nutrient supply to the host to see how this alters the ability of the host to support *S. hermonthica*. Hairy root cultures of *R. irregularis* isolate 09 were used instead of the commercial inoculum used in chapter 2. Large differences in root growth between host plants supplied with high and low nutrient treatments made comparisons of symbiont success problematic. Interestingly though, the isolate of *R. irregularis* used in this chapter had a commensal relationship with the host in contrast to the mutualistic isolate used in chapter 2. Furthermore, there was little alteration in *S. hermonthica* infection in the presence of the fungus. These observations showed the importance of AM fungal identity for host plants and on subsequent competition with *S. hermonthica*.

In chapter 4, I used rhizotrons to investigate how the order of colonisation/infection alters symbiont success. *R. irregularis* isolate 09 was used to colonise plants in rhizotrons before, after and at the same time as *S. hermonthica*. Early arrival afforded a priority effect, which suppressed the invading symbiont, and each symbiont appeared to exclude the other from specific roots.

Overall, this thesis has expanded our knowledge of the AM-*Striga*-host interaction by exploring mechanisms beyond SL signalling. I have shown that the impact of an AM fungus on *Striga* is context-dependent and may not always be beneficial by reducing parasite infection. Furthermore, the order of symbiont arrival and its effects on host physiology may determine symbiont success.

Abbreviations

2,6-DMBQ	2,6-dimethoxy-benzoquinone
ABA	Abscisic acid
AM	Arbuscular mycorrhizal
ANOVA	Analysis of variance
С	Carbon
DAC	Days after colonisation
DAI	Days after infection
DAS	Days after sowing
ESI	Electrospray ionisation
HIF	Haustorial initiation factor
HR	Hypersensitive response
IRRI	International Rice Research Institute
JA	Jasmonic acid
Ν	Nitrogen
OPLS-DA	Orthogonal partial least squares- Discriminant analysis
Р	Phosphorus
PCA	Principle component analysis
PGPR	Plant growth-promoting rhizobacteria
PLS-DA	Partial least squares- Discriminant analysis
SA	Salicylic acid
SL	Strigolactone
SSA	SSA
WAS	Weeks after sowing

Contents

Chapter 1	1
General introduction	1
1.1 Plant symbiosis	2
1.2 Plant symbiosis in agriculture	4
1.3 The arbuscular mycorrhizal (AM) symbiosis	6
1.3.1 Detection and pre-symbiotic signalling during AM colonisation	8
1.3.2 Regulation of host defence for successful AM colonisation	12
1.3.3 Nutrient exchange and benefit in the AM symbiosis	15
1.3.4 Modification and hijack of the AM symbiosis	17
1.4 Parasitic plants	18
1.4.1 Pre-attachment stages of the Striga lifecycle and host defence	21
1.4.2 Post-attachment stages of the <i>Striga</i> lifecycle and host defence	24
1.4.3 Host defence hormone responses to Striga infection	27
1.4.4 The effect of <i>Striga</i> on host growth	30
1.5 Previous work on the interaction between AM fungi and Striga	31
1.6 Rice: A model host and staple crop	34
1.7 Key considerations for this thesis	36
1.8 Aims, hypotheses and objectives	36
Chapter 2	40
Analysis of the interaction between <i>Rhizophagus irregularis</i> and <i>Striga hermonth</i> in rice: consequences for the host defence metabolome and symbiont success	<i>ica</i> 40
2.1 Introduction	41
2.2 Materials and Methods	47
2.2.1 Plant and fungal materials	47
2.2.2 Experimental set up	47
2.2.3 Measurements of plant morphology	50
2.2.4 Harvesting of plant material	50
2.2.5 Staining of roots and quantification of mycorrhizal colonisation	51
2.2.6 Nutrient determination	52
2.2.7 Metabolite extraction	54
2.2.8 Analysis of the root defence metabolome by MALDI-MS	54
2.2.9 Metabolomics data processing	55

2.2.10 Confirmation of select putative compounds by MS/MS	59
2.2.11 Statistical analyses	59
2.3 Results	61
2.3.1 Morphology of rice cultivars IAC165 and Shiokari in the presence of <i>I irregularis</i> and <i>S. hermonthica</i>	R. 61
2.3.2 Above- and below-ground biomass and N and P concentration of rice cultivars IAC 165 and Shiokari in the presence of <i>R. irregularis</i> and <i>S. hermonthica</i>	64
2.3.3 <i>Striga</i> infection and AM colonization of rice cultivars IAC165 and Shiokari grown with <i>R. irregularis</i> and <i>S. hermonthica</i>	66
2.3.4 Root metabolome analysis of rice cultivar IAC165	68
2.4 Discussion	76
2.4.1 Does nutrient status and/or alterations in host defence due to the present of <i>R. irregularis</i> explain the increase in susceptibility to <i>S. hermonthica</i> infection?	nce 76
2.4.2 Does colonisation by <i>R. irregularis</i> alleviate the negative effects of <i>S. hermonthica</i> ?	80
2.4.3 Conclusions	81
Chapter 3	83
Chapter 3 How does altering nitrogen and phosphorus supply influence symbiont success an host growth during the interaction between <i>Rhizophagus irregularis</i> and <i>Striga</i> <i>hermonthica</i> ?	83 nd 83
Chapter 3 How does altering nitrogen and phosphorus supply influence symbiont success an host growth during the interaction between <i>Rhizophagus irregularis</i> and <i>Striga</i> <i>hermonthica</i> ? 3.1 Introduction	83 nd 83 84
Chapter 3 How does altering nitrogen and phosphorus supply influence symbiont success at host growth during the interaction between <i>Rhizophagus irregularis</i> and <i>Striga</i> <i>hermonthica</i> ? 3.1 Introduction 3.2 Materials and methods	83 nd 83 84 88
Chapter 3 How does altering nitrogen and phosphorus supply influence symbiont success at host growth during the interaction between <i>Rhizophagus irregularis</i> and <i>Striga</i> <i>hermonthica</i> ? 3.1 Introduction 3.2 Materials and methods 3.2.1 Plant and fungal materials	83 nd 83 84 88
 Chapter 3 How does altering nitrogen and phosphorus supply influence symbiont success at host growth during the interaction between <i>Rhizophagus irregularis</i> and <i>Striga hermonthica</i>? 3.1 Introduction	83 nd 83 84 88 88 vth 88
 Chapter 3 How does altering nitrogen and phosphorus supply influence symbiont success at host growth during the interaction between <i>Rhizophagus irregularis</i> and Striga <i>hermonthica</i>? 3.1 Introduction	83 nd 83 84 88 88 vth 88 89
 Chapter 3 How does altering nitrogen and phosphorus supply influence symbiont success at host growth during the interaction between <i>Rhizophagus irregularis</i> and <i>Striga hermonthica</i>?	83 nd 83 84 88 88 wth 88 89 89
 Chapter 3 How does altering nitrogen and phosphorus supply influence symbiont success at host growth during the interaction between <i>Rhizophagus irregularis</i> and <i>Striga hermonthica</i>? 3.1 Introduction	83 nd 83 84 88 88 wth 88 89 89 90
 Chapter 3 How does altering nitrogen and phosphorus supply influence symbiont success at host growth during the interaction between <i>Rhizophagus irregularis</i> and Striga <i>hermonthica</i>? 3.1 Introduction 3.2 Materials and methods	83 nd 83 84 88 88 wth 88 89 89 90 90
 Chapter 3 How does altering nitrogen and phosphorus supply influence symbiont success at host growth during the interaction between <i>Rhizophagus irregularis</i> and Striga <i>hermonthica</i>? 3.1 Introduction	83 nd 83 84 88 88 88 89 89 90 90 91
Chapter 3 How does altering nitrogen and phosphorus supply influence symbiont success at host growth during the interaction between <i>Rhizophagus irregularis</i> and Striga <i>hermonthica</i> ? 3.1 Introduction 3.2 Materials and methods 3.2.1 Plant and fungal materials 3.2.2 The effect of altering substrate N/P supply on host nutrient status, grow <i>R. irregularis</i> colonisation and <i>S. hermonthica</i> infection 3.2.3 Measurements of plant morphology 3.2.4 Harvesting of plant material 3.2.5 Staining of roots and quantification of mycorrhizal colonisation 3.2.6 Nutrient determination 3.2.7 Root exudation collection	83 nd 83 84 88 88 88 89 89 90 90 91 91
Chapter 3 How does altering nitrogen and phosphorus supply influence symbiont success at host growth during the interaction between <i>Rhizophagus irregularis</i> and Striga <i>hermonthica</i> ? 3.1 Introduction 3.2 Materials and methods 3.2.1 Plant and fungal materials 3.2.2 The effect of altering substrate N/P supply on host nutrient status, grow <i>R. irregularis</i> colonisation and <i>S. hermonthica</i> infection 3.2.3 Measurements of plant morphology 3.2.4 Harvesting of plant material 3.2.5 Staining of roots and quantification of mycorrhizal colonisation 3.2.7 Root exudation collection 3.2.8 Germination bioassay 3.2.9 Statistical analyses	83 nd 83 84 88 88 88 89 89 90 90 91 91 92

3.3.1 The effect of high and low supply of N and P on the morphology of the rice cultivar IAC 165 grown in the presence of <i>R. irregularis</i> and <i>S. hermonthica</i> alone and in combination
3.3.2 The effect of high and low N and P supply on the above- and below- ground biomass and N and P concentration of IAC 165 grown with <i>R</i> . <i>irregularis</i> and <i>S. hermonthica</i> alone or in combination
3.3.3 The effect of high and low N/P supply on AM colonization of rice cultivar IAC165 grown with <i>R. irregularis</i> alone and in combination with <i>S. hermonthica</i>
3.3.4 The effect of high and low N/P supply on <i>S. hermonthica</i> infection of the rice cultivar IAC165 grown with <i>S. hermonthica</i> alone and in combination with <i>R. irregularis</i>
3.3.5 Ability of roots exudates from the rice cultivar IAC 165 grown with high N/P supply in the absence or presence of <i>R. irregularis</i> to germinate <i>S. hermonthica</i> seeds and cause the development of haustoria
3.4 Discussion
3.4.1 How did mycorrhizal colonisation and host response to <i>R. irregularis</i> differ between chapter 2 and chapter 3?
3.4.2 How did competition for host nutrients by the competitive AM fungus affect the interaction with S. <i>hermonthica</i> ?
3.4.3 Conclusions
Chapter 4
How does altering the order of infection influence the outcome of the competitive interaction between <i>Striga hermonthica</i> and <i>Rhizophagus irregularis</i>
4.1 Introduction
4.1.1 Why is the order of colonisation/infection important in the interaction between AM fungi and <i>Striga</i> ?
4.1.2 Could a priority effect be established by early arrival of either AM fungi or <i>Striga</i> ?
 4.1.2 Could a priority effect be established by early arrival of either AM fungi or <i>Striga</i>?
 4.1.2 Could a priority effect be established by early arrival of either AM fungi or <i>Striga</i>?
 4.1.2 Could a priority effect be established by early arrival of either AM fungi or <i>Striga</i>?
 4.1.2 Could a priority effect be established by early arrival of either AM fungi or <i>Striga</i>?
4.1.2 Could a priority effect be established by early arrival of either AM fungi or <i>Striga</i> ? 119 4.2 Materials and methods 122 4.2.1 Plant and fungal materials 122 4.2.2 Growth of the rice cultivar IAC 165 in rhizotrons 122 4.2.3 Colonisation/infection of IAC 165 in rhizotrons with <i>R. irregularis</i> and <i>S. hermonthica</i> 123 4.2.4 Experimental timeline for co-colonisation/infection and invasion after 5 days. 124
 4.1.2 Could a priority effect be established by early arrival of either AM fungi or <i>Striga</i>? 4.2 Materials and methods 4.2.1 Plant and fungal materials 4.2.2 Growth of the rice cultivar IAC 165 in rhizotrons 4.2.3 Colonisation/infection of IAC 165 in rhizotrons with <i>R. irregularis</i> and <i>S. hermonthica</i> 4.2.4 Experimental timeline for co-colonisation/infection and invasion after 5 days. 4.2.5 Experimental timeline for pre-colonisation with <i>R. irregularis</i> for 21 days before <i>S. hermonthica</i> invasion.

4.2.6 Quantification of S. hermonthica infection	127
4.2.7 Staining of roots and quantification of mycorrhizal colonisation	127
4.2.8 Statistical analyses	128
4.3 Results	129
4.3.1 <i>R. irregularis</i> colonisation and <i>S. hermonthica</i> infection after co- colonisation/infection and after arrival 5 days after pre-colonisation/infecti	on. 129
4.3.2 Pre-colonisation with <i>R. irregularis</i> for 21 days before <i>S. hermonthic</i> invasion.	ra 133
4.4 Discussion	135
4.4.1 What is the mechanistic basis for the priority effect observed for <i>R</i> . <i>irregularis</i> ?	136
4.4.2 What is the mechanistic basis for the priority effect observed for <i>S</i> . <i>hermonthica</i> ?	141
4.4.3 Conclusions	142
Chapter 5	143
General discussion	143
5.1 Beyond the SL mechanism for understanding the interaction between AM fungi and <i>Striga</i>	[144
5.2 The order of colonisation/infection is critical for determining the influenc nutrients or defences will have on symbiont and host success	e that 145
References	150
Appendix A	173
ANOVA tables for statistics carried out in chapter 2	173
Appendix B	180
ANOVA tables for statistics carried out in chapter 3	180

Chapter 1

General introduction

1.1 Plant symbiosis

Symbiosis describes the intimate interaction between different organisms (de Bary 1879), where genes that exist in another organism are utilized to allow individuals to overcome their own genetic limitations and carve out a new niche for themselves as symbionts (Douglas, 1994). Symbioses can be described along a complete spectrum of associations from mutualism to competition according to the relative benefit for the organisms involved (Johnson et al., 1997). Competition describes interactions where both parties are inhibited, whereas mutualism describes symbioses where both symbionts benefit. Other possible outcomes are; commensalism, where one partner benefits but the other is not affected; parasitism, where one symbiont benefits at the expense of the other; neutralism, where neither is affected; and amensalism, where one partner is not affected but the other is inhibited (Johnson et al., 1997). The costbenefit currency is fitness (reproductive success), for which multiple measurement proxies such growth and disease resistance as well as seed production are used in scientific studies.

Plants host a diverse array of symbionts, from mutualistic arbuscular mycorrhizal (AM) fungi (Smith and Read, 2008) and plant growth-promoting rhizobacteria (PGPR) (Lugtenberg and Kamilova, 2009) through to pathogenic bacteria (Mansfield et al., 2012), fungi (Rodriguez et al., 2009), nematodes (Holbein et al., 2016), and parasitic plants (Westwood et al., 2010, Tesitel, 2016). Based on the impacts of each symbiont, the classification of many symbioses can be obvious. For example, parasitic plants like Striga hermonthica extract nutrients and water from their host, severely reducing host growth in the process (Frost et al., 1997, Gurney et al., 1999, Oswald and Ransom, 2004, Cissoko et al., 2011). However, the outcome of many symbiotic interactions can be less predictable, particularly in symbioses that have the potential to be mutualistic (Jones and Smith, 2004, Jones et al., 2015). For example, the AM symbiosis, in which plants receive nutrients, mainly phosphorus (P), from an associated fungus in return for plant-fixed carbon (C) (Smith and Read, 2008), is generally considered to be mutualistic (Jones and Smith, 2004). In reality, because AM fungi impose a C demand on the host plant, requiring as much as 20 % of host photosynthate (Jakobsen and Rosendahl, 1990), the AM symbiosis can lead to host exploitation (Klironomos, 2003). AM fungi are obligate symbionts that require a host to complete their life cycle, so they can be considered beneficiaries of the symbiosis by default, so the AM symbiosis is normally classified as being either mutualistic, commensal, or parasitic depending on the benefit received conferred to the host plant (Johnson et al., 1997).

Exploitation can occur in both directions in the in plant-fungus associations. Plant parasitism of an associated fungus, known as mycoheterotrophy, illustrates this (Leake, 1994). Symbioses not only differ in their nature depending on the partners involved, but their relative benefit to each symbiont can also fluctuate in a temporal manner. For example, mycoheterotrophs which develop through achlorophyllos to photosynthetic life stages can use a 'take now, pay later' strategy; taking nutrients from the fungus during the achlorophyllous stages of their lifecycle, but giving C back when they reach a photosynthetic stage (Cameron et al., 2008b, Field et al., 2015).

The story of plant symbiosis is one of the coevolution of individual genomes resulting from genome interactions. The phenotype of an interaction depends on the genotypes (G) of the individuals involved, and so are referred to as genotype by genotype (GxG) interactions (Hamilton, 1980). Symbioses rarely occur in simple pairs in isolation. Co-infections and the interaction with the environment (GxGxGxE), make plant symbioses complex and challenging to study (Bose and Schulte, 2014). However, their importance in nature and in agriculture makes our understanding of them vital.

Symbiosis is so widespread in nature that it is considered the norm (Smith et al., 2011). For example, over 80% of terrestrial plant species form symbioses with AM fungi (Parniske, 2008). Plants are constantly challenged by potential symbionts and, as sessile organisms, their ability to regulate them is critical for plant fitness. Due to their widespread nature and significant effects on plant fitness, plant symbioses are major influencers of natural ecosystems (Press and Phoenix, 2005, Cameron, 2010). In fact, symbioses between ancient plant and fungal ancestors are believed to have been vital for the colonisation of land by plants (Pirozynski and Malloch, 1975). Researchers consider symbionts such as AM fungi and parasitic plants to be highly

influential ecosystem engineers by altering the fitness of host plants relative to neighbouring competitors (Press and Phoenix, 2005, Cameron, 2010). Plant symbioses, both beneficial and detrimental, are also important in agroecosystems, particularly as their effects on plant fitness can be very different in anthropogenic environments compared to natural environments.

1.2 Plant symbiosis in agriculture

The domestication of plants leading to agriculture has itself been described as a symbiosis between man and plants (Rindos, 1980). As a 10,000 year old anthropogenic practise, agriculture represents a relatively recent and dramatic shift in selection pressures for plant symbioses (Doebley et al., 2006). Agricultural practices such as the use of fertilisers, biocides, tillage and monoculture are the major driving factors behind the generation of agroecosystems (Verbruggen and Kiers, 2010).

Arable soils, which are constantly re-used in a cycle of input and harvest, differ markedly from most soils in natural ecosystems and this can lead to alterations in symbiont-host relationships (Verbruggen and Kiers, 2010). High nutrient supply has been known to both increase and decrease plant disease severity (Dordas, 2008, Veresoglou et al., 2013). N addition has been shown to decrease disease symptoms caused by *Fusarium verticilliodes* in sugarcane compared to plants growth without N addition (Lin et al., 2016). On the other hand, the susceptibility of tomato to the powdery mildew-causing *Oidium lycopersicum* can increase significantly with increasing N supply and leaf N concentration (Hoffland et al., 2000). In line with this, a meta-analysis on 57 articles has shown that in the majority of cases, N fertilisation increases the severity of plant diseases (Veresoglou et al., 2013).

However, the opposite is true in the case of the parasitic plant *Striga*, for which high nutrient conditions are known to decrease emergence and biomass of the parasite and the negative impact on the host (Cechin and Press, 1993b, Cechin and Press, 1994). Increased nutrient supply (predominantly N but also P) can reduce parasite attachment in rice (Riches et al., 2005, Adagba et al., 2002, Jamil et al., 2011a), maize (Kamara et al., 2009, Ahonsi et al., 2002, Jamil et al., 2012), pearl millet (Jamil et al., 2014), and sorghum (Cechin and Press, 1993b, Showemimo et al., 2002,

Jamil et al., 2013). However, low input practices such as those used in many areas of sub-Saharan Africa (SSA) by subsistence farmers generate nutrient poor fields, and this is where *Striga* infestation is most severe (Ejeta, 2007). *Striga* parasitises most of the staple cereal crops grown in SSA and is provided with a constant supply of fresh host plants with each growing season (Scholes and Press, 2008).

As well as altering disease severity, high input practices are also known to influence the diversity of beneficial symbionts like AM fungi (Bender et al., 2016). In general, diversity in high intensity agroecosystems is lower than in natural ecosystems, and greater management intensity increases this trend (Hole et al., 2005). Consistent with this, AM fungal diversity has been shown to decrease in conventional high input agricultural systems compared to lower input organic systems or natural systems (Helgason et al., 1998, Kohl et al., 2014, Hijri et al., 2006, van der Gast et al., 2011, Dai et al., 2014). For example, using 454 pyrosequencing analysis of 18s rRNA gene fragments, Lin et al. (2012) found that AM diversity and richness significantly decreased in soils under long-term nutrient fertilisation conditions (Lin et al., 2012). As with Striga, nutrient addition has been shown to decrease the symbiotic success of AM fungi. For example, Mader et al. (2000) measured AM colonisation in wheat, vetch-rye and grass clover grown in a long term field trial comparing low and high input sites differing in the amount of fertiliser input. It was found that % root length colonisation was significantly higher (by 30-60%) in plants grown in low input soils than in those grown in conventional soils (Mader et al., 2000). Therefore, in a similar way to the parasitic plant Striga, low input practices such as those used in SSA may actually benefit mycorrhizal colonisation.

It is therefore likely that AM fungi and *Striga* will interact in agricultural systems in SSA, making it prudent to seek an in-depth understanding of their interaction. If both symbionts occur in the same environment and are enhanced by similar conditions, they will enter an inherent competition for host association, space and resources. As part of this competition, both AM fungi and *Striga* need to manipulate the physiology of the host plant in order to achieve their optimum fitness. Currently, very little is known about how the two organisms interact with each other at a physiological level and the consequences of this for the host plant. I will therefore

review what is known about the individual symbioses before considering the interaction.

1.3 The arbuscular mycorrhizal (AM) symbiosis

The AM symbiosis is over 450 million years old, and is a relationship which is formed between fungi of the phylum Glomeromycota with over 80% of terrestrial plant species (Redecker et al., 2000, Schussler et al., 2001, Parniske, 2008). Many AM fungi within the Glomeromycota have recently been reclassified (Table 1.1), aided by new molecular evidence resulting in the rejection or merger of a number of species whose description was previously restricted to the analysis of spore morphology (Schüßler and Walker 2010, Schüßler et al. 2011, Redecker et al. 2013). Examples of important newly named AM fungi are shown in Table 1.1.

Previous name	New name	
Gigaspora decipiens	Unchanged	
Gigaspora gigantea	Unchanged	
Gigaspora margarita	Unchanged	
Gigaspora rosea	Unchanged	
Glomus claroideum	Claroideoglomus claroideum	
Glomus clarum	Rhizophagus clarus	
Glomus etunicatum	Claroideoglomus etunicatum	
Glomus geosporum	Funneliformis geosporum	
Glomus hoi	Unchanged	
Glomus intraradices	Rhizophagus irregularis	
Glomus irregulare	Rhizophagus irregularis	
Glomus mosseae	Funneliformis mosseae	
Glomus monosporum	Unchanged	
Glomus versiforme	Diversispora epigaea	
Scutellospora calospora	Unchanged	
Scutellospora dipurpurescens	Unchanged	
Scutellospora fulgida	Unchanged	

Table 1.1 Example list of AM fungal species showing previous and new names. This table shows the new names currently being used after Schüßler and Walker (2010), Schüßler et al. 2011 and Redecker et al (2013).

In the AM symbiosis, the host plant receives nutrients, mainly phosphorus (P) but also nitrogen (N) in return for plant-fixed carbon (C) (Govindarajulu et al., 2005, Smith and Read, 2008). The problem with P in plant nutrition is that it is highly immobile in the soil. This means that the uptake of P results in a depletion zone around the roots which cannot be restored sufficiently by mass flow and diffusion (Lambers et al., 2006). AM fungal hyphal networks in the soil effectively extend the root system of the host plant outside of this depletion zone. In return, plants can allocate around 5-30% of photosynthate to mycorrhizal symbionts (Staddon and Fitter, 1998). This is an obligatory arrangement for the fungus that is required to complete its lifecycle. The bi-directional transfer of resources represents an opportunity for reciprocal reward for both partners, increasing the fitness of both as part of a mutualistic association. Nutrient transfer occurs inside the host root cortex via two major development patterns observed in AM fungi; the Arum-type and Paristype. The *Arum*-type is defined by extensive intercellular growth and branching in the root cortex, whereas the Paris-type is defined by cell-to-cell growth of intracellular hyphal coils (Smith and Smith, 1997). The Arum-type is the most widely studied and is formed in the association between rice and R. irregularis (Gomez and Harrison, 2009), which is the AM interaction studied in this thesis.

In this thesis the fungal species used in all experiments is *Rhizophagus irregularis*. This species was selected because *R. irregularis* is a widely used AM fungus in mycorrhizal studies, and it is widely available in both commercial and axenic culture forms. The use of a limited number of species and isolates in scientific studies prevents us from making assumptions about the effects of AM fungi on host plants in general. Because of this, care must be taken to avoid making general assumptions about AM fungi in the field based on controlled experiments, and to recognise that a single isolate under experimental conditions gives us a limited idea of the effects of AM fungi in the field where environmental conditions, AM and host communities are highly variable. It is noted throughout this thesis that experimental contexts are likely to significantly alter the result of the AM interactions. For example, a particularly crucial factor in the field may be the diversity of AM fungi and the presence of other plant growth-promoting rhizobacteria in the soil compared to highly controlled experiments. This will be discussed in the following sections and

throughout this thesis. Despite these problems, previous research has resulted in a detailed mechanistic overview of the colonisation process by AM fungi, and this colonisation process will be discussed next.

Before nutrient exchange can occur, the AM symbiosis needs to be established between two compatible partners. To this end, the establishment of the AM symbiosis requires complex signalling between plant and fungus. The establishment of the symbiosis and the role of plant defences will therefore be considered first, followed by consideration of nutrient exchange between host and symbiont.

1.3.1 Detection and pre-symbiotic signalling during AM colonisation

Before AM-specific signalling takes place, it is likely that AM fungi appear to a plant as a potentially parasitic invader looking to exploit it as a nutrient resource. Plants use pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) to detect microbes via pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) (Zipfel, 2008). Upon detection by plant PRRs, PAMPs induce PAMP-triggered immunity (PTI), the first layer of plant immunity which includes the production of reactive oxygen species (ROS), callose deposition at the cell wall, expression of defence-related genes, and the production of defence hormones salicylic acid (SA), jasmonic acid (JA), and ethylene (Zhang and Zhou, 2010). Examples of PAMPs include the glucans, chitins and proteins which are major components of fungal cell walls (Eckardt, 2008). A more useful term for these molecular patterns is microbe-associated molecular patterns (MAMPs), since they can originate from commensal and mutualistic microbes as well as pathogens (Sanchez-Vallet et al., 2015). It is therefore possible that MAMPs like these in AM fungi can be recognised by PRRs causing MAMP-triggered immunity in potential hosts. In order to suppress host immune responses, a symbiosis-specific signalling dialogue is required between the plant and fungus. This is initiated by chemicals released from plant roots.

For the process of AM colonisation to begin (Fig. 1.1), the release of branching factors called strigolactones (SLs) from plant roots represents the initial signal to which the fungi respond by initiating hyphal branching (Akiyama et al., 2005). SLs degrade rapidly in the rhizosphere resulting in a steep concentration gradient which

provides a guide for the fungal hyphae towards the root (Akiyama et al., 2005, Ruyter-Spira et al., 2013). AM fungi can respond to SLs down to picogram and nanogram levels, suggesting that AM fungi use a highly sensitive mechanism for detecting SLs at such low levels (Akiyama and Hayashi, 2006).



Fig. 1.1 The AM fungi infection process from SL perception to arbuscule formation (Genre et al., 2008, Parniske, 2008). PPA = prepenetration apparatus.

Ideally for the plant, specific blends of SLs will signal to beneficial AM fungi but not to parasites and pathogens (Akiyama et al., 2010). Over 20 different SLs have been reported so far (Kisugi et al., 2013, Xie et al., 2013), and they differ significantly in their ability to induce hyphal branching in AM fungi, but also in their ability to induce parasitic plant seed germination (Akiyama et al., 2010, Nomura et al., 2013, Cardoso et al., 2014). For example, the SL orobanchol is known as a particularly strong inducer of hyphal branching in AM fungi (Akiyama et al., 2010). Cardoso et al. (2014) analysed the SL content of root exudates from rice, and measured their stimulatory effects on hyphal branching in the AM fungus *Gigaspora margarita* and seed germination in the parasitic plant *Striga hermonthica*. It was found that particular SLs such as (-)-orobanchol and *ent-2-epi-5*-deoxystrigol strongly stimulated *G. margarita* hyphal branching, but had little germination stimulating activity on *S. hermonthica* seeds (Cardoso et al., 2014).

Structurally, SLs consist of four rings (A-D), with the C and D rings connected by an enol ether bond (Fig. 1.2). Most variation between SLs results from different side groups and modifications at the A and B rings, while the C and D rings appear highly conserved (Tsuchiya and McCourt, 2012). Structural requirements of SLs, such as the enol ether bridge between the C and D rings, are essential for germinating parasitic plant seeds, but bridge identity is thought to be less important for inducing hyphal branching in AM fungi (Akiyama et al., 2010). For example, Akiyama et al. (2010) showed that SLs with aloxy or imino C-D bridges both stimulate hyphal branching.





GR24

Fig. 1.2 The general structure of strigolactones (left), and the structure of the synthetic SL, GR24 (Tsuchiya and McCourt, 2012).

Plants produce and release more SLs under N and P stress (Lopez-Raez et al., 2008, Yoneyama et al., 2012). This allows plants to enhance recruitment of AM fungi so as to exploit their hyphal network, and is also used by leguminous plants to form nodulating symbioses with N-fixing *Rhizobium* spp. (Akiyama et al., 2005, Foo et al., 2013). Sufficient nutrient levels act to suppress SL production and release; mycorrhizal colonisation also reduces SL production and release by enhancing host nutrient status (Jamil et al., 2013, Lopez-Raez et al., 2011). Reduced SL production and release can in turn reduces AM recruitment, as seen by the reduced levels of AM colonisation seen in plant mutants defective in SL biosynthesis (Kohlen et al., 2012). For example, *Pisum sativum* (pea) mutants defective in SL biosynthesis (*rms1*) show reduced AM colonisation by *Rhizophagus irregularis*, and this phenotype can be

restored by the application of the synthetic SL analogue GR24 (Gomez-Roldan et al., 2008).

As well as SLs, flavonoids have also been shown to act as rhizosphere signals by inducing AM spore germination and hyphal branching in the rhizosphere, where they also have roles as allelochemicals that can inhibit the germination and growth of parasitic plant seeds (Tsanuo et al., 2003, Hooper et al., 2010). Endogenous host flavonoid accumulation varies throughout AM colonisation. For example, flavonoids are induced before *R. irregularis* colonisation in response to fungal signals (Larose et al., 2002). Akiyama et al. (2002) used high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) to show that P-deficient melon roots accumulate C-glycosylflavonoid to promote colonisation by the AM fungus *Glomus caledonium*. In the same study, colonisation in P-deficient plants was significantly higher than in plants grown with high P, but application of C-glycosylflavonoid increased colonisation in plants supplied with high P to levels seen in P-deficient plants (Akiyama et al., 2002).

The perception of host-released signals sets the pre-symbiotic growth phase of the fungus in motion, increasing the number and activity of mitochondria in fungal cells leading to the characteristic increase in branching (Besserer et al., 2006). An increase in hyphal branching increases the chances of root contact by the fungus, and also initiates a complex signalling dialogue between the plant and fungus (Parniske, 2008). In response to host signals, AM fungi synthesise and release mycorrhizal (Myc) factors, chito-oligosaccharides (COs) and lipo-chitooligosaccharides (LCOs) (Kosuta et al., 2003, Genre et al., 2013, Maillet et al., 2011). Myc factors, COs and LCOs trigger a range of host responses including calcium spiking and the expression of symbiosis-related genes (Kosuta et al., 2008, Czaja et al., 2012, Genre et al., 2013). At this stage, plant-derived cutin monomers are released from the root surface which stimulate the formation of a specialised type of fungal appressoria called the hyphopodium which leads to the penetration stage of the symbiosis (Wang et al., 2012, Murray et al., 2013). The prepenetration apparatus (PPA) is then formed by the plant to determine the path of the infecting fungal hyphae through the epidermis and cortical cells (Genre et al., 2005).

Plant signals sent into the rhizosphere can stimulate a number of organisms including parasites and pathogens, so the point of hyphal contact is critical because the plant needs to determine if the prospective symbiont is beneficial or not, and therefore must regulate its immune system to encourage or dissuade its progression (Hayashi et al., 2014, Bulgarelli et al., 2013). AM fungi have been shown to transiently induce SA at the early stages of infection, potentially due to host recognition of AM fungal MAMPs. For example, transient SA accumulation has been observed during mycorrhizal colonisation by Funneliformis mosseae (syn. Glomus mosseae) of Pisum sativum, Nicotiana tobacum and Oryza sativa (Blilou et al., 1999, Blilou et al., 2000a, Blilou et al., 2000b). Accumulation of SA is even greater in symbiosis-resistant P. sativum mutants (P2), indicating the involvement of SA in an early defence response during mycorrhizal colonisation (Blilou et al., 1999, Garcia-Garrido and Ocampo, 2002). Induction of SA biosynthesis and SA-dependent defences are known to occur in response to the perception of many biotrophic fungi (Glazebrook, 2005). As biotrophic fungi which rely on symbiosis with a plant partner, AM fungi must overcome these plant defences. The transient nature of the SA response suggests that the initial defence response is suppressed at later stages of mycorrhizal colonisation.

1.3.2 Regulation of host defence for successful AM colonisation

The suppression of plant defences by pathogens is mainly achieved via secreted effector proteins which are delivered into the host cell (Kamoun, 2007). An effector protein (SP7) has been identified in AM fungi (Kloppholz et al., 2011). During colonisation of *Medicago truncatula* roots by the AM fungus *R. irregularis*, this protein is secreted by the fungus and delivered to the host cell nucleus, where it binds to and inhibits the pathogenesis-related transcription factor, ERF19. ERF19 is highly induced in response to fungal pathogen infection and fungal extracts, and is transiently induced during AM infection, so it is likely that *R. irregularis* secretes SP7 to suppress plant defences via the inhibition of ERF19 (Kloppholz et al., 2011).

Further evidence for defence suppression by AM fungi comes from the hormone fluxes observed in the host during colonisation. As discussed above, AM colonisation has been shown to cause transient accumulation of SA in plants, and SA is associated with defence responses to biotrophic pathogens. Herrera-Medina et al. (2003) compared colonisation by *R. irregularis* and *F. mosseae* (syn. *G. mosseae*) of transgenic tobacco plants with reduced (NahG) and enhanced (CSA) levels of SA to wild type. NahG plants showed a higher level of colonisation compared to wild type, whereas colonisation in CSA plants was reduced (Herrera Medina et al., 2003). This effect was sustained temporally throughout infection by *R. irregularis*. However, given enough time, *F. mosseae* colonisation was able to reach wild type levels. These results suggest both that SA-dependent defence responses down-regulate mycorrhizal colonisation, and also that AM fungi may be able to overcome SA-dependent defences over time.

The suppression of host SA-dependent defence responses by AM fungi may occur via the induction of abscisic acid (ABA) synthesis in the host. ABA has been shown to be important for AM colonisation, and has also been shown to be involved in the suppression of SA-dependent defence. Herrera-Medina et al. (2007) compared colonisation by *R. irregularis* of wild type *Lycopersicon esculentum* to ABA *sitiens* mutants which contain lower ABA concentrations. *Sitiens* plants were found to be less susceptible to *R. irregularis* infection, with a significantly lower level of mycorrhizal colonisation than wild type (Herrera-Medina et al., 2007), suggesting that ABA is required for successful AM colonization. In tomato, SA accumulates in response to *Pseudomonas syringae* as part of a resistant response. However, exogenous application of ABA prevents accumulation of SA, suppressing resistance to *P. syringae* (Mohr and Cahill, 2007b), suggesting that ABA is involved in the suppression of SA-dependent defences. Overall, the early stages of AM colonization therefore induce transient systemic priming SA-dependent defences followed by transient localized suppression of host defences which allow colonisation to proceed.

In a compatible interaction, AM hyphae branch to form arbuscules in the inner cortical cells of the root. Successful colonization by AM fungi subsequently results in long term systemic priming of host JA- and ethylene-dependent defences (Jung et al., 2012, Van der Ent et al., 2009, Van Wees et al., 2008) as a result of induced systemic resistance (ISR) caused by rhizobacteria also present around the host roots (Berendsen et al., 2012, Cameron et al., 2013). The induction of JA as a result of AM colonisation has been demonstrated by enhanced colonisation and decreased pathogen susceptibility in plants treated with JA and plants with elevated levels of

endogenous JA caused by wounding (Landgraf et al., 2012). The overall effects of AM colonization on host defence priming throughout the colonization process is known as mycorrhiza-induced resistance (MIR). MIR is therefore contributed to by both SAR and ISR effects in a complex spatiotemporal manner (Cameron et al., 2013).

The downstream consequences of AM colonisation on host defences involves key secondary metabolites. For example, as well as their involvement in signalling, flavonoid accumulation also varies throughout the later stages of AM colonisation. Larose et al. (2002) analysed three stages of colonisation by *F. mosseae* (syn. *G. mosseae*) of the host legume *Medicago sativa* at 7, 18 and 32 days after inoculation. The authors measured percentage AM colonisation and flavonoid concentration of host roots by high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC). At 7 days, the study observed a colonisation level of 10.5% with no collapsed arbuscules, however by 18 days 50% of arbuscules were collapsed, and by 32 days this rose to 78%. The accumulation of specific flavonoids (e.g. ononin) decreased after 18 days when arbuscules started to collapse. The authors also showed that the extent of flavonoid accumulation observed in the hosts associated with either *F. mosseae*, *R. irregularis* and *G. rosea* (Larose et al., 2002).

Schliemann et al. (2008) carried out metabolite profiling via gas chromatographymass spectrometry (GC-MS), HPLC and liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry (LC-MS) of the roots of *Medicago truncatula* colonised by *R. irregularis* over 56 days. It was found that the late stages of colonisation induced the biosynthesis of isoflavonoids e.g. ononin, daidzein, and malonylononin. Furthermore, high levels of cell wall-bound antioxidant Tyrosol was specific to colonised roots (Schliemann et al., 2008). Harrison and Dixon (1994) used gene expression analysis to show the elevation of transcripts for phenylalanine ammonia lyase (PAL) and chalcone synthase (CHS) enzymes (which are involved flavonoid biosynthesis) in cortical cells of the host *M. truncatula* containing arbuscules after colonisation by *Diversispora epigaea* (syn. *Glomus versiforme*). In the same study, isoflavone reductase (IFR) transcripts were very low in colonised compared to uncolonised roots, and CHS transcripts were lower in cells containing senescing arbuscules compared to younger arbuscules, suggesting the cell specific involvement of flavonoids in AM colonisation (Harrison and Dixon, 1994).

In the study by Harrison and Dixon (1994), no lignification was observed in arbusculated cells, suggesting that cell wall reinforcement, which is often associated with host plant response to pathogenic fungi, does not occur during successful AM colonisation (Harrison and Dixon, 1994). Cell wall reinforcement can deter herbivores (Johnson et al., 2010), reduce pathogen severity (Xu et al., 2011, Miedes et al., 2014), and may negatively affect AM colonisation (De Deyn et al., 2009, Bennett et al., 2013). Successful colonisation may therefore involve the suppression of this defence response, whereas incompatible AM fungi may induce it. Consistent with this idea, the induction of host defences and cell wall strengthening by *Rhizobium* during ineffective nodulation of *P. sativum* has been reported (Ivanova et al., 2015).

The various effects of AM fungi on host defences raise the question of how they might alter the success of other symbionts. Throughout this thesis, the effects of AM colonisation on *Striga* infection via alterations to host physiology including defences will be explored, as it is possible that either antagonistic or synergistic effects could occur. However, a likely area of competition between AM fungi and *Striga* is in their demand for host resources. Individually, nutrient stoichiometry in the AM symbiosis is complex, and will therefore be covered in the next section.

1.3.3 Nutrient exchange and benefit in the AM symbiosis

After the establishment of the AM symbiosis, nutrient exchange takes place via arbuscules formed in the host root cortical cells (Cox et al., 1980, Peterson and Howarth, 1991). However, even after successful colonisation, the fungus is excluded from the plant cytoplasm by the periarbuscular membrane and the periarbuscular space (Parniske, 2008). The plant periarbuscular membrane contains symbiosis-specific phosphate transporters to acquire P from the fungus (Harrison et al., 2002, Javot et al., 2007). Arbuscules are in some ways similar to the haustoria formed by biotrophic pathogens (Harrison, 1999, Gomez and Harrison, 2009). A major difference is that arbuscules are transient structures with a life of approximately 10-

12 days (Brundrett et al., 1985). As well as arbuscules, AM fungi also form lipidfilled vesicles within roots which act as storage compartments. Resources acquired from the host plant enable the growth of extraradical hyphae in the surrounding soil to further mediate nutrient uptake towards the plant in return for C (George et al., 1995, Bago et al., 1998).

Nutrient exchange represents an area of competition between host and fungus for maximum benefit. Many factors ultimately determine benefit in the AM symbiosis, including plant and fungal identity (Verbruggen and Kiers, 2010, Xing et al., 2012), resource abundance (Johnson et al., 2013, Wyatt et al., 2014), order of fungal arrival (priority effect) (Werner and Kiers, 2015), and direct competition between fungi for host association and resources (Verbruggen and Kiers, 2010). Furthermore, by receiving the benefits of symbiosis without paying a fair price for them, mutualisms can be exploited by one of the partners involved (Ghoul et al., 2014). The AM symbiosis is particularly complicated in the field because a single plant can associate with multiple fungal species and vice versa (Johnson et al., 2013, Weremijewicz and Janos, 2013).

Depending on the two partners involved in an association and how cooperative they are, the benefit to either can vary (Johnson et al., 2012). A mycorrhizal state is the norm for plants which can form these symbioses, but host plants can still exhibit selectivity and preference towards fungal partners (Bever et al., 2009). For example, plant roots have been shown to allocate more photosynthate to more beneficial fungi than to non-beneficial fungi (Bever et al., 2009). However, the fungus also allocates nutrients to the host, with the value of nutrients increasing under more nutrient-limited conditions, as in supply and demand. Furthermore, AM fungi have additional benefits over nutrient allocation, including pathogen and abiotic stress protection (Parniske, 2008). This makes their value to a host plant difficult to define (Werner and Kiers, 2015).

On the other hand, AM fungi can show preference to specific plant partners, as it is known that AM fungi can preferentially allocate nutrients to hosts that are more beneficial when the choice is available (Lekberg et al., 2010, Kiers et al., 2011). For example, Fellbaum et al. (2014) showed that AM fungi allocate less N and P to

plants that were grown under shaded conditions compared to those that were not shaded, showing a preference for higher quality hosts (Fellbaum et al., 2014). However, Walde et al. (2012) showed that AM fungi associated with two hosts gave more nutrients to the less beneficial (in terms of C return) host flax (*Linum usitatissimum*) than to the more beneficial host sorghum (Sorghum bicolor) (Walder et al., 2012). This simultaneously suggested exploitation of the fungus by flax and exploitation by the fungus of sorghum.

The ability of both the plant and fungus to select their partners has led to the idea of biological markets taking place which ultimately drives decision making and partner selection (Wyatt et al., 2014). If a fungus is trading with a plant that has easy access to P via its own root uptake mechanisms, then this puts the fungus in a position of weakness. In order to increase their own value to the host plant, it has recently been suggested that suppression of direct uptake of P by their partner's roots by AM fungi (Li et al., 2008, Smith et al., 2011), increases the value of their own P allowing them to enforce trade for plant C (Wyatt et al., 2016). Nutrient exchange in the AM symbiosis is therefore highly complex and context dependent. In experimental systems that use single genotypes of plant and fungi (i.e. single cultivars of host plants and isolates of fungi), the outcome of the AM symbiosis may differ greatly compared to natural soils where partner choice is possible. Nutrient exchange and the importance of partner identity are discussed more in chapter 3 of this thesis.

1.3.4 Modification and hijack of the AM symbiosis

The process of AM colonisation has some similarities with the relatively more recent, 60 million year old *Rhizobium*-legume symbiosis (Bonfante and Requena, 2011). It has therefore been proposed that the AM signalling pathway has been adapted for nodulation (Parniske, 2000). In summary of the nodulation process, plant released flavonoids induce the production and release of nodulation (Nod) factors by the bacteria (Downie, 2010). This is similar to how SLs trigger branching and Myc factor production in AM fungi. Nod factors trigger symbiosis related activity in the host root including calcium spiking and the formation of an infection thread, a similar process to Ca spiking and PPA formation during AM colonisation. The bacteria grow through the infection thread before being released into the nodule and

encapsulated in a plant membrane. The bacteria differentiate into N-fixing bacteroids which, together with the plant membrane, form organelle-like structures called symbiosomes (Oldroyd and Downie, 2008, Oldroyd et al., 2011). Similar to the AM symbiosis, the bacteria are excluded from the plant cytoplasm by the peribacteroid membrane and peribacteroid space (Lodwig and Poole, 2003).

Nodulating plants and rhizobial bacteria have therefore manipulated the more ancient AM interaction to develop a unique symbiosis which improves N supply to the plant. Parasitic plants such as *Striga* have also hijacked the process of AM colonisation, which was first made clear by the involvement of SLs in both symbioses, which are critical in their initiation. Furthermore, as with AM colonisation, host defences are regulated in a complex spatiotemporal manner during *Striga* infection. This suggests that AM fungi and *Striga* are also highly interactive at a physiological level beyond SL signalling in the rhizosphere. Parasitic plants, the process of *Striga* infection, and its individual impact on host physiology are reviewed below.

1.4 Parasitic plants

Flowering plants have evolved a parasitic lifestyle on at least 12 occasions (Westwood et al., 2010) giving rise to 4,500 parasitic species (1% of angiosperm species) belonging to 275 genera in 28 families (Joel et al., 2013, Yoshida et al., 2016a). Ninety percent of parasitic plants attach to the host root rather than the stem, and 60% are hemiparasites that can photosynthesise, whereas the holoparasites have lost this ability (Hibberd et al., 1998). Table 1.2 shows an example list of parasitic plants along with their parasitism type. Parasitic plants use a specialised organ called a haustorium to attach to and penetrate host tissues, form vascular connections, and obtain water and nutrients from the host (Estabrook and Yoder, 1998). This requires the establishment of a xylem bridge, which connects the xylems of the host and parasite (Heidejorgensen and Kuijt, 1995). Some parasites also form phloem connections (Dorr et al., 1979, Zhou et al., 2004, Birschwilks et al., 2003, Dorr and Kollmann, 1995).

Family	Genus and species	Parasitism type
Convolvulaceae		
	Cuscuta (Dodder)	
	Cuscuta campestris	Holoparasite
	Cuscuta reflexa	Hemiparasite
Orobanchaceae		
	Orobanche (Broomrape)	
	Orobanche crenata	Holoparasite
	Orobanche cumana	Holoparasite
	Orobanche minor	Holoparasite
	Orobanche ramose	Holoparasite
	Phelipanche	
	Phelipanche ramosa	Holoparasite
	Rhinanthus	
	Rhinanthus minor	Hemiparasite
	Striga (Witchweed)	
	Striga asiatica	Hemiparasite
	Striga gracillima	Hemiparasite
	Striga hermonthica	Hemiparasite
	Triphysaria	
	Triphysaria versicolor	Hemiparasite

Table 1.2 Example list of the main parasitic plants mentioned in this thesis.

Parasitic plants of the family Orobanchaceae are highly influential in natural ecosystems where they can reduce host productivity and increase community diversity (Press and Phoenix, 2005), and in agroecosystems where they can severely reduce the growth of host crop plants (Frost et al., 1997, Gurney et al., 1999, Oswald and Ransom, 2004, Cissoko et al., 2011). *Striga*, also referred to as the witchweeds, is a genus within the Orobanchaceae which are devastating to cereal crops grown in the infertile soils of SSA (Fig. 1.3 and Fig. 1.4) (Parker and Riches, 1993, Ejeta,

2007, Scholes and Press, 2008). In SSA, over 50 million hectares of farmland are infested, with yield losses costing around US\$ 10 billion a year (Ejeta, 2007, Parker, 2009). *S. hermonthica* and *S. asiatica* are two particularly damaging species, and infest important food crops including rice (*Oryza sativa*), maize (*Zea mays*), sorghum (*Sorghum bicolor*), cowpea (*Vigna unguiculata*) and pearl millet (*Pennisetum glaucum*) causing severe stunting and yield losses of 30-90% (Scholes and Press, 2008, van Ast et al., 2005). As with AM fungi, the lifecycle of parasitic plants like *Striga* is critical, particularly for obligate symbionts like *Striga*. Infection requires a precise and compatible interaction with the host plant, including signalling and the regulation of host defences.



Fig. 1.3 Distribution map of *S. hermonthica* (circles) and *S. gracillima* (triangles, not studied in this thesis) (Mohamed et al., 2001).



Fig. 1.4 *S. hermonthica* attached to a rice root and parasitising rice in the field © AfricaRice (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0).

1.4.1 Pre-attachment stages of the Striga lifecycle and host defence

The *Striga* lifecycle involves several stages and it is intimately linked to the host plant lifecycle (Fig. 1.5a - g) (Scholes and Press, 2008). Individual *Striga* plants can produce 100,000 seeds which can persist in the soil for up to 20 years (Scholes and Press, 2008). Seed conditioning occurs under warm, moist conditions and over the course of about 14 days in which time seeds become increasingly sensitive to germination stimulants (Matusova et al., 2004, Dzomeku and Murdoch, 2007).

As with AM fungi, the timing of germination in close proximity to a host root is critical for *Striga* because its small seeds cannot support a long period of growth without attachment and exploitation of a host (Cardoso et al., 2011). Also like AM fungi, *Striga* detects a potential host via SLs in host root exudates (Cook et al., 1972, Matusova et al., 2005). In *Striga*, SLs are detected by a recently characterised diverged family of α/β hydrolase-fold proteins (Conn et al., 2015, Tsuchiya et al., 2015). SLs can be detected by *Striga* down to a concentration of just

 10^{-12} M (Kim et al., 2010), where they stimulate germination by inducing ethylene biosynthesis in the seed (Sugimoto et al., 2003).



Fig. 1.5 The Striga lifecycle (Scholes and Press, 2008).

Germination is an early stage in the parasite lifecycle where host resistance can occur. Pre-attachment resistance to *Striga* is mostly associated with the differing SL profiles of host plants and a reduction in subsequent parasite seed germination (Jamil et al., 2011b). Qualitative and quantitative differences in SLs in different plant species cultivars have been shown, and some SLs are more potent germination stimulants than others (Yoneyama et al., 2008, Yoneyama et al., 2011, Yoneyama et al., 2012, Jamil et al., 2011b), and are also involved in host specificity (Xie et al., 2010, Fernandez-Aparicio et al., 2011). For example, Jamil et al. (2011)

analysed SLs in root exudates collected from New Rice for Africa (NERICA) cultivars of rice, and tested *Striga* germination, attachment and emergence rates in these cultivars. The quantity of SLs produced differed significantly between cultivars, and those cultivars which released lower amounts of SLs suffered lower levels of *Striga* infection. This showed that pre-attachment resistance varies between different cultivars, and that this is due to variations in SL exudation (Jamil et al., 2011b). As with AM fungi, differing structural properties of SLs have been shown to be a factor in their ability to initiate *Striga* seed germination (Nomura et al., 2013). Nomura et al. showed that 5-deoxystrigol and similarly configured SLs induced high germination in *S. hermonthica*, but inhibited germination in *S. gesnerioides*. Interestingly, the SLs with the structural requirements for *S. hermonthica* germination, like 5-deoxystrigol, also have high hyphal branching activity in the AM fungus *G. margarita* (Akiyama et al., 2010).

A reduction in parasite germination due to the nature of host exudates would represent an efficient avoidance strategy. Potential hosts may also alter parasite success before attachment via allelochemicals (Fernandez-Aparicio et al., 2013). Plants use allelochemicals to suppress the germination and growth of nearby competitors (Wu et al., 1999), and this role extends to the suppression of parasitic plants (Fernandez-Aparicio et al., 2013). For example, the flavonoid isoschaftoside isolated from *Desmodium uncinatum* root exudates has been identified as an allelochemical which inhibits growth of the *S. hermonthica* radicle (Hooper et al., 2010). Furthermore, germination and radicle development of *Orobanche crenata* is inhibited by a number of cereal-produced allelochemicals, with scopoletin producing necrotic darkening in radicles (Fernandez-Aparicio et al., 2013).

After the induction of germination, the *Striga* radicle extends from the seed and releases hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) and peroxidases which convert phenolic acids derived from host cell wall lignin to haustorium initiation factors (HIFs), which in turn initiates development of the parasite haustorium allowing attachment to the host root (Keyes et al., 2007b). For example, the HIF 2,6-dimethoxyp-benzoquinone (DMBQ) arises via the oxidation of the lignin derivative syringic acid (Chang and Lynn, 1986, Keyes et al., 2007a, Kim et al., 1998). The phenolic acid from which a HIF is derived can determine their ability to induce haustorial formation in different

parasitic plants, so the presence and abundance of different phenolic acids in host cell wall lignin may play a role in susceptibility (Albrecht et al., 1999). Flavonoids, which are also important in AM fungal signalling, can also act as HIFs (Albrecht et al., 1999). For example, the flavonoid peonidin initiates haustorium formation in the facultative parasitic plant *Triphysaria versicolor*, (Joel and Losnergoshen, 1994, Westwood et al., 2012).

The initiation of haustoria formation is critical for *Striga* attachment and penetration of the host, but it also represents another stage the infection cycle where the host plant can prevent infection. *Striga* produced H_2O_2 generates HIFs from host-derived compounds, so any process which disrupts or avoids HIF production can disrupt infection. For example, it has been shown that catalase enzyme activity can inhibit *Striga* haustorium induction by scavenging H_2O_2 , thus preventing its oxidation of syringic acid to DMBQ (Kim et al., 1998). The pre-attachment processes of *Striga* infection leading up to root attachment can take place in a matter of hours (Scholes and Press, 2008).

1.4.2 Post-attachment stages of the Striga lifecycle and host defence

After attachment, the parasite has to penetrate between host root cells via an invasive structure known as the penetration peg. The attachment and penetration stage of the *Striga* lifecycle can involve various resistance responses by the host (Yoshida and Shirasu, 2009). For example, necrosis around the attachment site has been observed in more resistant hosts, which suggests active recognition and the onset of a hypersensitive response (HR). For example, *S. gesnerioides* infection of the resistant cowpea cultivar B301 results in HR, and is mediated by a defence gene which encodes a type of resistance (R) sensor protein (coiled-coil nuclear-binding site leucine-rich repeat (CC-NBS-LRR)) known to induce resistance against many plant pathogens in other plant species (Li and Timko, 2009). The presence of host R sensor proteins also suggests the presence of parasite effectors. Susceptible cultivars would either lack the R protein or it could be suppressed or avoided by parasite virulence factors (vir) in a manner more familiar in plant-bacterial/fungal/nematode gene-forgene interactions (Asai and Shirasu, 2015). On the other hand, resistant cultivars

would recognise parasite avirulence factors resulting in effector triggered immunity (ETI) again as seen in other plant-pathogen interactions (Asai and Shirasu, 2015).

After attachment, *Striga* advances into the endodermis by fragmenting host cells and the Casparian strip, overcoming physical barriers such as lignin in the cortex and endodermis (Neumann et al., 1999). During this phase, Striga expresses genes encoding plant cell wall-degrading enzymes (PCWDEs) including pectate lyases (Yoshida et al., 2016a). Expansin proteins, which loosen cell walls (Cosgrove, 2000), are also produced in intrusive parasite cells (Honaas et al., 2013). Pectate lyases and expansins are both normal host-produced proteins involved in growth and development (Wing et al., 1990, Cosgrove, 2000), so their use by the parasite may allow them to avoid detection by the host. However, the fragmentation of host cells results in the presence of host apoplastic material and of the cell wall-degrading enzymes and their breakdown products in the host symplast, where they can act as elicitors which signal to the host that it is being damaged (Mitsumasu et al., 2015, Yoshida et al., 2016a). For example, plant-parasitic nematodes also use PCWDEs, and couple this with effector secretion to suppress subsequent host immune responses (Lozano-Torres et al., 2014, Mitsumasu et al., 2015). It is possible that Striga uses effectors in a similar way (Li and Timko, 2009, Huang et al., 2012, Mitsumasu et al., 2015).

Parasite development can be prevented at different areas of the root as the penetration peg approaches host vascular tissues. Prevention of development at the cortex is associated with the deposition of cell wall physical barriers such as lignin, and the accumulation of toxic phenolic compounds derived from phenylpropanoid metabolism (Perez-De-Luque et al., 2008). For example, reinforcement of cell walls by lignification has been shown to occur along with phytoalexin production at the host parasite interface between sunflower and *Orobanche cumana* (Echevarria-Zomeno et al., 2006).

Prevention of penetration at the endodermis has also been observed. For example, *S. hermonthica*, when infecting the resistant rice cultivar Nipponbare, is able to invade the cortex, but then cannot penetrate the endodermis and grows around the vascular cylinder (Gurney et al., 2006). When this was studied by Gurney et al. (2006), no

lignin deposition was observed, so it is thought that this response involves a lesion in the signalling pathways involved in penetrating the endodermis (Gurney et al., 2006). The endodermis can represent a significant physical barrier to parasite progress. For example, significant levels of lignification of cells can be seen at the endodermis at the host-parasite interface between resistant legume hosts and *O. crenata* (Perez-De-Luque et al., 2005).

Due to the importance of physical barriers such as lignin and the associated accumulation of phytoalexins during resistant interactions with parasitic plants, the biosynthetic pathways leading to their synthesis is a key maker of a defence response. Phenylpropanoid metabolism is essential in plant defence responses including the production of phytoalexins, and lignin, suberin and callose which are used for physical protection against penetration (Vogt, 2010).

Transcriptomic studies have detected genes involved in phenylpropanoid biosynthesis during host-*Striga* interactions. For example, a transcriptomic analysis of rice infected by *S. hermonthica* has shown that the resistance response in Nipponbare is associated with the up-regulation of the gene encoding phenylalanine ammonia lyase (PAL) which is involved in phenylpropanoid metabolism (Swarbrick et al., 2008). Transcriptomic evidence for the up-regulation of genes involved in lignin biosynthesis and cell wall modification in sorghum parasitised by *S. gesnerioides* has also been shown (Huang et al., 2012). Similarly, analysis of host plants during interactions with *Orobanche* has also shown the involvement of phenylpropanoid metabolism in resistance. For example, *O. cumana*-parasitised sunflower shows up-regulation of the *pal* gene during resistant interactions (Letousey et al., 2007).

Successful penetration of the root cortex and endodermis can allow *Striga* to form xylem continuity with hosts in the space of about three days (Gurney et al., 2006). After the parasite has established xylem continuity, there are still host resistance responses that can occur. For example, successful vascular connections made by *O. crenata* in resistant pea plants has been shown to be followed by the blocking of the nutrient and water supply through the vascular tissues by mucilage-like compounds leading to the death of the parasite (Perez-De-Luque et al., 2008). Another study

showed that successful xylem connections made by *S. hermonthica* in resistant *Tripsacum dactyloides* also resulted in death of the parasite, but this was attributed to the introduction of a toxin by the host to the parasite as no xylem blocking was observed (Gurney et al., 2003). Resistance after xylem connection establishment has also been shown in the rice cultivar Nipponbare infected by *S. hermonthica*, although it is unclear how this actually occurs (Yoshida and Shirasu, 2009).

While parasitic plants derive nutrients and water from their host, the bidirectional transfer of molecules including proteins, mRNA, metabolites, and viruses can also occur (Smith et al., 2013, Kim and Westwood, 2015). The bidirectional flow of molecules not only suggests manipulation of the host by the parasite, but it also represents another possible method of host defence. For example, small interfering RNA (siRNA), which cause targeted gene silencing, could be targeted to host defence-related genes providing a mechanism for host defence suppression by parasitic plants. On the other hand, they could be involved in host resistance when transferred to the parasite (Tomilov et al., 2008).

1.4.3 Host defence hormone responses to Striga infection

As with AM fungi, early defence hormone regulation is crucial for determining down-stream defence responses and compatibility during *Striga* infection. In particular, SA and JA regulation appears to be crucial in determining the success of infection. For example, a study by Hiraoka and Sugimoto (2008) analysed gene expression during the early stages of *S. hermonthica* parasitism (when attachment and tubercle formation was observed) and the effect of SA application on susceptible and less susceptible cultivars of sorghum. Susceptible interactions with *S. hermonthica* involved the induction of JA- and the suppression of SA-induced genes. In contrast, less susceptible interactions involved the induction of SA in nutrient solution) decreased the susceptibility of sorghum to *S. hermonthica*, as observed by induction of SA-induced genes and a reduction in *S. hermonthica* tubercle formation (Hiraoka and Sugimoto, 2008). In another example, the expression of the SA-responsive gene, *def* (defensin) in a resistant sunflower genotype (LR1) interaction with *O. Cumana* has also been reported (Letousey et al., 2007). SA-induced genes have also been shown to be
expressed in rice during resistant interactions with *S. hermonthica* (Swarbrick et al., 2008), although key SA markers such as the NPR1 (nonexpresser of pathogenesis related (PR) 1) gene which controls the onset of systemic acquired resistance (SAR) immunity in plants (Cao et al., 1997), were not up-regulated.

Recent RNA expression analysis of *S. hermonthica*-infected rice roots suggests the importance of a rapid JA-dependent response for resistance, which is followed by the induction of SA pathways. Mutuku et al., 2015 carried out RNA expression analysis of *S. hermonthica*-infected rice roots to investigate resistance (more resistant Nipponbare vs more susceptible Koshihikari). JA pathways were first induced, followed by SA pathways, indicating the importance of a rapid JA-dependent response for resistance. Foliar application of JA increased resistance, while the absence of JA biosynthesis gene *ALLENE OXIDE CYCLASE* increased susceptibility, and resistance was recovered by JA application. SA-deficient *NahG* plants showed JA pathway up-regulation and were more resistant, and knock-down of the SA/benzothiadiazole pathway regulator *WRKY45* resulted in JA pathway down-regulation and increased susceptibility which was rescued by foliar JA application (Mutuku et al., 2015).

Both SA and JA are therefore important in defence against parasitic plants, and susceptible interactions require the manipulation of these hormones and the down-stream defences responses. This draws an interesting parallel with the AM symbiosis, which requires the suppression of SA-dependent defences, and which can result in systemic priming of JA-dependent defences. As discussed in section 1.3.2, the regulation of host defence hormones during AM colonisation may be mediated by alterations to host ABA levels. Interestingly, ABA is also involved in plant parasitism.

ABA accumulates highly in both the host and parasite during infection. For example, Zhang et al. (2012) measured endogenous hormone levels in haustoria of *Santalum album* growing on host *Kuhnia rosmarnifolia*. Attached haustoria contained levels of ABA three times higher than in non-attached haustorial (Zhang et al., 2012). Taylor et al. (1996) measured ABA concentration in leaf tissue of both the host and parasite during maize interactions with *S. hermonthica*. Concentrations of ABA were

significantly higher in the leaves of infected maize compared to uninfected plants. In the *S. hermonthica* parasite, leaf tissue ABA concentration was an order of magnitude higher than in the host (Taylor et al., 1996). This is unusual, because ABA is known to have a role in the closing of stomata during drought stress, but parasite leaves transpire copiously in order to maintain the flow of water and nutrients from the host. The main assimilate in *Rhinanthus minor* and other parasitic plants like *S. hermonthica* is mannitol. High levels of mannitol increase the osmotic potential of the cell sap, so it was proposed that this may be the cause of the high levels of ABA found in parasitic plants (Taylor et al., 1996).

A number of studies have been carried out on ABA flows during the interaction between *R. minor* and its hosts (Jiang et al., 2010). Jiang et al. (2004) found ABA concentrations in shoots, roots and xylem sap of unattached *R. minor* to be many times higher, and leaf ABA up to an order of magnitude higher than in the potential host barley (Jiang et al., 2004). ABA has roles in plant response to drought, and increased biosynthesis is linked to the closing of stomata in leaves to reduce water loss via transpiration. Plant parasites like *R. minor* and *S. hermonthica* derive water and nutrients from the host via the xylem connection. To maintain a flow of nutrients from the host transpiration is reduced dramatically to establish a flow of xylem contents towards the transpiring parasite (Ackroyd and Graves, 1997, Taylor et al., 1996, Watling and Press, 2001). Increased ABA in parasite, by transfer of ABA from parasite to host, or by host ABA biosynthesis being manipulated by the parasite; it is not clear which is true.

The observations made on the involvement of plant defence hormones in *Striga* infection tie in well with their involvement in AM colonisation. It may be the case that suppression of SA-dependent plant defence by AM colonisation could make a plant more susceptible to parasitic plant infection. Both infections also appear to involve ABA, which could be responsible for regulating host changes in SA and JA.

1.4.4 The effect of Striga on host growth

Compatible interactions between host plants and *Striga* lead to the differentiation of the parasite haustorium and growth and development of the parasite towards emergence and flowering. To maintain a flow of nutrients from the host, host transpiration is reduced dramatically to establish a flow of xylem contents towards the transpiring parasite (Ackroyd and Graves, 1997). Exploitation of this nutrient source allows the parasite stem and leaves to grow underground before emerging and flowering to set seed after around 6 weeks of growth (Scholes and Press, 2008).

Obligate hemiparasites parasites such as *Striga* spp. receive about 30% of their carbon from their host plant (Irving and Cameron, 2009). This dependency means that *Striga* has a dramatic negative effect on host biomass. The loss of biomass is partly due to the loss of nutrients and water from the host to the parasite (Frost et al., 1997, Gurney et al., 1999). However, the effect of *Striga* infection on host plants cannot be fully accounted for by a source-sink relationship and occurs very soon after attachment (Frost et al., 1997). This has been attributed, at least in part, to a reduction in host photosynthesis as a result of elevated levels of ABA and stomatal closure in *Striga*-infected hosts (Frost et al., 1997, Cameron et al., 2008a). For example, reduced photosynthesis via reduced CO_2 assimilation and chlorophyll fluorescence (via electron transport through photosystem II and photochemical quenching) has been shown in *Striga*-infected *Sorghum bicolor*, but varies between tolerant and resistant genotypes (Rodenburg et al., 2008).

Morphologically, the overall negative effect of *Striga* on host biomass manifests itself through stunting, decreased stem diameter, decreased leaf area, leaf senescence, and decreased tiller number (Cechin and Press, 1994, Watling and Press, 2000, Cissoko et al., 2011, Echegoyen-Nava, 2012a). Root growth is also negatively affected by *S. hermonthica* infection but to a lesser extent than shoot growth, therefore reducing the root-to-shoot ratio in comparison to uninfected plants (Cechin and Press, 1994).

As discussed above, *Striga* infected plants show increased levels of ABA which may be involved in the regulation of defence hormones such as SA and JA, similar to theories about defence hormone regulation during AM colonisation. However, ABA may also interact with plant growth regulating (PGR) hormones. Alterations in PGRs are known to occur during *Striga* infection, resulting in the distinct effects of *Striga* on host morphology (Echegoyen-Nava, 2012a). At a mechanistic level, it has been suggested that the rapid and disproportionate *Striga*-effect on host growth could be due to the introduction of a toxin into the host (Scholes and Press, 2008). However, knowledge that parasitic plants transfer compounds to the host plant, such as siRNA, suggests that the parasite may use this mechanism to directly regulate PGRs as part of its effect on host growth and morphology.

SLs, which have already been mentioned for their signalling roles in the AM and *Striga* symbioses, are one of the PGRs likely altered by *Striga* infection (Echegoyen-Nava, 2012a). SLs act as endogenous plant hormones which are important in regulating many aspects of plant architecture, particularly in suppressing branching (tillering in rice). Indeed, this role for SLs was identified by the characterisation of low branching mutants in *Arabidopsis* and other models and low tillering mutants in rice (Gomez-Roldan et al., 2008, Umehara et al., 2008). Along with SLs, other PGRs including auxin, which is also involved in the suppression of shoot branching (Zhao, 2010), cytokinins (CKs), which act antagonistically to auxin by promoting shoot branching, and gibberellins (GAs), which promote stem elongation (Su et al., 2011) are likely altered by *Striga* infection. However, it is unclear if these hormones are directly altered by the parasite or if hormones can be introduced from the parasite to the host.

1.5 Previous work on the interaction between AM fungi and Striga

Earlier research into the interaction between AM fungi and *Striga* has indicated the involvement of SLs as summarised in the following studies. Lendzemo et al. (2005) used maize and sorghum grown in North Cameroon, Africa, to test the effect of AM inoculation on *Striga* infestation in the field. Plants grown in fields infested with *S. hermonthica* seeds were inoculated with AM fungi (*Rhizophagus clarus* syn. *Glomus clarum* and *Gigaspora margarita*), and it was found that inoculation significantly

reduced *Striga* emergence and dry weight on both crops (Lendzemo et al., 2005). This gave an early indication of the possible benefit of AM inoculation and colonisation in combating the *Striga* problem.

A later pot experiment by Lendzemo et al. (2007) used two cultivars; S-35, which is *Striga*-tolerant, and CK60-B, which is *Striga*-sensitive. Sorghum plants were grown with and without AM inoculum and harvested at 24 and 45 days after sowing (DAS). In agreement with Lendzemo et al., (2005), *S. hermonthica* attachment was reduced in AM-colonised sorghum compared to plants grown with the parasite alone. Additionally, root exudates were collected from controls and AM-colonised plants by immersing the roots in water for 36 hours, then using the subsequent solution in *S. hermonthica* seed germination assays. The germination of *S. hermonthica* seeds in root exudates from AM-colonised plants was found to be lower than in root exudates from un-colonised controls. It was proposed by Lendzemo et al. (2007) that the lower percentage germination of *S. hermonthica* seeds and lower attachments was due to decreased SLs in root exudates of AM-colonised plants (Lendzemo et al., 2007).

The involvement of SLs was confirmed in a study by Lopez-Raez et al. (2011), who reported reduced levels of SLs in the root exudates and root extracts of tomato plants infected with *Rhizophagus irregularis* syn. *Glomus intraradices* compared to uninfected plants. In this experiment, SLs were quantified using liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry (LC-MS/MS), and the reduction in SLs was found to be dependent on the extent of AM colonisation. Root exudates and extracts from AM-colonised plants also reduced germination of *Phelipanche ramosa* parasitic plant seeds by about 50% compared to root exudates and extracts from uncolonised controls (Lopez-Raez et al., 2011). The evidence presented so far is consistent with the hypothesis that the reduction in SL exudation following colonisation and nutrient status enhancement of plant roots by AM fungi is an important factor in the interaction between AM colonisation and *Striga* infection. The SL story (Fig. 1.6) is therefore often used as the main mechanistic basis behind the effect of AM colonisation on *Striga* infection (Xie et al., 2010).



Fig. 1.6 The SL story in the individual AM-host and *Striga*-host symbioses (Bouwmeester et al., 2007).

In summary, there is currently good evidence in the literature that AM colonisation can reduce the germination-stimulating activity of host root exudates, and that this effect is due to reduced SLs. However, this is as far as our knowledge currently extends in this interaction, and it is likely that many more mechanisms alter symbiont and host success during the interaction. In this introductory chapter, many common features have been described for both AM fungal colonisation and *Striga* infection, including SL signalling, the involvement of plant hormones including SA, JA and ABA, and the involvement of secondary defence metabolism including flavonoids, phytoalexins and lignin. More research needs to be done to show how these common factors are involved in the interaction, how the success of *Striga* infection is altered by the presence of AM fungi and vice-versa, and what the consequences are for host growth. Critically, the SL mechanism described above makes a major assumption; that AM fungi are able to colonise the host plant first, supply the host with nutrients, and that SL biosynthesis is down-regulated in time to reduce *Striga* germination in the rhizosphere. It is likely that the interaction does not always follow this sequence

of events, and involves more than just SLs, so more needs to be done in order to understand the interaction in detail. In particular, it does not seem likely that AM fungi will always colonise the host plant well in advance of *Striga*, so the effect that the order and timing of colonisation / infection has on the interaction needs to be investigated.

1.6 Rice: A model host and staple crop

This introduction as so far introduced two obligate symbionts with the aim of examining their interaction. Of course, the individual symbioses and their interaction take place via a host plant. Throughout this thesis, the rice cultivar IAC165 (*Oryza sativa* L. subspecies *japonica*) is used in all experiments as the host plant.

Rice is arguably the most important food crop in the world, feeding over half of the world population (Matsumoto et al., 2005). As such, rice has a wide geographical distribution and a long history of cultivation which has led to the development of many genetically and phenotypically distinct cultivars (Matsumoto et al., 2005). Rice is a model cereal crop useful for its small genome size (389 Mb) (Matsumoto et al., 2005) which, while larger than the non-crop model Arabidopsis thaliana (125 Mb) (Kaul et al., 2000), is much smaller than that of other important cereal crops such as sorghum (730 Mb) (Paterson et al., 2009), maize (2300 Mb) (Schnable et al., 2009) and wheat (17000 Mb) (Brenchley et al., 2012), and there is an extensive mutant collection for rice (Hirochika et al., 2004). For example, the role of SLs in shoot branching (tillering in rice) inhibition has been identified by the characterisation of branching mutants, many of which exist for rice (Gomez-Roldan et al., 2008, Umehara et al., 2008). Its morphology gives it many easily measurable characteristics such as stem height, stem diameter, tiller number, internode length, and leaf number. This makes it useful in scientific studies and amenable to breeding by growth characteristics measured by eye in the field. In agriculture, rice has been selectively bred over many years for a range of traits such as reduced height and disease resistance.

Rice is grown in over 40 countries in Africa (Seck et al., 2010), and is an increasingly important crop in rain-fed fields (Rodenburg et al., 2015). In SSA, more

than 70% of the population make a living from farming (Balasubramanian et al., 2007). However, many constraints exist for subsistence farmers, including drought, poor soil fertility and weeds including *Striga* spp. (Waddington et al., 2010, Reynolds et al., 2015). The distribution patterns of rice (Fig. 1.7) and *S. hermonthica* (Fig. 1.3) in SSA are strikingly similar, which shows how much crop systems are under threat from this parasite (Balasubramanian et al., 2007, Mohamed et al., 2001).



Fig. 1.7 The distribution of rice in SSA (Balasubramanian et al., 2007).

Rice, unlike the classic plant model *Arabidopsis thaliana*, is both mycorrhizal and subject to parasitism by *S. hermonthica* in laboratory and field conditions. Because of this, rice has been used to study gene expression during mycorrhizal colonisation (Guimil et al., 2005), and is often used in *Striga* research (e.g. Mutuku et al., 2015), and it is therefore ideal for studying the interaction between these two symbionts. Thus, rice is used as the host-symbiont system in this thesis.

1.7 Key considerations for this thesis

Throughout this thesis, the same three species of AM fungus, parasitic plant and host plant were used, although a different genotype of *S. hermonthica* and isolate of *R. irregularis* was used in the first experimental chapter. The ecotype of *S. hermonthica* used in the first experimental chapter was sourced from Korhogo Kuoto in 2008, whereas the ecotype used in subsequent experimental chapters was sourced from Kibos in 2013. The isolate of *R. irregularis* used in the first experimental chapter was an isolate from a commercially available source (Plant Works), whereas the isolate used in subsequent experimental chapters was *R. irregularis* isolate 09 maintained in axenic culture. It is widely known that both *R. irregularis* and *S. hermonthica* are highly variable, so it is important to define them from the outset.

With a complex three-way interaction such as the one studied in this thesis, it is also necessary for the purpose of clarity to define some commonly used terms. As the non-obligate player in this interaction, this thesis uses the term 'host' to describe the host plant rice. 'Parasite' always refers to *S. hermonthica*, where this characteristic is not disputed in this thesis. *R. irregularis* is simply described broadly as a fungus rather than as a mutualist, which avoids the assumption of mutualism which is often made of the AM symbiosis (Smith et al., 2011). Importantly, 'infection' refers to parasitism by *Striga*; whereas 'colonisation' refers to the presence of both extraradical and intraradical AM fungal structures associated with the host root.

1.8 Aims, hypotheses and objectives

The overall aim of this thesis is to further our knowledge and understanding of the interaction between the AM fungus *Rhizophagus irregularis* and the parasitic weed *Striga hermonthica*. This thesis will investigate the role of host defence, nutrient supply, and the order and timing of colonisation/infection in the success of these symbioses and the host plant. Understanding the interaction in more detail will allow us to begin assessing the possible impact of AM fungi on the *Striga* problem in SSA.

Chapter 2 aims, hypotheses and objectives

The aims of chapter two were to determine a) the interactive effects of R. *irregularis* and *S*. *hermonthica* on host defence metabolism; b) the consequences of this for the colonisation/infection success of each symbiont; and c) the downstream consequences on host growth and development.

Hypotheses:

- 1) *R. irregularis* decreases the amount of *S. hermonthica* infection in rice because they upregulate host defence physiology and/or because AM fungi increase host nutrient status.
- 2) *R. irregularis* alleviates the negative effects of *S. hermonthica* on the growth and development of rice because they enhance the nutrient status of the host plant.

Objectives:

- 1) Grow two cultivars of rice, IAC 165 and Shiokari in factorial combination with AM fungi and *S. hermonthica*.
- 2) Measure growth and development weekly over a 10-week period.
- 3) Harvest plants 10 weeks after sowing.
- 4) Measure nutrient status of the host.
- 5) Measure colonisation by *R. irregularis* and infection by *S. hermonthica*.
- 6) Analyse the defence metabolome of the host roots.

Chapter 3 aims, hypotheses and objectives

The aim of chapter 3 was to understand the effects of different amounts of substrate N/P levels on host colonisation/infection success of each symbiont, alone and in combination, and the subsequent effects on host growth and development.

Hypotheses

- Decreasing N/P supply will enhance colonisation/infection of the host by both symbionts singly and in combination due to an increase in the host release of branching and germination stimulants.
- 2) Decreasing N/P supply will limit the ability of the host to support a high level of *S. hermonthica* infection alone and/or in combination with *R. irregularis*.

Objectives

- 1) Grow the rice cultivar IAC 165 in factorial combination with *R. irregularis* and *S. hermonthica* alone and in combination in pots.
- 2) Supply the pots with two levels of N/P concentration; one in which plants are likely to receive a sufficient supply ('high'), and the other where the plants are likely to be deficient ('low') in reference to the clearly sufficient supply used in chapter 2.
- 3) Measure growth and development weekly over a 10-week period.
- 4) Carry out harvests at 5 and 10 weeks after sowing.
- 5) Measure nutrient status of the host.
- 6) Measure colonisation by *R. irregularis* and infection by *S. hermonthica*.
- 7) Collect root exudates from IAC 165 grown alone and grown with *R*. *irregularis* and perform a bioassay on *S. hermonthica* seeds to analyse germination and haustorium formation. This will test the effect of AM colonisation on host root germination stimulating activity on parasite seeds.

Chapter 4 aims, hypotheses and objectives

The aim of chapter 4 was to determine whether the order of infection/colonisation of the symbionts affects the success and spatial distribution of either symbiont.

Hypothesis:

The first symbiont to colonise/infect the host plant will suppress infection by the other because early arrival will establish a priority effect via competition for space,

resources and effects on host defences which may act antagonistically on the invading symbiont.

Objectives:

- Grow, colonise and infect the rice cultivar IAC 165 with *R. irregularis* isolate
 09 and pre-germinated *S. hermonthica* in rhizotrons.
- 2) Co-colonise/infect with *R. irregularis* and *S. hermonthica* at the same time.
- 3) Pre-colonise with *R. irregularis* for five days before infecting with *S. hermonthica* for 14 days.
- 4) Pre-infect with *S. hermonthica* for five days before colonising with *R. irregularis* for 14 days.
- 5) Measure *S. hermonthica* infection on roots colonised by *R. irregularis* and roots not colonised by *R. irregularis* separately.
- 6) Measure colonisation on roots infected with *S. hermonthica* and roots not infected by *S. hermonthica* separately.

Chapter 2

Analysis of the interaction between *Rhizophagus irregularis* and *Striga hermonthica* in rice: consequences for the host defence metabolome and symbiont success.

2.1 Introduction

Arbuscular mycorrhizal (AM) fungi and the parasitic plant Striga hermonthica occupy a similar ecological niche. Both are obligate root symbionts which require association with a host plant to complete their life-cycle (Smith and Read, 2008, Joel et al., 2013). Colonisation/infection of the host by both symbioses is enhanced by plant signalling compounds exuded by the roots, particularly strigolactones (SLs) (Akiyama et al., 2005, Cook et al., 1972, Yoneyama et al., 2010). Strigolactones trigger germination of Striga seeds and promote branching of the mycorrhizal hyphae facilitating infection of the host by each symbiont. The exudation of strigolactones is increased under nutrient-limited conditions (Yoneyama et al., 2007a, Yoneyama et al., 2007b). Thus, the nutrient poor soils of sub-Saharan Africa (SSA) create a potential environment for both AM colonisation and S. hermonthica infection. Indeed, Striga infestation is most severe in nutrient poor conditions, to the point where infestation can be used as an indicator of low soil fertility (Oswald, 2005). Despite their similar niche, these symbionts have opposing strategies to obtain space within the host root and acquire nutrients from it. AM fungi trade N and P for C via specialized arbuscules in the inner cortical cells of colonized roots, which indicates a degree of cooperation or mutualism (Parniske, 2008, Smith and Read, 2008). On the other hand, S. hermonthica parasitises its host via a specialised organ, the haustorium, which connects it to the host vascular system allowing it to obtain nutrients and water (Joel et al., 2013, Yoshida et al., 2016a). In carrying out their respective symbioses, both AM fungi and S. hermonthica manipulate the growth, morphology, and nutrient status of their host in opposing ways. While AM fungi can be beneficial mutualists, increasing host nutrient status and growth despite imposing a carbon demand (Klironomos, 2003), S. hermonthica has negative effects on host growth and nutrient status (Gurney et al., 1999, Cissoko et al., 2011).

Once AM fungi have colonised the host, SL exudation from the roots is reduced, due to an increase in the N and P status of the host plant (Lopez-Raez et al., 2011). It has been suggested that this will cause a reduction in *Striga* seed germination and therefore infection of potential host plants (Lendzemo et al., 2007). This hypothesis has been supported by studies which have shown a reduction in parasitic plant infection when combined with AM fungi (Lendzemo et al., 2005, Lendzemo et al., 2005, Len

2007, Othira et al., 2012), and that root exudates from mycorrhizal plants have lower SLs levels and a reduced capacity to induce parasitic plant seed germination (Lopez-Raez et al., 2011). However, a tripartite plant-fungal-plant interaction is likely to involve more than just one plant hormone, and is also likely to involve post attachment mechanisms. It is therefore necessary to consider the role that other plant processes have. A logical target is plant defence, because the recognition of foreign, non-self-material such as microbe-associated molecular patterns (MAMPs) initiates plant defence responses (Zhang and Zhou, 2010).

Phenylpropanoid metabolism is essential in plant defence as it is associated with defence responses such as the production of phytoalexins with antimicrobial activity, and deposition of lignin, suberin and callose which are used for physical protection against penetration (Vogt, 2010). Phytoalexins are low molecular mass secondary metabolites which have antimicrobial activity (Ahuja et al., 2012) but are also known to be involved in defence against the holoparasite *Orobanche cumana* (Serghini et al., 2001). Rice produces many phytoalexins (Cho and Lee, 2015). For example, the flavonoid phytoalexin sakuranetin has strong antimicrobial activity towards blast fungus as part of the resistance response in rice (Hasegawa et al., 2014). Vestitol is a legume-specific phytoalexin which is highly up-regulated in roots of the incompatible host *Lotus japonicus* after *S. hermonthica* attachment, and which has been shown to significantly inhibit radicle growth (Hiraoka et al., 2009).

Phenylpropanoid metabolism also provides the precursors necessary for lignin deposition. Lignin is a highly branched component of the cell wall formed by the polymerisation of the major monolignol monomers coumaryl alcohol, coniferyl alcohol, and syringyl alcohol. Polymerisation of these monomers occurs by oxidation by hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂) catalysed by peroxidase enzymes to form p-hydroxyphenyl (H) lignin, guaiacyl (G) lignin and syringyl (S) lignin respectively (Rogers and Campbell, 2004, Vanholme et al., 2010). Plant lignin is composed mainly of the G- and S- units (Vanholme et al., 2010), and the ratio of these units in lignified cell walls appears to determine the effectiveness of lignin in the plant defence response (Hawkins and Boudet, 2003). For example, stem-wounding stress in *Eucalyptus gunii* has been shown to result in the vascular deposition of 'defence lignin' which contains less S-type lignin units compared to unwounded plants

(Hawkins and Boudet, 2003). However, *Triticum aestivum* (wheat) infected with the stem rust fungus *Puccinia graminis* has been shown to accumulate S-type rich lignin in the leaves during hypersensitive response (HR) resistance reactions (Menden et al., 2007). The regulation of monolignol monomers in lignin may therefore depend on the type of damage received or the compatibility between the two organisms.

Most studies on involvement of phenylpropanoid metabolism in AM colonisation use gene expression analysis. For example, AM fungi have been shown to increase PAL and CHS gene expression at the early stages of colonisation in *Lotus japonicas* roots (Deguchi et al., 2007). More recently, metabolite analysis has shown that many intermediates involved in phenylpropanoid metabolism are up-regulated in the roots of *Solanum lycopersicum* after 8 weeks of growth and colonisation by the AM fungus *R. irregularis* (Rivero et al., 2015). Isoflavonoids in legumes roots are also increased by AM colonisation as shown in early metabolomic studies (Schliemann et al., 2008, Laparre et al., 2014). Furthermore, flavonoids are involved in AM colonisation (Steinkellner et al., 2007) in pre-symbiotic signalling (Scervino et al., 2006), colonisation establishment stages (Larose et al., 2002) and in colonisation regulation (Catford et al., 2006).

During parasitic plant infection, lignification of host root tissues at the site of invading parasite structures is a key resistance mechanism in host plants which is used to prevent the establishment of vascular connections, as seen in histological studies. For example, Cameron et al. (2006) were able to show that resistance to *Rhinanthus minor* by the non-host forb *Leucanthemum vulgare* involves encapsulation of the invading parasite structures. The same study used Fourier-transform infrared micro-spectroscopy to identify lignin in the incompatible interaction, and show that lignin was not present in the parasite interface with the susceptible host plant *Cynosurus cristatus* (Cameron et al., 2006). Transcriptomic studies have shown that *S. hermonthica* alters phenylpropanoid metabolism, and that the nature of this regulation differs between susceptible and resistant rice cultivars (Swarbrick et al., 2008). Transcriptomic evidence for the up-regulation of genes involved in lignin biosynthesis and cell wall modifications in sorghum parasitised by *S. gesnerioides* has also been shown (Huang et al., 2012). Transcriptomic analysis of host plants during interactions with *Orobanche* has also shown the involvement of

phenylpropanoid metabolism in resistance. For example, *O. cumana*-parasitised sunflower shows up-regulation of the *pal* gene during resistant interactions (Letousey et al., 2007). Similar to their signalling role in AM fungi, a flavonoid (peonidin) also initiates haustorium formation in the facultative parasitic plant *Triphysaria versicolor*, although not in *Orobanche* spp. and *Phelipanche* spp. (Joel and Losnergoshen, 1994, Westwood et al., 2012). Furthermore, a flavonoid isolated from *Desmodium uncinatum* root exudates has been identified as an allelochemical which inhibits growth of the *S. hermonthica* radicle (Hooper et al., 2010).

Successful symbiosis requires regulation of host defences by both mutualistic AM fungi and parasitic plants like *S. hermonthica*. For example, successful AM colonisation involves systemic fluxes in plant defences (Blilou et al., 1999, Blilou et al., 2000a, Blilou et al., 2000b), but also localised defence suppression (Kloppholz et al., 2011), and results in the systemic priming of JA- and ethylene-dependent defences (Van Wees et al., 2008, Van der Ent et al., 2009, Jung et al., 2012, Gerlach et al., 2015). Infection by *S. hermonthica* also results in host defence responses throughout the infection process which ultimately determine the success of the parasite (Yoder and Scholes, 2010, Mutuku et al., 2015). While both JA and SA have been implicated in *S. hermonthica* infection, it is now thought that resistance to *S. hermonthica* requires a rapid JA-dependent response followed by the induction of SA-dependent responses (Mutuku et al., 2015).

While the individual effects of these symbioses on host defences are well studied, it is unclear if the effect that AM fungi have on plant defences has any influence on the ability of *S. hermonthica* to infect host plants, or vice-versa. However, because they interact so intimately with their hosts at the post-attachment level, AM fungi and *S. hermonthica* are likely to influence the relative fitness of each other. Still, the consequences of co-infection by *S. hermonthica* and AM fungi for host, AM and parasite performance remain poorly understood. In the first instance, studying such a complex interaction requires a global analysis of physiology.

Analysis of the host metabolome has the potential to provide a global view of the complex mechanisms underpinning host phenotype (Brunetti et al., 2013). The metabolome is the quantitative collection of molecular compounds (metabolites)

which are involved in metabolic reactions in a cell or organism, and metabolomics is the study of the metabolome (Oliver et al., 1998). Metabolites are the final downstream products of the genome, transcriptome, and proteome; and so, compared to the other omics fields, metabolomics provides a relatively complete representation of phenotype (Fiehn et al., 2000). Plant metabolomes can contain around 200,000 metabolites (Fiehn, 2001), compared to around 600 in the yeast Sacchromyces cerevisiae (Forster et al., 2003). The large number of metabolites, variations in chemical and physical properties, and the fact they can be found in picomolar (pM) to millimolar (mM) concentrations, makes analysis of the plant metabolome highly challenging (Dunn et al., 2005). Different strategies are required to study the complete range of metabolites in a biological sample. For example, metabolite fingerprinting describes the analysis of characteristic metabolites within a sample for screening or classification purposes, while metabolite profiling is used to analyse many more (often thousands) of metabolites in order to identify those in similar metabolic pathways (Kopka et al., 2004, Dunn et al., 2005). To this end, mass spectrometry is used in the detection of many metabolites in a complex mixture. In this chapter, matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionisation (MALDI)-MS was used to analyse the rice defence metabolome, focussing on the phenylpropanoid biosynthesis and flavonoid biosynthesis pathways, which are known to be involved in plant defence during the individual symbioses with AM fungi and parasitic plants.

With the above information in mind, the aims of chapter two were to determine a) the interactive effects of *R. irregularis* and *S. hermonthica* on host defence metabolism; b) the consequences of this for the colonisation/infection success of each symbiont; and c) the downstream consequences on host growth and development.

Hypotheses

 R. *irregularis* decreases the amount of *S. hermonthica* infection in rice because AM fungi are known to upregulate host defence physiology and/or because AM fungi are known to increase host nutrient status. 2) *R. irregularis* alleviates the negative effects of *S. hermonthica* on the growth and development of rice because AM fungi are known to enhance the nutrient status of host plants.

Objectives

- 1) Grow two cultivars of rice, IAC 165 and Shiokari in factorial combination with AM fungi and *S. hermonthica*.
- 2) Measure growth and development weekly over a 10-week period.
- 3) Harvest plants 10 weeks after sowing.
- 4) Measure nutrient status of the host.
- 5) Measure colonisation by *R. irregularis* and infection by *S. hermonthica*.
- 6) Analyse the defence metabolome of the host roots.

2.2 Materials and Methods

2.2.1 Plant and fungal materials

Seeds of *Oryza sativa* ssp. *Japonica*, IAC 165 were obtained from the International Rice Research Institute (IRRI) Phillipines, whilst those of variety Shiokari were obtained from Prof Harro Bouwmeester, Wageningen University. *Striga hermonthica* seeds were collected from rice cultivar Iguape Cateto growing in Korhogo Kouto, Ivory Coast in 2010. The arbuscular mycorrhizal inoculum which contained *Rhizophagus irregularis* spores (1500-3000/L), hyphae, and infected maize and clover roots was a commercial product obtained from PlantWorks Ltd, UK.

2.2.2 Experimental set up

Rice seeds of IAC 165 and Shiokari were surface sterilised with 10% (v/v) bleach for 15 min followed by extensive washing with water. Seeds were then incubated on moist filter paper in Petri dishes in the dark at 25°C for 2 days to initiate germination. Once germinated, two seeds were transferred to individual cylindrical pots (length 25 cm; diameter 7.5 cm; volume 1.105 L), and thinned to one plant per pot after emergence.

As shown in Fig. 2.1, four different treatments (per cultivar) were established (1) rice plants alone (designated control (-AM-*Striga*)), (2) rice plants plus AM inoculum (designated +AM), (3) rice plants plus *S. hermonthica* seeds (designated +*Striga*), and (4) rice plants plus AM inoculum and *S. hermonthica* seeds (designated +AM+*Striga*). Pots for the control treatment (Fig. 2.1a) were filled with autoclaved Chelford sand only. Pots containing the +AM treatment (Fig. 2.1b) were made by filling the bottom 8 cm of the pot with autoclaved Chelford sand. The remaining 15 cm of substrate was made up of autoclaved Chelford sand mixed with 0.150 g L⁻¹ of the *R. irregularis* mycorrhizal inoculum containing spores (1500-3000 L⁻¹), hyphae, and infected maize and clover roots as infective propagules. Pots for the +*Striga* treatment (Fig. 2.1c) were made up by filling the bottom 17 cm of the pot with autoclaved Chelford sand. Three ml autoclaved Chelford sand mixed with 30 mg *S*. *hermonthica* seeds were sprinkled on top of the sand in a single layer. Autoclaved Chelford sand was then used for the remaining 6 cm of substrate. Pots containing the +AM+*Striga* treatment (Fig. 2.1d) were made by filling the bottom 8 cm of the pot with autoclaved Chelford sand. The next 9 cm of the pot was then filled with autoclaved Chelford sand mixed with 0.150 g L⁻¹ of the *R. irregularis* mycorrhizal inoculum. Three ml autoclaved Chelford sand mixed chelford sand mixed with 30 mg of the *S. hermonthica* seeds were sprinkled on top of the sand, and the remaining 6 cm of substrate was again made up of autoclaved Chelford sand mixed with 0.150 g L⁻¹ of the *R. irregularis* mycorrhizal inoculum. Eight biological replicates were established per treatment. In total, 64 pots were used for each of the two cultivars (128 in total), with the cultivars being planted a week apart to provide two separate repeat experiments, and also the time necessary to harvest.



Fig. 2.1: Diagram of the treatments used in the experiment. a) The control treatment containing only autoclaved Chelford sand (yellow). b) The +AM treatment containing autoclaved Chelford sand (yellow), and autoclaved Chelford sand mixed with 0.150 g L⁻¹ of the *R. irregularis* mycorrhizal inoculum (blue). c) The +*Striga* treatment containing autoclaved Chelford sand (yellow), and 3 ml autoclaved Chelford sand mixed with 30 mg of the *S. hermonthica* seeds (green). d) The +AM+*Striga* treatment containing both autoclaved Chelford sand mixed with 0.150 g L⁻¹ of the *R. irregularis* mycorrhizal inoculum (blue), and 3 ml autoclaved Chelford sand mixed with 0.150 g L⁻¹ of the *R. irregularis* mycorrhizal inoculum (blue), and 3 ml autoclaved Chelford sand mixed with 0.150 g L⁻¹ of the *R. irregularis* mycorrhizal inoculum (blue), and 3 ml autoclaved Chelford sand mixed with 30 mg of the *S. hermonthica* seeds (green).

Plants were grown in a controlled environment greenhouse cubicle (Fig. 2.2) which was maintained at 28°C during the day and 24°C at night with 60 % relative humidity for 10 weeks during the months of July and August 2013. Plants were grown when the photoperiod was approximately 16h light and 8h dark. If the irradiance fell below 200 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹ supplementary lighting came on automatically. Plants were watered two times a day using an automatic dripper system delivering a total of 60 ml per day of 40 % Long Ashton solution containing 2mM N and 20 μ M P. This equates to a total of 236.32 mg N and 1.26 mg P by the end of the experiment (Fig. 2.3). This volume of nutrient solution was chosen because it prevented the sand from drying out. The concentrations of N and P were in line with other mycorrhizal studies (e.g. Yoneyama et al., 2012, Foo et al., 2013), being reduced to encourage colonisation and infection. Nutrient solution was stored in a 300 L tank and pH adjusted to pH 5.5.



Fig. 2.2 Rice cultivars, IAC 165 (right) and Shiokari (left) growing alone, or with *R*. *irregularis* or *Striga hermonthica* singly and in combination. Plants were grown in a controlled environment greenhouse chamber.



Fig. 2.3 The cumulative amount of N/P supplied to IAC 165 and Shiokari via nutrient solution during the 10 weeks of the experiment.

2.2.3 Measurements of plant morphology

During the experiment, a number of non-destructive measurements were taken once a week, beginning at the end of week 1 and ending 10 weeks after sowing (WAS). The measurements consisted of the height and diameter of the main stem, the latter measurement taken 3 cm above substrate surface using digital calipers (Mitutoyo Absolute Digimatic CD-6"C, England, UK) and the total number of leaves and tillers per plant.

2.2.4 Harvesting of plant material

Plants were harvested 10 weeks after sowing. At the time of harvest each individual plant was divided into roots, stems and leaves. Roots were cleaned by immersing in water above a 250 μ m sieve to avoid losing plant material. After cleaning, roots from the +*Striga* and +AM+*Striga* treatments were laid flat in 2 cm water to separate the roots, and *S. hermonthica* parasites were harvested. The number of parasites was recorded for each replicate.

Roots were divided by length into top, middle and bottom thirds to create three sections. All subsamples used for root analysis in this chapter came from the middle section of the root system. The fresh weight of all samples and subsamples was recorded. After subsampling roots for mycorrhizal quantification and metabolite analysis, the remaining roots, and all of the leaves, stems, and harvested *S. hermonthica* were transferred to individually labelled paper envelopes and stored in a drying oven for two weeks at 80°C to obtain their dry weight. Root dry weight was corrected using the fresh weight data collected for the root subsamples. To do this, the proportion of weight lost after drying the fresh roots which remained after subsampling was calculated and applied to the fresh weight of the subsamples taken for mycorrhizal quantification and metabolite analysis. In this way the expected dry weight of the subsamples was calculated. The expected dry wright of the subsamples was then added on to the dry weight which had already been obtained.

2.2.5 Staining of roots and quantification of mycorrhizal colonisation

Approximately 1 g fresh weight of the harvested roots were preserved in 50 % ethanol and stained for quantification of mycorrhizal colonisation via microscopy. Many stages are involved in mycorrhizal staining and quantification (Fig. 2.4a). Before staining, root samples were cleared in 10 % KOH (Fig. 2.4b) for one autoclave cycle (35 minutes, 126°C, 1.4bar) to clear them of pigments and tannins which would obscure the view of fungal structures. After autoclaving, the roots were rinsed in water and immersed in 10 % HCL for 10 minutes. Roots were then rinsed again in water, then stained by immersion in trypan blue for 5 minutes (Phillips and Hayman, 1970). After staining, roots were rinsed with water and stored in 50 % glycerol (Fig. 2.4b) until they were needed for analysis. Total colonisation was measured using the grid line intersect method (Giovannetti and Mosse, 1980). To do this, approximately 0.1-0.2 g of stained roots were spread evenly on a plastic petri dish (9 cm diameter) with a 1.27 cm grid square pattern drawn on (Fig. 2.4c). This size of grid allows the number of centimetres of root analysed to be estimated via the number of intersects counted, where 1 intersect = 1 cm root (Giovanetti and Mosse, 1980). Roots were viewed under a dissecting microscope (Leica stereo, MZFLIII, Diagnostic Instruments Inc, USA), and the lines of the grid were traced vertically, then horizontally, until 150 intersections between the roots and grid lines were counted. Intersect points were counted as mycorrhizal if intraradical mycorrhizal structures (intraradical hyphae, vesicles, or arbuscules) were observed (Fig. 2.4d). Colonisation was expressed as a percentage of intersects which were observed to be mycorrhizal.



Fig. 2.4 Equipment used for staining and quantifying mycorrhizal colonisation. a) Picture of all equipment used. b) Roots in 10 % KOH before staining and in 50 % glycerol after staining. c) Grid lines drawn onto 9 cm petri dish to make 1.27 cm diameter squares. d) View of roots under dissecting microscope x80 magnification. The top root is colonised with visible intraradical hyphae and vesicles, while bottom root is not colonised. Scale bar = $100 \ \mu m$.

2.2.6 Nutrient determination

Oven dried leaf and root material was homogenized using a Yellowline A10 Analytical Grinder (IKA, Staufen, Germany). A 50 mg subsample was digested using the Kjeldahl method (Allen, 1989). The Kjeldahl method uses a sulphuric acid and salicylic acid mix (33 g salicylic acid to 1 L sulphuric acid) with a lithium sulphate and copper sulphate catalyst (10:1 ratio respectively) to convert all nitrogen in samples to ammonium. Each 50 mg subsample was weighed into a digestion tube, to which 0.05 g catalyst and 1 ml acid was added, and then heated to 370°C in a digestion block (Techne DG-1) for approximately 6 hours until the solution cleared.

Blanks were prepared in the same way but without the addition of a sample. The resulting solution was diluted to 50 ml with ultra-high purity (UHP) water.

Digested samples were analysed for P concentration using the ascorbic acid colorimetric method (Murphy and Riley, 1986, Eaton et al., 2005). This method uses the reaction of ammonium molybdate and antimony potassium tartrate in an acid medium with dilute solutions of orthophosphate, and reduction of the resulting antimony-phospho-molybdate complex with ascorbic acid to form a blue coloured solution. To do this, 3.8 ml solutions containing 0.5 ml digest sample, 2.6 ml UHP water, 0.2 ml of 0.1 M L-ascorbic acid, and 0.5 ml developer solution (ammonium molybdate and antimony potassium tartrate) were prepared in cuvettes. A standard curve ($p < 0.98^{-1}$) was generated by using the same mixture but replacing the sample with a 10 ppm P standard (sodium dihydrogen orthophosphate) to final concentrations ranging from 0 to 5 ppm in 0.5 ppm increments, and making the volume up to 3.8 ml with UHP water. Solutions were left to develop for 45 minutes, and optical density was measured at 882 nm using a Cecil Ce 1 020 spectrophotometer zeroed against blanks.

Digested samples were analysed for N concentration using a phenol free modification of the Berthelot reaction (Krom, 1980) adapted for bench top use from the automated flow injection analysis (FIA) method (FIAflow2; Burkard Scientific, Uxbridge, UK). The unmodified Berthelot reaction uses the reaction of ammonia with phenol and hypochlorite to form indophenol blue. In the modified version, phenol is substituted for salicylate. Dichloroisocyanurate (DIC) is used as the source of hypochlorite ions. Sodium hydroxide in the DIC converts the ammonium in the digest to ammonia. To do this, 3.8 ml solutions containing 0.05 ml digest sample, 2.5 ml UHP water, 1 ml sodium salicylate, and 0.25 ml DIC were prepared in cuvettes. A standard curve ($p < 0.98^{-1}$) was generated by using the same mixture but replacing the sample with a 10 ppm N standard (ammonium chloride) to final concentrations ranging from 0 to 20 ppm in 2 ppm increments, and making the volume up to 3.8 ml with UHP water. Solutions were left to develop for 30 minutes, and optical density was measured at 650 nm using a Cecil Ce 1 020 spectrophotometer zeroed against blanks.

2.2.7 Metabolite extraction

Metabolomic analysis was carried out on the rice cultivar IAC 165. During the harvest, approximately 100 mg fresh weight of harvested root material was transferred to a foil packet and placed in liquid nitrogen before storage at -80°C. Extraction was performed from biologically replicated plant material (n = 4). Samples were transferred from a -80°C freezer storage to a SuperModulyo freeze dryer (Thermo Scientific, Waltham, USA) and freeze-dried for 3 days at -40°C and 20-40 mbar (2-4 atm). Freeze-dried samples were placed in a 2 ml grinding tube containing two 3 mm diameter ball bearings to aid in grinding the material. The tissue was ground to a powder in a tissue lyser (QIAGEN TissueLyser) for 2 minutes at a frequency of 30/s to produce a fine powder.

Fifty mg of sample powder was weighed into a 1.5 ml Eppendorf tube and used for metabolite extraction. Metabolites were extracted with a polar solvent consisting of MeOH:CHCl₃:UHPH₂O (2.5:1:1), an apolar solvent consisting of MeOH:CHCl₃ (1:1), UHP H₂O, and CHCl₃. Solvents were kept at -20°C and samples were kept on ice throughout the extraction procedure. Samples were first extracted with 500 μ l of polar solvent, vortexed for 10 seconds and left on ice for 5 minutes. Samples were vortexed for 10 seconds and centrifuged at 14,000 rpm for 2 minutes at 4°C. The supernatant was removed and added to a new, pre-chilled Eppendorf tube. The pellet was re-extracted with 250 μ l of apolar solvent, vortexed for 10 seconds and left on ice for 10 minutes. Samples were centrifuged at 14,000 rpm for 2 minutes at 4°C. The supernatant was then added to the supernatant from the polar extraction. Separation of polar and apolar phases was achieved by adding 175 μ l of water and 100 μ l of CHCl₃. This mixture was centrifuged at 14,000 rpm for 2 minutes at 4°C to form two clear phases separated by a cloudy layer. The bottom polar and top apolar phases were pipetted into new tubes and stored at -80°C.

2.2.8 Analysis of the root defence metabolome by MALDI-MS

Analysis was carried out on aqueous extracts in positive mode. Aqueous phase samples were diluted 100-fold with MeOH:H2O:HCOOH (50:49.9:0.1). Matrix solution (α -cyano-4-hydroxycinnamic acid; CHCA; Sigma-Aldrich; C2020) was

prepared at 5 mg ml⁻¹ in MeOH:trifluoroacetic acid (TFA) in a 99.9:0.1 ratio. One μ l of each diluted sample was mixed with an equal volume of matrix solution, and 0.5 μ l of this mixture was spotted in triplicate onto 396-well stainless steel MALDI target plates (Waters) to provide three technical replicates of each biological replicate. Sample droplets on the target plate were allowed to air dry.

Mass spectra were obtained by matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionisation (MALDI) time of flight (TOF) MS analysis, using a Waters Synapt GS2 TOF mass spectrometer fitted with a MALDI orthogonal head (Waters; Manchester; UK). MassLynx data system (version 4.1; Waters) provided instrument control, data acquisition, and data processing. The mass spectrometer was operated in positive ionization mode with Repetition rate:1000 Hz, Laser energy for α -CHCA – 20% (2.3 μ J). Samples were ionised using a UV laser targeted at the plate and within each discreet spot a spiral pattern was drawn for 60 s. The spiral pattern is appropriate for accounting for heterogeneity within the spot. Mass ranges of scans were defined from 50–1,000 Da.

2.2.9 Metabolomics data processing

Peak lists in the form of mass to four decimal places versus ion counts were extracted using Masslynx software and transferred to Microsoft Excel (Microsoft Corp, USA) as text files. To avoid the loss of small peaks of potential interest, no peak threshold was imposed. The spectra for each of the three technical replicate runs for each sample were combined, and only peaks which were present in all three replicates were selected. Peaks were selected if the mass variance between the three technical replicates of a recorded mass fell within an accepted mass variance defined as a linear function of the mass-to-charge ratio (m/z). The mean of the three peaks in a selected triplicate was used as the mass for all three runs, giving a single m/z value for the biological replicate. The resultant m/z values with their ion intensity formed the metabolite profile for that sample. Data were rounded to 0.2 m/z 'bins' and the ion count as percentage of the total ion count (%TIC) was summed for each one and used as a measure of abundance. Thus, within the mass range of 50-1,000 Da, there were 4,750 m/z bins (m/z bin 50, 50.2 etc.), each with a %TIC.

M/z bin number and %TIC were imported into SIMCA-P+ 14 (Umetrics[™]) and pareto scaled for statistical analysis. Scaling is used on data where the variables have considerably different numerical ranges. Without scaling, data for a variable with a particularly large range dominates the modelling so that variance in data with a smaller range may not be revealed. Unit variance (UV) scaling can be used to scale variables so that even variables with a very small variance may be expressed in the model. However, metabolomics data sets are large and complex and can contain a lot of noise, particularly at lower masses and intensities. Pareto scaling is intermediate between no scaling and UV scaling (Eriksson et al., 2006a). This makes it more appropriate for metabolomics data because while it allows smaller peaks to influence the analysis, the influence of small and noisy peaks is reduced.

Principal component analysis (PCA) was used as an initial check for treatment separation and grouping. Principle component analysis (PCA) is a multivariate projection method designed to extract and display the systematic variation in an observation, doing so in a unguided manner. This is necessary because in the next analysis, Orthogonal Partial Least-Squares Discriminant Analysis (OPLS-DA), treatment identity is used to guide the analysis, resulting in separation between treatments even if there is no meaningful difference. OPLS-DA was used to compare the control treatment to each one of the other three treatments, +AM, +*Striga* and +AM+*Striga*. OPLS-DA is a regression extension of PCA with defined classes where structured noise has been separated from the Y-predictive X variation (Eriksson et al., 2006b). It therefore makes variation between treatments in a large, complex, noisy data set easier to visualise and interpret.

M/z bins of interest were selected using loading plots based on the OPLS-DA analysis carried out for each pairwise treatment comparison. For example, Fig. 2.5 shows the OPLS-DA model that was used to compare control to +AM in IAC165. Fig. 2.6 shows the resulting loading plots, which indicate m/z bins which were associated with either control (Fig. 2.6a) or +AM (Fig. 2.6b) treatments. M/z bins which were confidently associated with at treatment were defined by having a pq[1] value where the 95% confidence interval bar did not cross the x-axis. These m/z bins are therefore referred to here as confident m/z bins. Initially, to reduce the data to a

more manageable size, only the top 50 confident m/z bins (ranked by pq[1]) were investigated in more detail.



Fig. 2.5 Orthogonal partial least squares discriminant analysis (OPLS-DA). Example OPLS-DA of the rice root 0.2 Da and %TIC binned data for control (grey) and AM (blue) treatment comparison, n = 4. Note that two of the AM (blue) points are occupying the same space. The same analysis was carried out to compare *S*. *hermonthica* and co-infected samples to the un-infected control.

Putative identification of masses within these m/z bins was carried out using the online database METLIN. Masses were input with 4 decimal places, and the METLIN databased was searched in positive mode with [M+H], [M+Na], [M+K], adducts allowing a 10 ppm error and removing peptides from the search results. Matches in the Metlin database were searched in the KEGG database for verification and on KEGG Pathway to assign them to pathways. Pathways not relevant to plants (e.g. alcoholism) and exceedingly broad pathways (e.g. antibiotics) were not used in further analysis. Defence-related pathways were a target of this investigation, and many putatively identified metabolites mapped to pathways associated with defence such as flavonoid biosynthesis and phenylpropanoid biosynthesis. These pathways were analysed further by expanding beyond the initial 50 bin search to include any confident bin from the OPLS-DA analysis. Fold change for the putative metabolites within these pathways was calculated for each treatment compared to the control as the mean %TIC for the four biological replicates for a given treatment (for example +AM) divided by the mean %TIC for the four biological replicates of the control.



(b)



Fig. 2.6 Example column plots for the selection of bins of interest. Magnified view of plots created from the OPLS-DA model comparing un-infected control and *R*. *irregularis*-colonised polar root extracts of IAC165 roots analysed by MALDI-MS in positive mode. A magnified view of the plots corresponding to the bins positively (a) and negatively (b) associated with *R*. *irregularis*-colonised plants is shown. Columns for bins where the 95% confidence interval does not cross the origin were selected for the analysis. The same analysis was carried out to compare *S*. *hermonthica* and co-infected samples to the un-infected control.

2.2.10 Confirmation of select putative compounds by MS/MS

Tandem mass spectrometry (MS/MS) was used to confirm the identification of a selection of putative compounds. The list of for MS/MS analysis was chosen by only selecting putative compounds which were corrected with the [M+H] adduct, for which standards were available, and which had fragmentation information available on the METLIN database. Standards investigated were trans-Cinnamate, Luteolin, Sinapaldehyde, Sinapate, Vitexin and Chlorogenic acid. Fragmentation patterns of peaks for these putative metabolites were compared with those of standards (and those on the METLIN database). Standards were prepared to a 0.1 mg/ml⁻¹ concentration using an appropriate solvent for each. Samples were diluted to 10-fold with MeOH:H2O:HCOOH (50:49.9:0.1).

Standards and samples were analysed using an electro-spray ionization (ESI) TOF mass spectrometer, API Sciex III Plus (AB Sciex UK Ltd, Warrington, UK), and Analyst software. Each sample was run by direct injection at 10 μ l min–1 using a syringe pump (SP100iZ; WPI; UK). Spectra were collected at a rate of one spectrum s⁻¹ 1 min (60 spectra total). Spectra were first obtained at the charge energy (CE) appropriate to show the presence of the parent ion, then at a CE to show the presence of the parent ion along with some fragmentation, and finally at a CE to only show the fragmentation pattern. One biological rep from each treatment (control, +AM, +*Striga* and +AM+*Striga*) was used for data collection and representation.

2.2.11 Statistical analyses

Measurements of growth taken at the end of the experiment at 10 weeks after sowing (WAS) were analysed using two-way ANOVA with Tukey's multiple comparisons (MC) post hoc analysis in Minitab 17 (version 17.2.1.0. Minitab Inc., Pennsylvania, USA). Statistics for the two cultivars, IAC 165 and Shiokari, which were planted sequentially as separate experiments, were carried out separately. Presence and absence of *R. irregularis* was included in the analysis as one factor, and presence and absence of *S. hermonthica* as another, with the interaction between the two factors then tested. For the weekly growth measurements, two-way ANOVA was used at the end of the experiment at 10 WAS, taking into account the fact that all seeds were

treated equally before sowing, so any effect on growth would be due to treatment (+AM, +*Striga*, or +AM+*Striga*). Assumptions of normality and homogeneity of variances were met through log_{10} or square root transformations of variables when necessary, and confirmed by analysis of residual vs fitted values variable histograms. ANOVA tables for each factor and interaction showing model fit, F-values, degrees of freedom and significance are shown in appendix A. Comparisons of AM colonisation and *S. hermonthica* infection levels were made using Student's t-test in Excel. Graphs were generated using GraphPad Prism 6. Binned metabolomics data were analysed using PCA and OPLS-DA in SIMCA-P+ 14 (UmetricsTM).

2.3 Results

2.3.1 Morphology of rice cultivars IAC165 and Shiokari in the presence of *R*. *irregularis* and *S. hermonthica*

Fig. 2.7 shows the effect of R. irregularis and S. hermonthica, alone or in combination, on the morphology of the rice cultivars IAC 165 and Shiokari on a weekly basis from 1 week after sowing (WAS) to the end of the experiment at 10 WAS, and a representative image of the effect on Shiokari is shown in Fig. 2.8. ANOVA tables for each factor and interaction showing model fit, F-values, degrees of freedom and significance are shown in appendix A. The following results are analysed and presented using additional post-hoc Tukey's multiple comparison (MC) testing where necessary. There was no significant difference between the heights or diameters of the main stem of IAC 165 when grown in the presence or absence of R. irregularis (Fig. 2.7a and b). However, when IAC 165 was grown with S. hermonthica alone or in combination with R. irregularis, both stem height and diameter were significantly lower (two-way ANOVA, Tukey's multiple comparisons (MC), p < 0.001) compared to control plants and plants grown with R. Irregularis alone by 10 WAS (Fig. 2.7a and b). A similar pattern was observed for Shiokari, although the height of the main stem was significantly higher (two-way ANOVA, Tukey's multiple comparisons (MC), p < 0.05) in plants grown with R. irregularis alone compared to control plants by 10 WAS (Fig. 2.7e and f). Shiokari plants grown with S. hermonthica alone or in combination with R. irregularis again had significantly lower stem height and diameter (two-way ANOVA, Tukey's MC, p < 0.05) compared to control plants or plants grown with R. irregularis alone by 10 WAS (Fig. 2.7e and f).

In the presence of *R. irregularis* IAC 165 produced 4 tillers during the 10-week growth period compared to 2 tillers in all other treatments (Fig. 2.7c). After the number of leaves on IAC 165 when grown with *R. irregularis* alone peaked at 6 WAS, leaf number began to decrease due to leaf turnover, such that by week 10 plants grown with *R. irregularis* alone had similar but higher (two-way ANOVA, Tukey's multiple comparisons (MC), p < 0.001) numbers of leaves than control plants grown with *S. hermonthica* alone (Fig. 2.7d). In Shiokari, there was

no significant effect of any treatment on tiller number compared to control plants (Fig. 2.7g). Similarly, there was little effect of treatment on total leaf number with the exception of plants grown with *R. irregularis* alone where leaf number was slightly but significantly higher compared to plants grown alone and with *S. hermonthica* alone (two-way ANOVA, Tukey's MC, p < 0.01) (Fig. 2.7h).



Fig. 2.7: Morphology of rice cultivars IAC 165 and Shiokari when grown with *R*. *irregularis* (+AM), *S. hermonthica* (+*Striga*), both *R. irregularis* and *S. hermonthica* together (+AM+*Striga*) or un-infected as control plants (-AM-*Striga*). (a) and (e) Height of main stem, (b) and (f) diameter of main stem, (c) and (g) total number of tillers, and (d) and (h) total number of leaves. Measurements were taken weekly beginning 1 WAS, and ending 10 WAS. Data shown is the mean for each parameter \pm standard error (SE), n = 8.



Fig. 2.8 Representative picture of rice (cultivar Shiokari) 10 weeks after sowing. (a) Rice grown alone (control, -AM-*Striga*). (b) Rice grown with *R. irregularis* alone (+AM). (c) Rice grown with *S. hermonthica* alone (+*Striga*). Rice grown with both *R. irregularis* and *S. hermonthica* together (+AM+*Striga*). Scale bar = 10 cm.
2.3.2 Above- and below-ground biomass and N and P concentration of rice cultivars IAC 165 and Shiokari in the presence of *R. irregularis* and *S. hermonthica*

Fig. 2.9 shows the effect of *R. irregularis* and *S. hermonthica*, alone or in combination, on the above ground and root biomass, and the N and P concentration of the leaves and roots of the rice cultivars IAC 165 and Shiokari after 10 weeks of growth. ANOVA tables for each factor and interaction showing model fit, F-values, degrees of freedom and significance are shown in appendix B. The following results are analysed and presented using additional post-hoc Tukey's multiple comparison (MC) testing where necessary.

When IAC 165 and Shiokari were grown with *R. irregularis* alone, the above ground biomass was significantly higher (two-way ANOVA, Tukey's MC, p < 0.001) compared to control plants, whereas the root biomass was unchanged (Fig. 2.9a and d). When IAC 165 and Shiokari were grown with *S. hermonthica* alone or in combination with *R. irregularis*, the above ground biomass was significantly lower (two-way ANOVA, Tukey's MC, p < 0.05) than control plants or plants grown with *R. irregularis* alone (Fig. 2.9a and d). Root biomass was also significantly lower (two-way ANOVA, Tukey's MC, p < 0.05) in IAC 165 but not in Shiokari (Fig. 2.9a and d).

There was no significant effect of any treatment on the N concentration of the leaves or roots of IAC 165 with the exception that the N concentration in roots colonised by *R. irregularis* was significantly lower (two-way ANOVA, Tukey's MC, p < 0.05) than in roots of all the other treatments (Fig. 2.9b). Similarly, there was no effect of any treatment on the N concentration of leaves and roots of Shiokari except for a slight decrease in the amount of N in leaves of plants grown with *R. irregularis* and *S. hermonthica* in combination, (two-way ANOVA, Tukey's MC, p < 0.001) (Fig. 2.9e).

When IAC 165 and Shiokari were grown with *R. irregularis* alone or in combination with *S. hermonthica*, both the leaf and root P concentration was significantly higher (two-way ANOVA, Tukey's MC, p < 0.05) than in control plants (Fig. 2.9c and f).

However, when IAC 165 and Shiokari were grown with *S. hermonthica* alone, P concentration in the leaves or roots did not differ significantly from control plants (Fig. 2.9c and f).



Fig. 2.9 Growth and nutrient status of cultivars IAC165 and Shiokari when grown with *R. irregularis* (+AM), *S. hermonthica* (+*Striga*), both *R. irregularis* and *S. hermonthica* (+AM+*Striga*), or un-infected as control plants (-AM-*Striga*). (a) and (d) Above ground (leaf and stem) and root dry weight. (b) and (e) Host leaf and root N concentration. (c) and (f) Host leaf and root P concentration. Data shown is the mean for each parameter \pm SE. Columns sharing the same letters are not significantly different (p > 0.05, two way ANOVA, Tukey's MC), n = 8.

2.3.3 *Striga* infection and AM colonization of rice cultivars IAC165 and Shiokari grown with *R. irregularis* and *S. hermonthica*

Fig. 2.10 shows the effect of *S. hermonthica*, alone or in combination with *R. irregularis*, on the number and biomass of *S. hermonthica* individuals harvested from the roots of the rice cultivars IAC 165 and Shiokari after 10 weeks of growth. When either IAC 165 or Shiokari was grown with both *R. irregularis* and *S. hermonthica* together, the number and biomass of *S. hermonthica* was significantly greater compared to plants grown with *S. hermonthica* alone. In IAC 165, there was a 2.5-fold increase in both number (t-test, p < 0.001) and biomass (t-test, p < 0.01) (Fig. 2.10a and b) of attached *S. hermonthica* and in Shiokari, there was a 5.8-fold increase in number and a 60-fold increase in biomass (t-test, p < 0.01) (Fig. 2.10c and d). Also see Fig. 2.8d which shows *Striga* emerging from the co-colonised/infected plant.



Fig. 2.10 *S. hermonthica* infection of cultivars IAC165 and Shiokari when grown with *S. hermonthica* (+*Striga*) and both *R. irregularis* and *S. hermonthica* (+AM+*Striga*). (a) and (c) *S. hermonthica* number. (b) and (d) *S. hermonthica* dry weight. Data shown is mean *S. hermonthica* number and mean *S. hermonthica* dry weight \pm SE. Columns sharing the same letters are not significantly different (p > 0.05, student's t-test), n = 8.

Fig. 2.11 shows the effect of *R. irregularis*, alone or in combination with *S. hermonthica*, on the % root length colonised by *R. irregularis* for the roots of the rice cultivars IAC 165 and Shiokari after 10 weeks of growth. When either IAC 165 or Shiokari was grown with both *R. irregularis* and *S. hermonthica* together, % root length colonisation was significantly lower (t-test, p < 0.01) compared to plants grown with *R. irregularis* alone.



Fig. 2.11 *R. irregularis* colonisation of cultivars (a) IAC165 and (b) Shiokari when grown with *R. irregularis* (+AM) and both *R. irregularis* and *S. hermonthica* (+AM+*Striga*). Data shown is mean % root length colonisation \pm SE. Columns sharing the same letters are not significantly different (p > 0.05, student's t-test), n = 8.

2.3.4 Root metabolome analysis of rice cultivar IAC165

To investigate the pathways underlying host defence metabolism, an untargeted metabolomic analysis was carried out on metabolite extracts from the roots of the rice cultivar IAC 165 grown without *S. hermonthica* or *R. irregularis* or with either symbiont alone or in combination. Fig. 2.12 shows the PCA for the IAC 165 m/z bin and %TIC root metabolome data for all treatments. The first component separated IAC 165 grown with *R. irregularis* (right, blue) from IAC 165 grown in combination with *R. irregularis* (right, red). The second component separated IAC 165 grown alone (bottom, grey) and IAC 165 grown with *S. hermonthica* alone (top, green) treatments. The widest spread is in the biological replicates for IAC 165 grown with *R. irregularis* are the most tightly grouped. One biological replicate from IAC 165 grown with *S. hermonthica* were spread away from the other biological replicates in their respective treatments. However, all biological replicates were included in subsequent analyses.



Fig. 2.12 Principle component analysis (PCA) scatter plot of the rice root 0.2 Da and %TIC binned data for the control (grey), +AM (AM, blue), +*Striga* (Striga, green) and +AM+*Striga* (AMStriga, red) treatments. Ovals coloured according to treatment highlight general grouping of the biological replicates within treatments. Data were Pareto scaled prior to PCA analysis, n = 4.

The putative metabolites which were up- and down-regulated in the roots of IAC 165 grown with *R. irregularis* and *S. hermonthica*, alone or in combination, compared to IAC 165 grown alone (control) were assigned to metabolic pathways based on KEGG Pathway metabolic maps. Many putatively identified metabolites which were differentially regulated (either up- or down-regulated) compared to the control were found to be present in two key pathways involved in plant defence; phenylpropanoid biosynthesis and flavonoid biosynthesis. The differential up- or down-regulation of these putative metabolites in IAC 165 grown with *R. irregularis* and *S. hermonthica*, individually or in combination, compared to IAC 165 grown alone (control) is shown in Table 2.1 and in Fig. 2.13.

Table 2.1 shows the data for the putative metabolites within these pathways which were confidently up- and down-regulated (as indicated by the OPLS-DA) in IAC 165 grown in the presence of *R. irregularis* and *S. hermonthica*, alone or in combination, compared to control plants. Exact mass and the total mass of the metabolite with its adduct are shown along with the corresponding m/z bin. For each m/z bin, mean % TIC is shown with standard error (SE) alongside. The differential up or down regulation of these putative metabolites in the different treatments is shown in Table 2.1 and on the phenylpropanoid and flavonoid biosynthetic maps (Fig 2.13). Growth of the host plant IAC 165 for 10 WAS with *R. irregularis* and *S. hermonthica*, alone or in combination, resulted in unique effects on the host root defence metabolome. Overall, there was an up-regulation of putative metabolites in IAC 165 colonised with *R. irregularis* alone, and a consistent down-regulation in IAC 165 when infected with *S. hermonthica* alone. The combination of the two symbionts resulted in a more variable response

In IAC 165 grown with *R. irregularis* alone, important precursor compounds of phenylpropanoid metabolism were up-regulated including L-phenylalanine, L-tyrosine, and trans-cinnamate. However, many of the down-stream metabolites leading to lignin biosynthesis were not differentially regulated in comparison to control plants. After the branching point at 4-coumarate towards p-coumaroyl-CoA and ferulate, two metabolites were up-regulated; coumaryl-acetate and ferulate. This suggests that lignin biosynthesis may have been up-regulated, although the change seen is fairly minimal.

In contrast to *R. irregularis*, the precursors L-phenylalanine and trans-cinnamate were down-regulated in IAC 165 grown with *S. hermonthica* alone. Consistent with this, down-stream metabolites of the phenylpropanoid biosynthesis pathway such as 4-coumryl alcohol (which leads directly into lignin biosynthesis), eugenol and methyleugenol and coumarin, were downregulated in the presence of *S. hermonthica*. The branch of the pathway leading from ferulate to sinapoyl aldehyde (which also leads into lignin biosynthesis) was not differentially regulated in the presence of *S. hermonthica*. This suggests active suppression of lignin biosynthesis.

The defence metabolism profile of IAC 165 gown with *R. irregularis* and *S. hermonthica* together showed a variable response in terms of up and down regulation of metabolites when compared to control plants. Unlike the individual symbioses, both up-and down-regulation of metabolites occurred. The metabolites L-phenylalanine, L-tyrosine and trans-cinnamate were not differentially regulated compared to control plants. The response of down-stream metabolites was variable; the branch leading to coumaryl acetate was unchanged, while coumarin, eugenol and sinapoyl aldehyde were down-regulated. However, ferulate and sinapate were up-regulated, indicating a differential response in specific branches of the phenylpropanoid pathway to growth with both symbionts.

The flavonoid biosynthesis pathway represents the other branch of defenceassociated metabolism which was analysed in this study. Overall, the response of this pathway in IAC 165 grown with *R. irregularis* and *S. hermonthica*, alone or in combination compared to control plants, was similar to that seen for the phenylpropanoid biosynthesis pathway. However, an exception is found in 7,4'-Dihydroxyflavone (DHF) which, uniquely, was highly up-regulated in all three treatments, but particularly in IAC 165 grown with *R. irregularis* or *S. hermonthica* alone. In IAC 165 grown with *R. irregularis* alone, the rest of the flavonoid biosynthesis pathway led mainly to compounds which were unchanged in IAC 165 grown with *R. irregularis* alone compared to control plants, with the exceptions of dihydromyricetin and leucodelphinidin which were up-regulated. No metabolites of the flavonoid biosynthesis pathway were down-regulated in IAC 165 grown with *R. irregularis* alone. In Contrast to IAC 165 grown with *R. irregularis* alone, many metabolites of the flavonoid biosynthesis pathway were down-regulated in IAC 165 grown with *S. hermonthica* alone compared to control plants. The metabolites naringenin, diydrokaempferol, cis-3,4-leucopelargonidin (26-fold), pelargonidin, and dihydromyricetin were all down-regulated. IAC 165 grown with *r. irregularis* and *S. hermonthica* together again had a more variable defence-metabolite profile compared to control plants. Isoliquiritigenin, luteolin and quercetin were specifically up-regulated in IAC 165 grown with both symbionts. However, dihydrokaempferol and pelargonidin were both down-regulated, reflecting the effect of *S. hermonthica*. As with the phenylpropanoid pathway, this suggests differential regulation of specific branches of the flavonoid biosynthesis pathway.

In order to validate the identity of key metabolites tandem mass spectrometry was MS/MS was used to compare the spectra of standards for these metabolites to root extract spectra for control IAC 165 plants. Fig. 2.14 shows MS/MS spectra the transcinnamate standard (Fig. 2.14a) and for an IAC 165 control root extract (Fig. 2.14b). The metabolite trans-cinnamate (trans-cinnamic acid,) [M+H]; m/z = 149.0597) required a CE of 20 to obtain optimum fragmentation spectra. The metabolite was clearly identified in the root extracts of IAC 165 by comparison of the fragmentation pattern. Fig. 2.15 shows the MS/MS spectra for the luteolin standard (Fig. 2.15a) and for an IAC 165 control root extract (Fig. 2.15b). The metabolite luteolin ([M+H]; m/z = 287.0550) required a CE of 35 to obtain optimum fragmentation spectra and again validated the presence of this metabolite in root extracts from IAC 165. However, for four other selected metabolites; sinapaldehyde, sinapate, vitexin and chlorogenic acid, it was not possible to identify them in root extracts from IAC 165 via the spectra obtained. It is likely that the concentration of these metabolites was too low to confirm by fragmentation. Indeed, many intermediates within metabolic pathways are found at very low abundance in plants (Dunn et al., 2005).

Table 2.1 Summary table of metabolic responses of the IAC165 root metabolome to *R. irregularis* colonisation and *S. hermonthica* infection. Putative metabolite, exact mass, adduct, mass with adduct correction and m/z bin are shown. For each putative metabolite, mean %TIC and standard error (SE) are shown to four decimal places for all four treatments. %TIC fold change values are shown to two decimal places for m/z bins confidently up- and/or down-regulated in IAC 165 grown with *R. irregularis* and *S. hermonthica*, alone or in combination compared to the control. Where a bin was not confidently up- or down-regulated, a 0 value is shown. Compounds which are in bold have MS/MS data spectra as shown in Fig. 2.14 and Fig. 2.15.

					Control		+AM		+Striga		+AM+Striga		Fold change from control		
Compound	Exact mass	Adduct	M+adduct	Bin	Mean %TIC	SE	Mean %TIC	SE	Mean %TIC	SE	Mean %TIC	SE	+AM	+Striga	+AM+Striga
Flavonoid biosynthesis															
Isoliquiritigenin	256.0736	+H	257.0809	257	1.7358	0.5207	1.1085	0.0584	2.3932	0.3815	3.2300	0.3269	0	0	1.86
Naringenin	272.0685	+H	273.0758	273	0.0367	0.0072	0.0363	0.0128	0.0173	0.0042	0.0258	0.0064	0	-2.12	0
Luteolin	286.0477	+H	287.0550	287	0.0141	0.0021	0.0207	0.0090	0.0150	0.0024	0.0230	0.0034	0	0	1.63
Dihydromyricetin	320.0532	+H	321.0605	321	0.0062	0.0016	0.0116	0.0027	0.0023	0.0010	0.0050	0.0020	1.86	-2.70	0
L-Phenylalanine	165.0790	+Na	188.0682	188	0.0285	0.0015	0.0490	0.0087	0.0173	0.0010	0.0360	0.0047	1.72	-1.65	0
7,4'-Dihydroxyflavone	254.0579	+Na	277.0471	277	0.0042	0.0019	0.0500	0.0185	0.0427	0.0125	0.0091	0.0015	12.03	10.26	2.18
Pelargonidin	271.0606	+Na	294.0498	294	0.2020	0.0379	0.1974	0.0289	0.1200	0.0092	0.1313	0.0300	0	-1.68	-1.54
Dihydrokaempferol	288.0634	+Na	311.0526	311	0.0674	0.0014	0.0553	0.0199	0.0321	0.0071	0.0429	0.0159	0	-2.10	-1.57
cis-3,4-Leucopelargonidin	290.0790	+Na	313.0682	313	0.0498	0.0180	0.0229	0.0076	0.0019	0.0019	0.0495	0.0304	0	-26.34	0
Quercetin	302.0427	+Na	325.0319	325	0.0111	0.0003	0.0117	0.0021	0.0083	0.0021	0.0152	0.0018	0	0	1.37
Leucodelphinidin	322.0689	+Na	345.0581	345	0.0487	0.0090	0.0821	0.0054	0.0411	0.0115	0.0620	0.0070	1.69	0	0
Phenylpropanoid biosynthesis															
trans-Cinnamate	148.0524	+H	149.0597	149	0.0123	0.0004	0.0241	0.0038	0.0050	0.0016	0.0108	0.0030	1.96	-2.45	0
Sinapoyl aldehyde	208.0736	+H	209.0809	209	0.0115	0.0006	0.0114	0.0003	0.0094	0.0031	0.0088	0.0018	0	0	-1.30
Sinapate	224.0685	+H	225.0758	225	0.0186	0.0072	0.0163	0.0039	0.0122	0.0026	0.0332	0.0025	0	0	1.78
Coumarin	146.0368	+Na	169.0260	169	0.0126	0.0013	0.0098	0.0022	0.0075	0.0021	0.0092	0.0018	0	-1.68	-1.37
Methyleugenol	178.0994	+Na	201.0886	201	0.0088	0.0004	0.0086	0.0021	0.0052	0.0018	0.0074	0.0011	0	-1.70	0
L-Tyrosine	181.0739	+Na	204.0631	204	0.0148	0.0039	0.0376	0.0066	0.0191	0.0040	0.0295	0.0060	2.53	0	0
Coumaryl acetate	192.0786	+Na	215.0678	215	0.0056	0.0010	0.0078	0.0005	0.0062	0.0019	0.0075	0.0013	1.40	0	0
4-Coumaryl alcohol	150.0681	+K	189.0313	189	0.0726	0.0115	0.0679	0.0274	0.0359	0.0131	0.0669	0.0178	0	-2.02	0
Eugenol	164.0837	+K	203.0469	203	0.0316	0.0013	0.0296	0.0061	0.0193	0.0056	0.0161	0.0014	0	-1.64	-1.96
5-Hydroxyferulic acid methyl ester	210.0528	+K	249.0160	249	0.0051	0.0013	0.0080	0.0010	0.0050	0.0014	0.0084	0.0008	1.55	0	1.63



Fig. 2.13 Phenylpropanoid biosynthesis and flavonoid biosynthesis pathway map (also reference Table 2.1). Putative metabolites are shown with their fold regulation in colonised/infected treatments in comparison to un-infected control.



Fig. 2.14 MS/MS spectra for (a) the trans-cinnamate standard and (b) for a control IAC 165 sample extract under the same MS conditions. Visual comparison of the fragmentation patterns suggests the presence of trans-cinnamate in samples due to similar fragmentation peaks.



Fig. 2.15 MS/MS spectra for (a) the luteolin standard and (b) for a control IAC 165 sample extract under the same MS conditions. Visual comparison of the fragmentation patterns suggests the presence of luteolin in samples due to similar fragmentation peaks.

2.4 Discussion

This chapter investigated the effect of the interaction between *R. irregularis* and *S. hermonthica* on the growth, nutrient status and defence metabolome of the host plant rice, and the consequences for host development and symbiont success, measured by colonisation/infection levels. I hypothesized that, because AM fungi up-regulate host defence metabolism and/or improve host nutrient status, that they would decrease the amount of *S. hermonthica* infection and ameliorate the negative impacts of *Striga* on host growth and development. However, I have shown, for two different cultivars of rice, that the presence of the AM fungus *R. irregularis* significantly **increased** the number and biomass of *S. hermonthica* individuals on the rice cultivars in comparison to *Striga* alone. Furthermore, the negative impact of *S. hermonthica* on host growth and development was not alleviated by colonisation by the AM fungus.

2.4.1 Does nutrient status and/or alterations in host defence due to the presence of *R. irregularis* explain the increase in susceptibility to *S. hermonthica* infection?

This is the first time that colonisation by mycorrhizal fungi has been seen to increase the susceptibility to S. hermonthica. In contrast, Lendzemo et al. (2007) reported a reduction of S. hermonthica attachments in sorghum plants when grown in pots in combination with the AM fungi Rhizophagus clarus syn. Glomus clarum and Gigaspora margarita (Lendzemo et al., 2007). Another study by Lendzemo et al. (2005) reported a reduction of S. hermonthica emergence and dry weight on maize and sorghum grown in the field after inoculation of the soil with *Rhizophagus clarus* syn. Glomus clarum and Gigaspora margarita. More recently, Othira et al. (2012) also reported a reduction of S. hermonthica emergence, number and biomass in maize plants when grown in pots with three different AM fungal species (Claroideoglomus etunicatum syn. Glomus etunicatum, Scutellospora fulgida, and Gigaspora margarita). This protective effect of AM fungi has been attributed to a reduction in the exudation of germination stimulating strigolactones (SLs) following colonisation by AM fungi (Lopez-Raez et al., 2011). The reduction in exudation of germination stimulants correlates with the ability of AM fungi to improve host nutrient status, since SL release is increased under nutrient stress and down-regulated

by increasing N and/or P in the shoots of plants (Yoneyama et al., 2007a, Yoneyama et al., 2007b).

At the time plants were harvested in this study (10 WAS), R. irregularis enhanced host leaf P concentration in both IAC 165 and Shiokari in line with this well-known benefit of the symbiosis (Smith and Read, 2008). Interestingly, the nutrient status of rice plants grown with both R. irregularis and S. hermonthica together was also enhanced. However, S. hermonthica infection actually increased in these plants, so this improvement in nutrient status, and any subsequent down-regulation of germination stimulant release by the host cannot have occurred in time to reduce parasite germination. The order of colonisation/infection can therefore be hypothesised to be a critical determinant of the outcome of the interaction. R. irregularis must require a head start in order to colonise the host plant, provide it with nutrients, and down-regulate host SLs before they can be released into the rhizosphere. It is therefore likely that R. irregularis and S. hermonthica colonised/infected at a similar time earlier in the experiment, or even that S. hermonthica infected ahead of fungal colonisation. While the end result of the interaction in this experiment was observed at 10 WAS, the details of the early stages, such as the timing of colonisation/infection and at exactly at what point S. hermonthica infection was enhanced, are not clear from these data. The hypothesis that the order of colonisation/infection by the symbionts is crucial to the outcome of the interaction is tested in chapter 4.

Clearly, the AM-mediated improvement of host nutrient status did not reduce *S. hermonthica* infection. In fact, the increase in *S. hermonthica* biomass observed suggests that if anything, the parasite benefited from an enhanced nutrient source as a result of AM-mediated nutrient acquisition. The nutrient supply by the fungus appears to be at minimal C cost to the host, which is evident by the low levels of colonisation seen. This, in combination with the nutrient supply rate used in this experiment, clearly allowed the host to support this increase in *S. hermonthica* biomass. Nutrient partitioning is likely a critical contributing factor in determining the outcome of the interaction in this experiment. Because the susceptibility of the host increased due to the presence of *R. irregularis*, it could be hypothesised that the fungus actually down-regulated host defences in this study during the time that *S.*

hermonthica was invading the host root cortex. Again however, the fact that measurements were taken at 10 WAS means that earlier or highly localised events involving the suppression of host defence by AM fungi may not have been detected. Indeed, growth of IAC 165 with *R. irregularis* actually up-regulated many metabolites in the phenylpropanoid and flavonoid biosynthesis pathways, while none were down-regulated. Overall this suggests the induction of the host defence metabolome by *R. irregularis*. This observation agrees with that of Rivero et al. (2015), who found an increase in downstream metabolites of the phenylpropanoid pathway, including ferulate (also upregulated in the present study) *Solanum lycopersicum* (tomato) after 8 weeks of colonisation by *R. irregularis* and *Funneliformis mosseae* (syn. *Glomus mosseae*).

A number of metabolites in the flavonoid biosynthesis pathway were unchanged in IAC 165 grown with *R. irregularis*, although some metabolites were highly upregulated. For example, 7,4'-Dihydroxyflavone, which is known to have antimicrobial properties in *Medicago truncatula* exposed to cotton root rot (*Phymatotrichopsis omnivora*) (Watson et al., 2015) was up-regulated 12-fold with *R. irregularis* and also was the only metabolite up-regulated with *S. hermonthica* alone (10-fold). However, apart from this, only two other metabolites were up-regulated, and to a lesser degree.

In contrast to IAC 165 grown with *R. irregularis* alone, growth of IAC 165 with S. *hermonthica* alone down-regulated phenylpropanoid biosynthesis and flavonoid biosynthesis. The downregulation of the phenylpropanoid biosynthesis pathway in particular suggests that lignin biosynthesis was suppressed by in IAC 165 infected by *S. hermonthica*. This result is consistent with previous studies that have shown a high susceptibility of this cultivar to *S. hermonthica* infection (Gurney et al., 2006, Swarbrick et al., 2008). Furthermore, transcriptomic analysis of rice infected by *S. hermonthica* has shown that gene expression is down-regulated to a greater extent in the susceptible cultivar IAC 165 compared to the less susceptible cultivar Nipponbare (Swarbrick et al., 2008). In the same study, the resistance response in Nipponbare was associated with the up-regulation of genes encoding enzymes involved in defence metabolism including *pal*. The down-regulation of the phenylpropanoid biosynthesis pathway by *S. hermonthica* in this study is also

consistent with the down-regulation of genes involved in defence pathways, lignin biosynthesis, and secondary cell wall modification observed in the cowpea cultivar B301 undergoing a compatible (susceptible) interaction with S. gesnerioides race SG4z (Huang et al., 2012). Lignification of host root tissues at the site of invading parasite structures is a key resistance mechanism which is used to prevent the establishment of vascular connections, as seen in histological studies. For example, Cameron et al. (2006) were able to show that resistance to Rhinanthus minor by the non-host forb Leucanthemum vulgare involves encapsulation of the invading parasite structures by highly lignified cells at the host-parasite interface, and that lignification did not occur at the parasite interface with the susceptible host plant Cynosurus cristatus. The flavonoid biosynthesis pathway was also widely down-regulated in IAC 165 grown with S. hermonthica alone. Particularly down-regulated was cis-3,4leucopelargonidin (-26-fold), which leads to pelargonidin which in turn then leads to anthocyanin biosynthesis. Naringenin, which leads to the production of the rice phytoalexin sakuranetin, was also down-regulated. Sakuranetin has strong antimicrobial activity towards blast fungus (Ishihara et al., 2008), so it is feasible that downregulation of the pathway leading to its production in this study is symptomatic the susceptible interaction observed. Unlike with R. irregularis, the effect of S. *hermonthica* appears to have been long term.

In IAC 165 grown with *R. irregularis* in combination with *S. hermonthica*, metabolite quantities varied in a highly inconsistent manner in comparison the consistent down-regulation seen in IAC 165 grown with *S. hermonthica* alone. Results from the metabolite analysis have not given a clear indication as to why the presence *R. irregularis* increased *S. hermonthica* in rice. Instead, defence suppression which occurs in a transient, localised manner at the early stages of AM colonisation may have been involved. For example, the suppression of SA-dependent defence during the early stages of colonisation (possibly caused by an increase in ABA) is thought to be essential for the establishment of the AM symbiosis as part of mycorrhizal evasion of host defence responses (Herrera Medina et al., 2003, Herrera-Medina et al., 2007, Mohr and Cahill, 2007a). In another example of transient defence suppression by AM fungi, an effector protein (SP7) has been identified in *R. irregularis* during colonisation of *Medicago truncatula* roots by *R. irregularis*. This protein is secreted by the fungus and delivered to the host cell nucleus, where it binds

to and inhibits the pathogenesis-related transcription factor, ERF19 (Kloppholz et al., 2011). It can therefore be hypothesised that the transient, localised down-regulation of plant defences known to occur during the early stages of AM colonisation may be responsible for the increase in *S. hermonthica* observed here.

2.4.2 Does colonisation by *R. irregularis* alleviate the negative effects of *S. hermonthica*?

S. hermonthica clearly dominates the interaction in terms of its own infection success. However, it also dominates the interaction in terms of its effect on host biomass partitioning, despite there being a clear nutrient-enhancement effect of *R. irregularis*, alone and in combination with the parasite. In this study, there was a significant increase in the above ground dry weight of *R. irregularis*-colonised rice compared to rice grown alone. *R. irregularis* significantly enhanced host leaf and root P concentration in both IAC165 and Shiokari. These data are consistent with the known role of both AM fungi and sufficient nutrient supply in the down-regulation of SL biosynthesis in host plants (Lopez-Raez et al., 2011, Yoneyama et al., 2007a, Yoneyama et al., 2007b), and that SLs are involved in reductions in above-ground biomass partitioning under nutrient-limited conditions (Gomez-Roldan et al., 2008).

Growth of both cultivars with *S. hermonthica* significantly decreased above ground dry weight compared to the un-infected controls. Significantly decreased stem height and diameter were responsible for this effect. *S. hermonthica* had no effect on N or P concentration in rice. However, the highly negative impact of *S. hermonthica* on host growth shows that the total level of nutrients retained by the host was greatly reduced. Overall, the growth data in this study clearly shows that *S. hermonthica* has a strong parasitic effect on rice. This is consistent with previous studies, which have shown that loss of biomass manifests itself through stunting, decreased stem diameter, and decreased leaf area (Cechin and Press, 1994, Watling and Press, 2000). In this study there was no reduction in tiller number in plants infected with *S. hermonthica*, alone or in combination with *R. irregularis*. This differs from previous reports, which have shown that *S. hermonthica* infected rice plants also have fewer tillers than uninfected plants (Cechin and Press, 1994, Cissoko et al., 2011, Echegoyen-Nava, 2012b). However, both cultivars only produced two to four tillers, and IAC 165 in particular

is known to be a low-tillering cultivar, probably due to its high SL content (a major factor in its susceptibility to *S. hermonthica*) (Jamil et al., 2012).

Interestingly, plants co-infected with R. irregularis and S. hermonthica together exhibited the same biomass partitioning characteristics to those grown with S. hermonthica alone, despite enhanced P concentration. The enhanced biomass of S. hermonthica on plants grown with both symbionts shows that the parasite acted as a powerful nutrient sink, but that the nutrient supply to the host via nutrient solution, in combination with supply by the mutualistic fungus, enabled the host to support higher parasite demand without further reductions in growth. Nevertheless, as with plants infected with S. hermonthica alone, the reduction of host growth shows that the total level of N and P retained by the host was greatly reduced in comparison to un-infected controls. Studies regarding the effect of AM fungi on S. hermonthica infection and subsequent host growth have already been carried out, mainly on sorghum and maize (Lendzemo and Kuyper, 2001, Lendzemo et al., 2005, Lendzemo et al., 2007, Othira et al., 2012). Results have mainly indicated an alleviation of the Striga effect on host growth with some exceptions. For example, a pot experiment using a mixed AM inoculum and S. hermonthica to colonise/infect tolerant and sensitive sorghum cultivars resulted in alleviation of the *Striga*-effect on the tolerant cultivar but not the sensitive cultivar (Lendzemo and Kuyper, 2001). It is worth noting that this previous study by Lendzemo and Kuyper (2001) found a similar positive and negative effect of individual AM colonization and individual S. hermonthica respectively.

2.4.3 Conclusions

According to what has been seen in studies to date, AM fungi are expected to reduce infection by *S. hermonthica*. However, this study has shown that *S. hermonthica* dominates the interaction with *R. irregularis* in terms of effects on host morphology and growth, and even benefits in terms of infection success. On the other hand, while *R. irregularis* continued to provide nutrients to the host, this did not alleviate the effect of *S. hermonthica*, and colonization was reduced by the presence of the parasite. The provision of nutrients by *R. irregularis* while imposing a low C demand on the host, coupled with the nutrient supply via nutrient solution to the rice plants,

likely enabled them to support the enhanced number biomass in the presence of the parasite. It would be interesting to see if this ability is maintained with a low nutrient supply, and this is tested in chapter 3.

The global host defence metabolome reflected an opposing effect of the two symbionts singly. However, this did not help us to explain the overall dominance of *S. hermonthica* over *R. irregularis* when the symbionts were grown together. There are a few possible explanations for this observation when considering some of the underlying mechanisms of AM colonisation and *S. hermonthica* infection. Clearly, the SL signalling mechanism is not the only driving factor in the interaction between AM fungi and parasitic plants, despite previously observed decreases in *Striga* infection due to AM colonization (Lendzemo et al., 2005, Lendzemo et al., 2007, Othira et al., 2012). The outcome of the interaction may be determined by the timing and order of infection. In this experiment, roots entered a spore inoculum not a mycelial network. In the field, roots would likely enter a mycelial network which may result in faster colonisation.

Of course, timing is a factor which was not under control in this experiment. We could speculate that in this experiment, *S. hermonthica* infected before *R. irregularis*, preventing any AM-induced down-regulation of germination stimulant release from the host roots. Endogenous effects of AM colonization which favour the post-attachment stages of *Striga* infection are more likely to be behind the increase in parasite infection observed in this study. For example, AM root colonization is known to involve transient, localized defence suppression (Herrera Medina et al., 2003, Herrera-Medina et al., 2007). Control over the timing and order of infection, as well as localized analysis of the interaction at specific stages will allow the further dissection of the mechanisms behind this complex interaction. The effect of the order of colonisation/infection on the outcome of the interaction in terms of symbiont success is tested in chapter 4.

Chapter 3

How does altering nitrogen and phosphorus supply influence symbiont success and host growth during the interaction between *Rhizophagus irregularis* and *Striga hermonthica*?

3.1 Introduction

In chapter 2, it was shown that R. irregularis increased the susceptibility of two rice cultivars, IAC 165 and Shiokari, to S. hermonthica. This was shown as an increase in both the number and biomass of attached parasites in plants grown with both symbionts. At the time of harvest at 10 WAS, R. irregularis had conferred a nutrient benefit to its host plant, but this did not translate into a suppression of S. hermonthica infection. This was in stark contrast to the protective effect of AM fungi shown in other studies, which had been attributed to a decrease in host release of parasite germination stimulants (SLs) as a result of the nutrient benefit conferred by the fungus (Lendzemo et al., 2005, Lendzemo et al., 2007, Lopez-Raez et al., 2011). Immediately, this suggested that in chapter 2, R. irregularis enhanced host nutrient status after Striga germination, and not early enough to suppress germination stimulant release from the host roots. Thus the timing of colonisation/infection must be critical for determining the outcome of the interaction. It was therefore hypothesised that the increased number of Striga attachments was due to the suppression of plant defences known to occur at the early stages of AM colonisation, and that this would have occurred with both symbionts colonising/infecting the host at a similar time in the experiment.

As well as the number of attachments, the biomass of *Striga* also dramatically increased in the presence of *R. irregularis*, although this did not further decrease growth of the host in comparison to plants infected by *Striga* alone. The host plants in this experiment were clearly receiving enough nutrients to support this increased parasite demand, and the additional supply of nutrients from the fungus may have served to increase their value as a nutrient source for the parasite. The fungal supply of nutrients coupled with the low level of colonisation observed showed that the fungus was highly mutualistic with a low demand for host C in both the absence and presence of *S. hermonthica*. Therefore, the dominant sink for the re-allocation of host nutrient was *Striga*. The ability of host plants to support an increased biomass of *Striga* in the presence of *R. irregularis*, and the large size of plants grown in the absence of either symbiont and in the presence of *R. irregularis* alone shows that plants in the experiment in Chapter 2 received a plentiful supply of nutrients.

Based on the results of chapter 2, I now wish to test if different levels of nutrient supply to the host plant will alter *R. irregularis* and *S. hermonthica* colonisation/infection and the result of their interaction on host growth. By changing the nutrient supply, I may alter the ability of each symbiont to colonise/infect, and also the ability of the host plant to support symbiont demand. Both AM fungi and *S. hermonthica* impose significant carbons demands on their hosts (Jakobsen and Rosendahl, 1990, Irving and Cameron, 2009). Furthermore, it is already known that the level of nutrient supply to host plants alters their interaction with both AM fungi and *Striga* significantly.

In the case of *Striga*, infestation is most severe in nutrient poor conditions in sub-Saharan Africa (SSA) (Oswald, 2005). Low nutrient input practices such as those used in many areas of SSA by subsistence farmers generate nutrient poor fields, and this is where *Striga* infestation is a particular problem (Ejeta, 2007). However, high nutrient conditions are known to decrease emergence and biomass of *Striga* and reduce the negative impact on the host (Cechin and Press, 1993b, Cechin and Press, 1994). Increased nutrient supply (predominantly N but also P) can reduce parasite attachment, with examples of this seen in rice (Riches et al., 2005, Adagba et al., 2002, Jamil et al., 2011a), maize (Kamara et al., 2009, Ahonsi et al., 2002, Jamil et al., 2014), and sorghum (Cechin and Press, 1993b, Showemimo et al., 2002, Jamil et al., 2013).

One of the main mechanisms for reduced parasite germination and therefore attachment is a reduction in germination stimulating compounds in host root exudates when fertilised with N/P. It is widely known that increasing N/P supply to plant roots suppresses SL exudation (Yoneyama et al., 2007a, Yoneyama et al., 2007b, Yoneyama et al., 2012, Lopez-Raez et al., 2008, Jamil et al., 2012). In accordance with this, studies have largely attributed the reductions in *Striga* infection under high nutrient conditions to a reduction in SLs released from host roots (Jamil et al., 2011a). For example, a glasshouse pot experiment by Jamil et al. (2011) showed that SL exudation and *Striga hermonthica* germination and attachment in the rice cultivar IAC 165 increased because of N/P deficiency, with SL exudation highest under P-deficient conditions (Jamil et al., 2011a). Jamil et al. (2012) also showed that under greenhouse conditions, the release of SLs from maize roots

increases with low N/P and increases *Striga* infection, and the effect of increasing N on reducing *Striga* infection was consistent in the field (Jamil et al., 2012). Nitrogen fertilisation can also have a direct toxic effect on *Striga* germination and shoot development (Cechin and Press, 1993a, Igbinnosa et al., 1996). For example, high ammonium nitrate concentrations have been shown to decrease *Striga* germination (Cechin and Press, 1993a), while high ammonium and urea concentrations can suppress *Striga* shoot development and elongation (Igbinnosa et al., 1996).

As with Striga infection, nutrient addition has also been shown to decrease AM colonisation. For example, Mader et al. (2000) measured AM colonisation in wheat, vetch-rye and grass clover grown in a long term field trial comparing low and high fertiliser input sites. It was found that % root length colonisation was significantly higher (by 30-60%) in plants grown in low input soils than in those grown in conventional soils (Mader et al., 2000). Similarly, a study by van der Gast et al. (2011) analysed AM fungal colonisation in plants grown in soils exposed to organic (low fertiliser input) and conventional (high fertiliser input) farm practices, and found that % root length colonisation was significantly higher in plants grown in organic soils (van der Gast et al., 2011). Again, in a similar manner to Striga, one of the main mechanisms which enhances AM colonisation is the exudation of SLs into the rhizosphere, which is enhanced by nutrient stress (Akiyama et al., 2010). SLs induce hyphal branching in AM fungi (Akiyama et al., 2005), increasing the likelihood of making contact with host roots (Parniske, 2008). This allows plants to enhance recruitment of AM fungi under nutrient limited conditions so as to exploit their hyphal network to scavenge for nutrients such as P (Akiyama et al., 2005, Foo et al., 2013).

In this chapter, I test the effect of lowering the N/P supply to host plants, and compare my results to those in chapter 2. Lowering the nutrient supply may affect the interaction between the host plant and the two symbionts, both singly and in combination, in two major ways. First, it may enhance colonisation/infection by increasing branching/germination stimulant release and thus the recruitment of the two symbionts to the host root. Secondly, it may alter the source-sink dynamics of the interaction and the ability of the host plant to support both symbionts due to their demands on the host for nutrients. In particular, this may alter the ability of host

plants to support enhanced *Striga* infection in the presence of *R. irregularis* as seen in chapter 2.

The aim of chapter 3 was to understand the effects of different amounts of substrate N/P levels on host colonisation/infection success of each symbiont, alone and in combination, and the subsequent effects on host growth and development. In this chapter, there are two main hypotheses that I will test:

Hypotheses

- Decreasing N/P supply will enhance colonisation/infection of the host by both symbionts singly and in combination due to an increase in the host release of germination stimulants.
- 2) Decreasing N/P supply will limit the ability of the host to support a high level of *S. hermonthica* infection alone and/or in combination with *R. irregularis*.

Objectives

- 1) Grow the rice cultivar IAC 165 in factorial combination with *R. irregularis* and *S. hermonthica* alone and in combination in pots.
- 2) Supply the pots with two levels of N/P concentration; one in which plants are likely to receive a sufficient supply ('high'), and the other where the plants are likely to be deficient ('low') in reference to the clearly sufficient supply used in chapter 2.
- 3) Measure growth and development weekly over a 10-week period.
- 4) Carry out harvests at 5 and 10 weeks after sowing.
- 5) Measure nutrient status of the host.
- 6) Measure colonisation by *R. irregularis* and infection by *S. hermonthica*.
- 7) Collect root exudates from IAC 165 grown alone and grown with *R*. *irregularis* and perform a bioassay on *S. hermonthica* seeds to analyse germination and haustorium formation. This will test the effect of *R*. *irregularis* colonisation on host root germination stimulating activity on parasite seeds.

3.2 Materials and methods

3.2.1 Plant and fungal materials

Seeds of *Oryza sativa* ssp. *Japonica*, cultivar IAC 165 were obtained from the International Rice Research Institute (IRRI) Phillipines, *Striga hermonthica* seeds were collected from Kibos, 2013. The arbuscular mycorrhizal inoculum which contained *Rhizophagus irregularis* isolate 09 (Stockinger et al., 2009) was propagated on *Daucus carota* L. root organ culture (ROC). Roots and spores were cultured on modified Strulli-Romand (MSR) medium (Declerck et al., 1996, Declerck et al., 1998) in 150 mm diameter petri dishes and maintained in darkness at 24°C for five months. The culture was blended and mixed with sterile demineralised water to produce a suspension containing 400 spores ml⁻¹.

3.2.2 The effect of altering substrate N/P supply on host nutrient status, growth *R. irregularis* colonisation and *S. hermonthica* infection

The four treatments illustrated in section 2.2.2 (Fig. 2.1) were established for this experiment: they were: (1) rice plants alone (designated control (-AM-*Striga*)), (2) rice plants plus AM inoculum (designated +AM), (3) rice plants plus *S. hermonthica* seeds (designated +*Striga*), and (4) rice plants plus AM inoculum and *S. hermonthica* seeds (designated +AM+*Striga*). Plants were set up as described in section in 2.2.2 Fig. 2.1 except that the AM inoculum strain differed and two nutrient supplies were established. Pots containing mycorrhizal inoculum contained 10 ml of the *R. irregularis* suspension to make 4000 spores per pot in the top 10 cm of sand. Rice seeds of IAC 165 were introduced into pots as described in section 2.2.2. Eight biological replicates were established per treatment. Plants were grown in the same conditions described in section 2.2.2 during the months of July and August 2014 when the photoperiod was approximately 16h light and 8h dark.

Two levels of N/P were supplied to plants, while the supply of all other nutrients and the supply of water was equal. One N/P level (designated 'high' N/P) was intended to supply the plants with a sufficient level of N/P lower (to promote more mycorrhizal colonisation) but still comparable to the nutrient regime used in chapter

2. The other (designated 'low' N/P) was intended to make the plants deficient in both N/P via a level of N and P supply an order of magnitude lower than plants in chapter 2 and the 'high' level used in this chapter.

Plants in the high N/P treatment were watered once a day using an automatic dripper system delivering a total of 30 ml per day of 40 % Long Ashton solution containing 2 mM nitrogen and 20 μ M phosphorus for 5 WAS, then 60 ml of the same solution until the end of the experiment at 10 WAS. Plants in the low N/P treatment were watered once a day using an automatic dripper system delivering a total of 30 ml per day of only distilled water for 2 WAS, then 30 ml of 40 % Long Ashton solution containing 0.25mM nitrogen and 2 μ M phosphorus until 5 WAS, then 60 ml of the same solution until the end of the experiment at 10 WAS.

What this supply rate equates to in terms of cumulative N/P supply is shown in Fig. 3.1. Plants in the high nutrient treatment received a total of 177.24 mg N and 0.945 mg P by the end of the experiment at 10 WAS (Fig. 3.1a and b). Plants in the low nutrient treatment received a total of 19.201 mg N and 0.0819 mg P by the end of the experiment at 10 WAS (Fig. 3.1c and d). The total supply of N/P was therefore an order of magnitude lower for plants grown with low N/P than for plants grown with high N/P. Note that in chapter 2 a total of 236.32 mg N and 1.26 mg P was supplied by the end of the experiment (section 2.2.2, Fig. 2.3).

3.2.3 Measurements of plant morphology

Measurements of plant morphology (height and diameter of the main stem, and the total number of tillers and leaves) were carried out as detailed in section 2.2.3.

3.2.4 Harvesting of plant material

Harvesting of plant material was carried out at 5 and 10 weeks after sowing (WAS) as detailed in section 2.2.4, except that the roots systems were divided into create two sections, and all subsamples used for root analysis came from the top section.



Fig. 3.1 The cumulative amount of N/P supplied to plants via nutrient solution during the 10 weeks of the experiment. Overall, plants supplied with 'low' N/P received an order of magnitude less N/P than plants supplied with 'high' N/P by the end of the experiment at 10 WAS.

3.2.5 Staining of roots and quantification of mycorrhizal colonisation

Mycorrhizal staining and quantification was carried out as detailed in section 2.2.5.

3.2.6 Nutrient determination

Nutrient concentration in the roots and leaves of each treatment was carried out as detailed in Chapter 2.2.6.

3.2.7 Root exudation collection

Root exudates were collected by adding a known amount of water to pots. Using test pots, it was calculated that 150 ml of water was required to drain the pots in order to collect 100 ml samples containing root exudates. Exudates from each plant were collected in two 40 ml and one 20 ml falcon tube and snap frozen in liquid nitrogen before storage at -80°C. Root exudates from rice grown with *R. irregularis* alone (+AM) and supplied with high N/P and root exudates from control (-AM-*Striga*) plants also supplied with high N/P were used in the subsequent analysis. Six biological replicates were used.

3.2.8 Germination bioassay

Root exudates from rice grown with and without *R. irregularis* alone (+AM and – AM-*Striga* respectively) and supplied with high N/P from the 5 and 10 WAS harvests were used to test the effect of *R. irregularis* colonisation on *S. hermonthica* seed germination and haustoria formation. Only these exudates were used because initial tests with all other root exudates showed no germination potential, probably because the root systems of all other plants were very small resulting in a lower total amount of exudates per pot, and due to dilution with water during collection.

S. hermonthica seeds were surface sterilised in 10% sodium hypochlorite solution for 4 min before being washed into a \emptyset 90 mm glass-fibre filter paper disc (Whatman®) fashioned into a funnel and rinsed thoroughly with demineralized water. S. hermonthica seeds require preconditioning before germination (Matusova et al., 2004). Seeds were preconditioned on moistened glass-fibre filter paper in a \emptyset 90 mm petri dish sealed with parafilm at 30 °C in darkness for 14 days.

After preconditioning, seeds were washed with deionised water into a 100 μ m polyester mesh (Plastok Group, Birkenhead, UK) fashioned into a funnel. Seeds were transferred to a Schott (Duran®) bottle by rinsing them from the mesh with 0.1% agarose solution. The seed/agarose mixture was topped up to 75 ml (1.5x the mass of seeds used in mg) and mixed gently to give a uniform seed distribution. Half of this

seed mix was then decanted into a separate bottle. To one bottle, the synthetic germination stimulant GR24 was added to a final concentration of 0.1 ppm, and to the other the same volume of water was added. Thus seeds treated with and without GR24 were made (+GR24 and –GR24 respectively). One ml of the seed/agarose mix was then pipetted into 2 ml Eppendorf tubes using a cut off tip to allow seed transfer. One ml of root exudates was then added to the tubes individually. Six biological reps from each growth condition were used. These growth conditions were; two treatments (control and +AM), one N and P level (high), two time points (5 and 10 WAS). These were pipetted into the +GR24 and –GR24 tubes. To six +GR24 tubes and six –GR24 tubes were added the same volume of water to provide seeds not treated with root exudates. Three-hundred μ l of these preparations was then pipetted into individual wells in 24-well multiwell plates. The plates were double bagged with zip lock bags and incubated at 30 °C in darkness for 28 hours.

At 28 hours post germination, the haustorial initiation factor 2,6-Dimethoxy-1,4benzoquinone (DMBQ) was added to a final concentration of 10 μ M, and the seeds were incubated for 18 hours to allow haustoria to develop. Seeds were observed under a dissecting microscope (Leica stereo, MZFLIII, Diagnostic Instruments Inc, USA) to measure % germination and % haustorium production. Subsamples were then mounted into 75 x 25 mm microscope slides, and representative photographs of radicles and haustorial were taken under a light microscope (Olympus BX51) with an attached digital camera (Olympus DP71).

3.2.9 Statistical analyses

Measurements of growth which were taken half way through the experiment at 5 weeks after sowing (WAS) and at the end of the experiment at 10 WAS were analysed using three-way ANOVA with Tukey's multiple comparisons (MC) post hoc analysis in Minitab 17 (version 17.2.1.0. Minitab Inc., Pennsylvania, USA). Presence and absence of *R. irregularis* was included in the analysis as one factor, presence and absence of *S. hermonthica* as another, and high and low N/P as another, with the interaction between the three factors then tested. For the weekly growth measurements, three-way ANOVA was used at the end of the experiment at 10 WAS, taking into account the fact that all seeds were treated equally before sowing, so any

effect on growth would be due to treatment conditions. Assumptions of normality and homogeneity of variances were met through log_{10} , square root, or Box Cox transformations of variables when necessary, and confirmed by visual analysis of residual vs fitted values. Comparisons of AM colonisation were made using two-way ANOVA with presence of *R. irregularis* alone and presence of *S. hermonthica* in combination with *R. irregularis* as one factor, and high and low N/P as the other. Comparisons of S. hermonthica infection levels were made using two-way ANOVA with presence of S. hermonthica alone and presence of S. hermonthica in combination with *R. irregularis* as one factor, and high and low N/P as the other. Comparisons of S. hermonthica seed germination were made using two-way ANOVA with exudates from control and +AM plants as one factor, and presence and absence of GR24 as the other. The GR24 only treatment (which did not root any root exudates) was not included in the analysis and is only used as a visual reference. Graphs were generated using GraphPad Prism 6. ANOVA tables for each factor and interaction showing model fit, F-values, degrees of freedom and significance are shown in appendix B.

3.3 Results

3.3.1 The effect of high and low supply of N and P on the morphology of the rice cultivar IAC 165 grown in the presence of *R. irregularis* and *S. hermonthica* alone and in combination

Figures 3.2 and 3.3 show the effects of altering the supply of N and P on the growth and morphology of the rice cultivar IAC 165 when grown with R. irregularis or S. hermonthica alone and in combination compared to uninfected control plants. ANOVA tables for each factor and interaction showing model fit, F-values, degrees of freedom and significance are shown in appendix B. Control plants and plants colonised by *R. irregularis* showed almost identical main stem height and diameters over the 10-week period of the experiment when grown with a high or low supply of N and P. However, plants grown with a high nutrient supply were twice the size of those grown with a low nutrient supply (Fig. 3.2a, b, e and f; Fig. 3.3a - c). Thus there was no growth promoting effect of R. irregularis in this experiment. The height and stem diameter of plants grown in the presence of S. hermonthica alone or together with R. irregularis were also similar to each other, but severely reduced in comparison to uninfected plants and plants grown with *R. irregularis* alone (Fig. 3.2a, b, e and f; Fig. 3.3b and c). At 10 weeks after sowing the height and stem diameter of plants grown with S. hermonthica or S. hermonthica in combination with R. irregularis were 4 times lower than uninfected plants and plants grown with R. *irregularis* alone when grown at high nutrient supply and two times lower when grown at low nutrient supply (Fig. 3.2a, b, e and f; Fig. 3.2b and c).

The rice cultivar IAC 165 is a low tillering cultivar. On average between 1.0 - 2.0 tillers were produced on uninfected plants and plants grown with *R. irregularis* at high nutrient supply and this was significantly lower (> 1.0 tiller on average) in plants grown with *S. hermonthica* alone (Fig. 3.3c; Fig. 3.3b). As a consequence, uninfected plants and plants grown with *R. irregularis* alone had the same number of leaves (at 9 weeks after sowing before leaves senesced) but the number of leaves on plants grown with *S. hermonthica* alone or in combination with *R. irregularis* was significantly lower (p < 0.001) (Fig. 3.2d and Fig. 3.3b). When plants were grown



with a low supply of nutrients, no tillers were produced in any treatment and numbers of leaves on all host plants were similar (Fig. 3.2g and h and Fig. 3.3c).

Fig. 3.2 Morphology of rice cultivar IAC 165 under high and low N/P when grown with *R. irregularis* (+AM), *S. hermonthica* (+*Striga*), and when grown with both *R. irregularis* and *S. hermonthica* together (+AM_*Striga*) or un-infected as control plants (-AM-*Striga*). (a) and (e) Height of main stem, (b) and (f) diameter of main stem, (c) and (g) total number of tillers, and (d) and (h) total number of leaves. Measurements were taken weekly beginning 1 WAS, and ending 10 WAS. Data shown is the mean for each parameter \pm standard error (SE), n = 8.



Fig. 3.3 Representative images of rice cultivar IAC 165 10 weeks after sowing. (a) Control plant supplied with high N/P (left) compared to control plant supplied with low N/P (right). (b) IAC 165 treatments supplied with high N/P from left to right: control, +AM, +*Striga*, +AM+*Striga*. (c) IAC 165 treatments supplied with low N/P from left to right: control, +AM, +*Striga*, Scale bars = 10 cm.

3.3.2 The effect of high and low N and P supply on the above- and below-ground biomass and N and P concentration of IAC 165 grown with *R. irregularis* and *S. hermonthica* alone or in combination

Fig. 3.4a and Fig. 3.4d show the effect of high and low N and P supply on the aboveand below-ground biomass of IAC 165 grown with *R. irregularis* and *S. hermonthica* alone and in combination. ANOVA tables for each factor and interaction showing model fit, F-values, degrees of freedom and significance are shown in appendix B. The following results are analysed and presented using additional post-hoc Tukey's multiple comparison (MC) testing where necessary.

At both 5 and 10 WAS with high N/P there was a highly significant increase (threeway ANOVA, Tukey's MC, p < 0.05) in the biomass of roots and shoots of uninfected plants and plants grown with *R. irregularis* alone compared to plants grown with *S. hermonthica* alone or in combination with *R. irregularis* (Fig. 3.4a and d). A similar pattern was observed for the treatments grown with low nutrient supply at 5 WAS although root biomass was not altered by treatment, and the total biomass of all treatments was significantly lower (three-way ANOVA, Tukey's MC, p < 0.05) than for plants grown with a high nutrient supply (Fig. 3.4a and d). Again the pattern was similar at 10 WAS except that shoot biomass was not significantly lower in plants grown with *S. hermonthica* alone compared to plants grown with *R. irregularis* alone.

Fig. 3.4b and Fig. 3.4e show the effect of high and low N and P supply on the leaf and root N concentration of IAC 165 grown with *R. irregularis* and *S. hermonthica* and in combination. When plants were grown with a high nutrient supply the leaf N concentration was the same in all treatments (Fig. 3.4b and e). Similarly, root N concentration was barely affected by treatment at 5 WAS except for being higher (three-way ANOVA, Tukey's MC, p < 0.05) in plants grown with *S. hermonthica* alone than in plants grown with *R. irregularis* alone (Fig. 3.4b). By 10 WAS plants grown with *S. hermonthica* alone or in combination with *R. irregularis* had a higher (three-way ANOVA, Tukey's MC, p < 0.05) N concentration than uninfected plants and plants grown with *R. irregularis* alone (Fig. 3.4e). When plants were grown with a low supply of N and P the shoot N concentration was not affected by treatment at either 5 or 10 WAS apart from at 10 WAS where it is higher (three-way ANOVA, Tukey's MC, p < 0.05) in plants grown with both symbionts than plants grown alone. The concentration of N in the roots of these plants followed a similar pattern to that seen at high nutrient supply i.e. at 10 WAS there was a small but significant increase (three-way ANOVA, Tukey's MC, p < 0.05) in N concentration in the treatments containing *S. hermonthica* (Fig. 3.4e).

Fig. 3.4c and Fig. 3.4f show the effect of high and low N and P supply on the leaf and root P concentration of IAC 165 grown with *R. irregularis* and *S. hermonthica* alone or in combination. When plants were grown with a high supply of nutrients, the phosphorus concentration of the leaves and roots of uninfected plants and plants grown with *R. irregularis* was lower (three-way ANOVA, Tukey's MC, p < 0.05) than in the leaves and roots of plants grown with *S. hermonthica* alone or in combination with *R. irregularis* at 10 WAS (Fig. 3.4f). When plants were grown with a low nutrient supply there was no significant difference in the P concentration of leaves and roots of all treatments at 5 WAS (fig. 3.4c). However, by 10 WAS the P concentration of leaves and roots was greater in the two treatments containing *S. hermonthica* than control plants (three-way ANOVA, Tukey's MC, p < 0.05) but not plants grown with *R. irregularis* alone (Fig. 3.4f).

3.3.3 The effect of high and low N/P supply on AM colonization of rice cultivar IAC165 grown with *R. irregularis* alone and in combination with *S. hermonthica*

Fig. 3.5 shows the effect of altering the supply of N and P on *R. irregularis* colonization of rice cultivar IAC165 grown with *R. irregularis*, alone and in combination with *S. hermonthica* after 5 and 10 WAS.



Fig. 3.4 Growth and nutrient status of the rice cultivar IAC165 under high and low N/P when grown with *R. irregularis* (+AM), *S. hermonthica* (+*Striga*), both *R. irregularis* and *S. hermonthica* (+AM+*Striga*), or un-infected as control plants (-AM-*Striga*) at 5 WAS (a-c) and 10 WAS (d-f). (a) and (d) Above ground (leaf and stem) and root dry weight. (b) and (e) Host leaf and root N concentration. (c) and (f) Host leaf and root P concentration. Data shown is mean dry weight \pm SE. Columns sharing the same letters are not significantly different (p > 0.05, three-way ANOVA, Tukey's MC), n = 8.
At 5 WAS, % root colonisation of intraradical hyphae, vesicles and arbuscules in IAC 165 grown with *R. irregularis*, alone or in combination with *S. hermonthica*, was significantly lower (two-way ANOVA, Tukey's MC, p < 0.001) in plants supplied with low N/P compared to high N/P (Fig. 3.5a). By 10 WAS colonisation was equivalent in both nutrient treatments (Fig. 3.5b), where colonisation was characterised by a high abundance of arbuscules and vesicles (Fig. 3.6).

Colonisation was significantly decreased (two-way ANOVA, Tukey's MC, p < 0.05) by the presence of *S. hermonthica* at both low and high N/P supply levels by 10 WAS. Also of note is the fact that colonisation in plants supplied with high N/P was significantly lower (two-way ANOVA, Tukey's MC, p < 0.05) at 10 WAS compared to 5 WAS in plants colonised by *R. irregularis* in combination with *S. hermonthica*, perhaps representing a delayed suppressive effect of the parasite on colonisation.

3.3.4 The effect of high and low N/P supply on *S. hermonthica* infection of the rice cultivar IAC165 grown with *S. hermonthica* alone and in combination with *R. irregularis*

Fig. 3.7 shows the effect of high and low N/P supply on *S. hermonthica* infection of the rice cultivar IAC165 grown with *S. hermonthica* alone and in combination with *R. irregularis* at 5 and 10 WAS. The number and dry weight of parasites in IAC 165 grown with *S. hermonthica*, alone or in combination with *R. irregularis*, was significantly higher (two-way ANOVA, Tukey's MC, p < 0.05) in plants supplied with high N/P compared to low N/P (Fig. 3.7a, b, g and f). However, when normalising this data per unit of root biomass, then at low N/P there is a significantly higher (two-way ANOVA, Tukey's MC, p < 0.05) number of *S. hermonthica*, with the exception of co-colonised/infected plants at 10 WAS (Fig. 3.7c and d). Throughout the experiment, the presence of *R. irregularis* did not alter *S. hermonthica* number or dry weight with the only exception at the high N/P level at 5 WAS, where *S. hermonthica* dry weight was significantly lower (two-way ANOVA, Tukey's MC, p < 0.05) in the presence of *R. irregularis* did.



Fig. 3.5 *R. irregularis* colonisation of IAC165 at (a) 5 and (b) 10 WAS under high and low N/P supply. Intraradical hyphae (IH), vesicle (Ves) and arbuscules (Arb) are shown. Data shown is mean % root length colonisation \pm SE, n = 8. Comparisons of results are outlined in section 3.3.3.



Fig. 3.6 Images of roots from IAC 165 colonised by *R. irregularis* and supplied with 'high' N/P harvested at 10 WAS. (a) Extraradical colonisation of the root shown by extraradical hyphae (EH) and an intraradical vesicle (Ves) scale bar = $100 \mu m$. (b) Intraradical colonisation of the root showing empty cells surrounding arbuscule-filled (Arb) cells of the root cortex, scale bar = $50 \mu m$. (c) Intraradical colonisation of the root taken with a brighter background to show intraradical structures: vesicles, arbuscules and intraradical hyphae (IH), scale bar = $50 \mu m$.



Fig. 3.7 Number and dry weight of *S. hermonthica* attached to IAC165 roots when grown with *S. hermonthica*, alone and in combination with *R. irregularis* under high and low N/P conditions at 5 WAS (left column) and 10 WAS (right column). (a)/(b) Number of *S. hermonthica*. (c)/(d) Number of *S. hermonthica* per gram of root dry weight. (e)/(f) *S. hermonthica* dry weight. (g)/(h) Average dry weight of *S. hermonthica*. Data shown are mean values \pm SE. Columns sharing the same letters are not significantly different (p > 0.05, two-way ANOVA), n = 8. Stars on (e) and (g) indicate significant parasite biomass reduction in co-colonised/infected plants.

3.3.5 Ability of roots exudates from the rice cultivar IAC 165 grown with high N/P supply in the absence or presence of *R. irregularis* to germinate *S. hermonthica* seeds and cause the development of haustoria

Fig. 3.8 and 3.9 show the effect of exudates collected from IAC 165 grown with and without *R. irregularis* on the seed germinating potential and haustorium formation *S. hermonthica*. Only exudates from control and +AM plants supplied with high N/P collected at 10 WAS were used because initial tests with all other root exudates showed no germination potential, probably because the root systems of all other plants were very small resulting in a lower total amount of exudates per pot.

Without the addition of GR24, there was no significant effect of root exudates collected from plants grown with *R. irregularis* on germination or haustorial development of *S. hermonthica* seeds compared to plants grown alone (Fig. 3.8a and b; Fig. 3.9a and b). The germinating activity of the root exudates alone was low (~20%) compared to the synthetic germination stimulant GR24 (~50%, Fig. 3.8a), perhaps due to the collection method resulting in their dilution. Spiking with GR24 was used to overcome the low germination from exudates alone. With the addition of GR24, germination of *S. hermonthica* seeds exposed to root exudates collected from IAC 165 grown with *R. irregularis* was significantly higher than when GR24 was not added to root exudates (two-way ANOVA, Tukey's MC, p < 0.001). Furthermore, when root exudates were spiked with GR24, germination was significantly lower in root exudates from plants grown with *R. irregularis* (two-way ANOVA, Tukey's MC, p < 0.001) than in root exudates collected from IAC 165 grown alone (Fig. 3.8a). However, there was still no effect of root exudate source on haustorial formation (Fig. 3.8b).



Fig. 3.8 Germination and haustorial development of *S. hermonthica* exposed to root exudates from the rice cultivar IAC 165 grown with and without *R. irregularis* supplied with high N/P. (a) and (c) Percentage germination without GR24 addition and with GR24 addition respectively. (b) and (d) Percentage haustoria formation without GR24 addition and with GR24 addition respectively. Data shown is the mean for each parameter \pm SE. Columns sharing the same letters are not significantly different (p > 0.05, two-way ANOVA), n = 6.



Fig. 3.9 Representative images of germination and haustoria formation in S. hermonthica seeds treated with root exudates from IAC 165 grown. As shown, there was no difference in haustoria formation when treated with the two root exudate sources; a) alone b) in the presence of *R. irregularis*.

b)

3.4 Discussion

This chapter investigated the effect of different amounts of substrate N/P levels on host colonisation and infection levels by R. irregularis and S. hermonthica, alone and in combination, and subsequent effects on host nutrient status, growth and development. Firstly, I hypothesised that decreasing N/P supply would enhance colonisation/infection of both symbionts because both are known to be enhanced by hosts under nutrient-limited, primarily via the release of hyphal branching / germination signals. Secondly, I hypothesised that decreasing N/P supply would limit the ability of the host plant to support an enhanced level of S. hermonthica infection in the presence of *R. irregularis* as was shown in chapter 2. My results did not show an increase in the recruitment of AM fungi, but there was evidence of an increase in the number of S. hermonthica after taking into account differences in root biomass. Furthermore, numerous contrasts between this experiment and the results of chapter 2 have shown the importance of symbiont competition for host resources, and the ability of hosts to meet these demands. Unlike in chapter 2, R. irregularis did not enhance host nutrient status or growth under either nutrient regime. Furthermore, the fungus showed some ability to reduce parasite growth, but did not alter S. hermonthica number or alleviate the negative effects of S. hermonthica on host growth and development.

In this chapter, I first hypothesised that decreasing N/P supply would enhance colonisation/infection. based on the fact plants that release more branching/germination stimulants from their roots under nutrient-limited conditions (Yoneyama et al., 2007a, Yoneyama et al., 2007b, Yoneyama et al., 2012, Lopez-Raez et al., 2008, Jamil et al., 2012) and that increased colonisation/infection by AM fungi and *Striga* is associated with low nutrient conditions in the field (Mader et al., 2000, van der Gast et al., 2011, Oswald, 2005). However, colonisation by R. irregularis was not enhanced under the low N/P treatment. Colonisation was lower in plants supplied with low N/P at the first harvest, but then it was equivalent in both nutrient treatments by the second harvest. This is probably because the low N/P nutrient supply was so low that the plants were so nutrients stressed that they could not dedicate resources towards the recruitment and maintenance of mycorrhizal colonisation. Table 3.1 shows that the low N/P treatment in this chapter supplied plants with an order of magnitude less N/P than plants in the high N/P treatment and plants in chapter 2, whereas supply to plants in the high N/P treatment and plants in chapter 2 is more comparable. If a less extreme decrease in nutrient supply was used in the low N/P treatment, then this may have resulted in an increase in colonisation because the plant would still be healthy enough to dedicate resources towards establishing and maintaining colonisation.

I			
	Chapter 2 (+AM+ <i>Striga</i>)	Chapter 3 High N/P (+AM+ <i>Striga</i>)	Chapter 3 Low N/P (+AM+ <i>Striga</i>)
Total N supply (mg)	236.32	177.24	19.20
Total P supply (mg)	1.26	0.95	0.08
Leaf N (mg/g)	43.99	26.66	24.04
Root N (mg/g)	13.68	9.17	5.13
Leaf P (mg/g)	0.43	0.68	0.62
Root P (mg/g)	0.41	0.24	0.29
% AM colonisation	13.67 (1.5*)	34.25 (12.33*)	28.67 (11.08*)
Number of S.hermonthica	10.25 (26*)	18.75 (20.63)	9.875 (14.63)
S. hermonthica dry weight (mg)	273.63 (676.63*)	220.67 (379.84)	18.66 (62.54)

Table 3.1 Summary table of the total cumulative nutrient supply and tissue content of the rice cultivar IAC 165 grown alone (control), and the colonisation/infection of IAC 165 grown with *R. irregularis* or *S. hermonthica* alone and in combination after 10 weeks in chapters 2 and 3.

Similar to AM colonisation, decreased N/P supply did not increase the number and biomass of *S. hermonthica* parasites. Indeed, the number was lower in plants in the low N/P treatment. This is probably due to the low root growth of the highly nutrient stressed plants in the low N/P treatment resulting in few areas of root-parasite contact. Furthermore, plants supplied with low N/P were not able to support the growth of the parasite. Normalisation of *S. hermonthica* number per unit of root mass resulted in a higher number (but not biomass) of parasites in plants supplied with low N/P. This normalisation should be treated with caution because it assumes that the number of *S. hermonthica* increases with root mass alone regardless of root morphological characteristics. For example, resistance to *Striga* in maize and sorghum has been correlated with root systems with a less branched architecture (Cherifari et al., 1990, Amusan et al., 2008, Rich and Ejeta, 2008). However, this may suggest that the plants grown with low N/P did recruit more parasites due to an increase in

germination stimulant exudation as predicted, but the lack of roots prevented adequate contact with the parasite seeds to allow attachment.

3.4.1 How did mycorrhizal colonisation and host response to *R. irregularis* differ between chapter 2 and chapter 3?

Interestingly, under both nutrient regimes in this chapter, mycorrhizal colonisation was much higher in general (up to \sim 34%) than in chapter 2 (up to \sim 14%). The mycorrhizal symbiosis in chapter 2 was characterised as highly mutualistic due to the growth promotion and nutrient status enhancement of the host, which occurred despite a low level of colonisation, indicating a low C demand by the fungus. However, in this chapter, the very high level of colonisation was not accompanied by any host growth or nutrient status enhancement. In fact, growth of the highly stressed plants in the low N/P treatment was actually decreased by the fungus.

In contrast to chapter 2, these results suggest a high C demand by the fungus which, in the high N/P treatment, is being met by the host without adverse growth consequences. Between 4% and 20% of plant-fixed C can be allocated to mycorrhizal fungi alone, so AM fungi impose a significant C demand (Johnson et al., 1997). It is likely that photosynthesis in colonised plants was increased in order to meet this demand. For example, rice plants colonised by the AM fungus *Claroideoglomus etunicatum* (syn. *Glomus etunicatum*) exhibit higher net photosynthetic rate, stomatal conductance and transpiration rate than un-colonised plants (Porcel et al., 2015). However, the demand is clearly too high for plants grown with low N/P and their growth is reduced. Therefore, in contrast to chapter 2, the mycorrhizal symbiosis in chapter 3 can be characterised as commensal. This is not unusual, because previous studies have already shown that the effect of AM colonisation on host growth is known to vary on a spectrum between mutualism and parasitism (Klironomos, 2003).

Although it was not the original intention of this chapter to test the effect of a different fungal isolate on the interaction, it appears that the isolate of R. *irregularis* used (isolate 09) behaves very differently to the commercial isolate used in chapter 2. Indeed, AM fungi are known to be highly variable between species and even

between different isolates (Munkvold et al., 2004, Kivlin et al., 2011). For example, Mensah et al. (2015) investigated the effect of 31 isolates from 10 species of AM fungi on P and N nutrition in *Medicago sativa* and identified a range of performances in terms of host growth and N/P benefits from isolates which had no effect to highly beneficial isolates. Furthermore, it is known that *R. irregularis* genotypes vary between low-nutrient grassland environments and arable fields possible representing different adaptations to these environments (Borstler et al., 2010). This difference in isolate performance appears to be true for the isolates of *R. irregularis* used in chapter 2 and this chapter. Clearly, this isolate enforced trade on the host plants in this chapter even when the host was severely nutrient-deficient.

The isolate of *R. irregularis* used in this chapter, 09, is widely used in mycorrhizal studies because it is well established in axenic cultures, colonises to a high degree, and is known to transfer large amounts nutrients in return for large amounts of C from the plant compared to other species (Engelmoer et al., 2014). Indeed, *R. irregularis* isolate 09 has previously been shown to transfer high amounts of P and C and develop large numbers of arbuscules in comparison to the less competitive *G. aggregatum*, which reflects its preference for nutrient exchange (Kiers et al., 2011). Furthermore, Knegt et al. (2016) showed that *R. irregularis* isolate 09 outcompetes *G. aggregatum* for colonisation and aggressively colonises plants of both low (shaded) and high (non-shaded) quality. Overall, the interaction between the host and the isolate of *R. irregularis* used in this chapter is very different to that seen in chapter 2 as discussed above. As a consequence of this, the interaction of this isolate with the parasite also differed.

3.4.2 How did competition for host nutrients by the competitive AM fungus affect the interaction with S. *hermonthica*?

Growth of IAC 165 with *R. irregularis* in combination with *S. hermonthica* did not lead to an increase the number of *S. hermonthica* attachments as was seen in chapter 2. Furthermore, parasite biomass was significantly lower in plants grown with both symbionts at the first harvest. Previous studies which showed a reduction in *S. hermonthica* infection in mycorrhizal plants (Lendzemo et al., 2005, Lendzemo et al., 2007, Othira et al., 2012) attributed their effect to a reduction in germination

stimulant release from host roots as a result of enhanced nutrient status conferred by the fungus (Lopez-Raez et al., 2011). However, the reduction in biomass seen in this experiment is probably due to the competitive acquisition of C by the fungus limiting the growth of the parasite.

Parasite number was not altered by the presence of *R. irregularis* in this chapter, and mycorrhizal root exudates used in this chapter had little effect on *S. hermonthica* germination, which is supported by the fact that the fungus did not confer a nutrient benefit to the host. Interestingly, there did appear to be a slight decrease in the germination activity of mycorrhizal root exudates when the parasite seeds were induced to germinate by GR24. This may have been caused by a fungus-derived compound, which has been shown previously by the suppressive effect of germinated spore exudates collected from *R. irregularis* and *G. rosea* on *Orobanche cumana* seed germination (Louarn et al., 2012).

In chapter 2, I hypothesised that the colonisation of the host and nutrient supply by AM fungi needs to happen before S. hermonthica germination in order to reduce infection, and that down-regulation of host defences known to occur at the early stages of AM colonisation resulted in increased susceptibility to S. hermonthica seen in chapter 2. In this chapter however, it could be hypothesised that this more competitive isolate of AM fungi may colonise earlier, but since it does not improve host nutrient status, the release of germination stimulants from host roots is not altered. Furthermore, by colonising more aggressively and more quickly, the downregulation of host defences which only occur at the early stages of AM colonisation may have occurred before infection by S. hermonthica, thus not enhancing the ability of S. hermonthica to infect. Indeed, successful AM colonisation can involve the systemic priming of JA-dependent defences (Jung et al., 2012, Van der Ent et al., 2009, Van Wees et al., 2008). Recent RNA expression analysis of Striga hermonthica-infected rice roots suggests the importance of a rapid JA-dependent response for resistance which is followed by the induction of SA pathways (Mutuku et al., 2015). However, since R. irregularis did not alter S. hermonthica infection in this chapter, it is unlikely that there is any host defenced-based interaction between the two symbionts. Instead, this chapter has shown that *R. irregularis* can effectively

compete with *S. hermonthica* for host resources, potentially decreasing the ability of the host to support the parasite under extremely nutrient-deficient conditions.

3.4.3 Conclusions

In this chapter, the severe reduction of growth in plants supplied with low N/P ultimately hampered the investigation of the effect of nutrient deficiency on AM colonisation and *Striga* infection individually and the effect on the interaction. However, the contrasting result for the effect of AM colonisation on *Striga* infection compared to chapter 2 has highlighted the importance of understanding the genotype and context-dependent nature of the AM symbiosis, and how this ultimately influences the ability of AM fungi to alter *Striga* infection. This matter is discussed further in the general discussion. It is unusual that, so far in this thesis, AM fungi have not been shown to suppress *Striga* infection, and this begs the question of what genotypes, environmental conditions, and symbiont arrival times at the host root are required to produce this effect. Critically, both chapters 2 and 3 have not yet explored the role that the order and timing of colonisation/infection plays in determining the result of the interaction. This will be explored in chapter 4.

Chapter 4

How does altering the order of infection influence the outcome of the competitive interaction between *Striga hermonthica* and *Rhizophagus irregularis*

4.1 Introduction

Chapters 2 and 3 both involved pot experiments in which R. irregularis and S. hermonthica were added to the pots together and left to colonise/infect as the host roots grew down through the substrate. In this setting, the timing of colonisation/infection depends on a number of factors; the rate of root growth through the substrate to make contact with the parasite seeds, the release of hyphal branching and germination ques from the host roots, the rate of hyphal branching by *R. irregularis*, the rate of germination by *S. hermonthica*, and then the ability of both symbionts to colonise/infect the host. The parasite seeds used in the pot experiments in chapters 2 and 3 were not pre-conditioned or pre-germinated. Striga seed conditioning can take days, with optimal germination occurring after about 10 days (Matusova et al., 2004), so it would have been reasonable to assume that the fungus would colonise first or at least with roughly equal timing to the parasite. Despite this knowledge, the order of colonisation/infection was the major unknown factor in the previous two chapters. However, based on their effects on each other and on the host plant, I made hypotheses regarding the order of symbiont arrival and their effects on host physiology. Knowing more about how the order of symbiont arrival alters their success will tell me more about the physiological mechanisms underlying the interaction. Thus, in this chapter, I will manipulate the order of colonisation/infection and measure symbiont success and distribution on the rice root system.

4.1.1 Why is the order of colonisation/infection important in the interaction between AM fungi and *Striga*?

In chapter 2, I hypothesised that the transient, localised down-regulation of host defences known to occur during the early stages of colonisation by AM fungi was responsible for increasing *S. hermonthica* infection, and that for this to occur, both symbionts would need to be colonising/infecting the host plant at similar times. In chapter 3, it was hypothesised that *R. irregularis* colonised before *S. hermonthica* and thus did not enhance *S. hermonthica* infection because the transient, localised suppression of plant defences had already occurred. The competitive nature of the *R. irregularis* isolate (09) used in chapter 3 was evident due to its high colonisation rate in comparison to the commercial isolate used in chapter 2. Furthermore, the

commensal effect of the 09 isolate, and the fact that it appeared to have some suppressive effect on *S. hermonthica* biomass early in the experiment, demonstrated that it imposed a high C demand on rice. Overall, the evidence from the previous chapters in this thesis suggests that the order of arrival is critical for determining the outcome of the interaction. Ultimately, the effect of early arrival of one symbiont on the success of the other is difficult to predict because of the numerous individual effects that both symbionts have on host physiology. These vary both spatially and temporally, and are briefly summarised for each symbiont below.

For AM fungi, spores close to host roots can germinate and extraradical hyphae can interact with host roots in a matter of days (Fig. 4.1a). The extraradical presence of AM fungi is well known to induce multiple changes in the host plants even before hyphal contact is made. For example, fungal signalling factors; mycorrhizal (Myc) factors, lipo-chitooligosaccharides (LCOs) and chito-oligosaccharides (COs) induce a range of host responses including calcium spiking (Kosuta et al., 2003, Genre et al., 2013) and the expression of symbiosis-related genes (Czaja et al., 2012).

As the fungus makes contact with the root, detection of fungal MAMPs such as chitin by the host plant can initiate SA-dependent defences (Blilou et al., 1999, Blilou et al., 2000a, Blilou et al., 2000b). However, the early stages of successful AM colonisation involve the transient, localised suppression of the initial host defence response (Herrera Medina et al., 2003, Herrera-Medina et al., 2007). For example, an effector protein (SP7) has been identified in *R. irregularis* during colonisation of *Medicago truncatula* roots which is secreted by the fungus and delivered to the host cell nucleus, where it binds to and inhibits the pathogenesis-related transcription factor, ERF19 (Kloppholz et al., 2011). Furthermore, AM fungi may induce abscisic acid (ABA) synthesis in the host to suppress the initiation of SA-dependent defences (Herrera Medina et al., 2003, Mohr and Cahill, 2007a). However, although ABA can suppress SA-dependent defences, it can also promote defence mechanisms systemically including cell-wall strengthening (Ton et al., 2009).

Successful colonisation and the formation of arbuscules by *R. irregularis* can take 2 - 3 weeks in rice (Fig. 4.1c). Successful colonization of the host by AM fungi can then result in long term systemic priming of host JA- and ethylene-dependent

defences (Jung et al., 2012, Van der Ent et al., 2009, Van Wees et al., 2008). Successful colonisation leads to the exchange of nutrients (N and P) provided by the fungus in return for plant C. While this can lead to enhancement of host nutrient status in mutualistic interactions (as seen in chapter 2), the C demand, which can be as much as 20% of host photosynthate (Jakobsen and Rosendahl, 1990), can lead to commensal effects on host nutrient status and growth (as seen in chapter 3).

For *Striga*, a major factor in the length of time taken to infect can be conditioning time (Matusova et al., 2004). However, to bypass this variable, and to investigate the post-attachment mechanisms involved in *Striga* infection, seeds can be pregerminated using the artificial germination simulant GR24 (Gurney et al., 2006). As shown in Fig. 4.1c, after the application of germinated *S. hermonthica* seeds to a susceptible cultivar such as the one used in this thesis, IAC 165, it takes less than a day for the parasite to attach (Gurney et al., 2006),

Effects of *Striga* on host defences have been shown to involve both SA and JA induction (Hiraoka and Sugimoto, 2008, Swarbrick et al., 2008, Mutuku et al., 2015). A recent study has suggested that resistance involves a rapid induction of JA 3 days after infection, which is accompanied by gradual accumulation of SA (Mutuku et al., 2015). As with AM fungi, successful infection by *S. hermonthica* of susceptible hosts like the rice cultivar IAC 165 requires the suppression of host defences, as shown in chapter 2 and for example by Swarbrick *et al.*, (2008). Suppression of host defence responses may include the suppression of hypersensitive response (HR), the deposition of cell wall physical barriers such as lignin, and the accumulation of toxic phenolic compounds derived from phenylpropanoid metabolism which can prevent parasite ingress at the root cortex (Perez-De-Luque et al., 2008) and endodermis (Perez-De-Luque et al., 2005).

Localised defence suppression by *Striga* may be mediated by effector secretion in a similar manner to successful AM colonisation and compatible interactions between host plants and pathogens. For example, as the *Striga* haustorium penetrates the host root cortex, the parasite uses plant cell wall degrading enzymes (PCWDEs) such as pectate lyases and expansin proteins to degrade and loosen host cell walls (Yoshida et al., 2016b, Yoshida et al., 2016a). This results in the presence of host apoplastic

material in the host symplast, where it can act as a powerful elicitor, signalling to the host that it is being wounded (Mitsumasu et al., 2015, Yoshida et al., 2016a). Plantparasitic nematodes also use PCWDEs coupled with effector secretion to suppress subsequent host immune responses (Lozano-Torres et al., 2014, Mitsumasu et al., 2015). Therefore it is possible that *Striga* also uses effectors in a similar way (Li and Timko, 2009, Huang et al., 2012, Mitsumasu et al., 2015). After penetrating the host root, it takes about three days for a compatible parasite to establish vascular connections and begin to grow by exploiting host resources, as shown in Fig. 4.1d (Gurney et al., 2006).



Fig. 4.1 (a) *R. irregularis* isolate 09 Spores germinating near roots 3 days after colonisation (DAC). Intraradical colonisation is not seen at this time point. (b) Root length intraradical colonisation reaches a level of about 25% after 2 weeks, and includes extensive vesicle and arbuscule formation (c) Attached *S. hermonthica* 3 days after infection (DAI). (d) Attached and growing *S. hermonthica* 6 DAI. For comparison, 6 days of colonisation by *R. irregularis* only produces at most one or two roots in a whole root system with intraradical hyphae but no arbuscules or vesicles. In this particular image, *R. irregularis* was also applied to the roots; spores of the fungus can be seen on the same root as the parasite.

The effects of both AM fungi and *Striga* infection are summarised in Table 4.1. In summary, both *R. irregularis* and *S. hermonthica* can have almost immediate effects on host root physiology, so early arrival by one could have a significant effect on the outcome of the interaction. Both need to suppress host defences local to the point of entry in order to successfully colonise/infect, so a synergistic relationship could be expected upon co-colonisation/infection at similar areas of the host root. However, both can also induce and prime plant defences, potentially at both local and systemic levels, so an antagonistic effect could also be predicted in the case of early arrival by one of the symbionts. Finally, both are obligate symbionts that require resources from the host plant. Thus, effective competition for resources by one symbiont, particularly if it arrives early and establishes symbiosis, could restrict the growth of the invader.

Table 4.1 Summary table of the colonisation/infection process by AM fungi and *Striga* respectively. Overlap between symbiont effects on host physiology including defence regulation and nutrient demand present the possibility of both synergistic or antagonistic effects of the interaction on symbiont success. This could be dependent on depending on the order and timing of symbiont arrival.

AM colonisation	Striga infection		
Host N/P deficiency			
SL exudation			
AM hyphal branching	Striga seed germination		
Pre-symbiotic signalling			
Fungal Myc factor, CO and LCO release	$Striga H_2O_2$ and peroxidase release		
Host symbiosis-specific gene expression	HIF production		
Fungal hyphopodium differentiation	Striga haustoria formation		
Contact with and penetration of the host root			
Host detection of fungal MAMPs	Host detection of wounding by Striga		
Transient SA accumulation	Early JA defence induction in less-susceptible hosts		
Induction of ABA synthesis	High ABA in parasite and host		
Localised suppression of plant defences			
Established colonisation/infection			
Systemic signalling - ABA/JA?	Host stomatal closure - ABA		
Systemic priming of JA & ET	Sustained suppression/induction of defences		
Sugars mobilised to AMs	Water/nutrients towards parasite		



4.1.2 Could a priority effect be established by early arrival of either AM fungi or *Striga*?

Judging from what I have observed so far in this thesis, and also from observations made in the literature, both *S. hermonthica* and *R. irregularis* isolate 09 clearly enter into a highly compatible and competitive interaction with the host plant and each other. Both symbionts are therefore highly adept at altering host physiology to their own ends, which includes suppressing host defences, and also obtaining host resources once established. Because of this, in the present chapter I hypothesise that the first symbiont to arrive at the host will establish a priority effect thus suppressing the success of the invading symbiont.

Priority effects describe the impact of the early arrival of one species on the success of late-arriving species (invaders). Some research on priority effects due to the order of host interaction between symbionts has already been carried out. For example, Werner and Kiers (2015) investigated the effect of order and timing of arrival on colonisation between two AM fungi, R. irregularis and G. aggregatum. It was found that the pre-colonising fungus suppressed the invading species after a 4-week head start, but R. irregularis only need 2 weeks to suppress G. aggregatum. Also it was found that the invading species did not suppress the established species, but upon cocolonisation, R. irregularis outcompeted G. aggregatum. The authors hypothesised that the host plant may suppress the second invader (Werner and Kiers, 2015). This hypothesis is supported by results from split-root experiments, where colonisation of one half of a root system suppresses colonisation of the other half by AM fungi colonised after (Vierheilig, 2004). Split-root experiments also show a systemic effect of AM colonisation on other areas of the host root. Furthermore, it appeared that a colonisation threshold needs to be achieved in order to suppress colonisation by a late arrival (Vierheilig, 2004, Werner and Kiers, 2015). In another study, Chavez-Calvillo et al. (2016) investigated the effect of order of infection on synergism and antagonism between papaya ringspot virus (PRSV) and papaya mosaic virus (PapMV) on papaya (Carica papaya) host plants. It was found that synergism occurred when PRS infects first or at the same time as PapMV, whereas antagonism occurred when PapMV infects first. The study also showed that PapMV activates

host defences against PRSV resulting in protection from PRSV infection (Chavez-Calvillo et al., 2016).

For me to study priority effects using AM fungi and *Striga* in this chapter, symbiont arrival time needs to be controlled by having easy, non-destructive access to the host root system. Rhizotron systems (Fig. 4.2) are ideal for this because they allow plants to be grown in a soil-free environment and for the roots to be freely observed (Gurney et al., 2006). For parasitic plant research, this is particularly useful because the development of infection can be observed non-destructively over time and also allows the harvesting of root and parasite material rapidly and without damage due to the removal of soil. Rhizotron systems like the one shown in Fig 4.2 have been developed and used extensively to investigate *Striga* parasitism at the University of Sheffield (Gurney et al., 2002, Gurney et al., 2003, Gurney et al., 2006). However, they have not yet been used to provide soil free root systems to study the interaction between *R. irregularis* and *S. hermonthica*.



Fig. 4.2 Rice growing in a rhizotron 33 days after rice seed germination and 21 days after infection with pre-germinated *S. hermonthica* seeds.

The aim of chapter 4 was to determine whether the order of colonisation/infection affects the success and spatial distribution of either symbiont.

Hypothesis:

The first symbiont to colonise/infect the host plant will suppress infection by the other because early arrival will establish a priority effect via competition for space, resources and effects on host defences which may act antagonistically on the invading symbiont.

Objectives:

- Grow, colonise and infect the rice cultivar IAC 165 with *R. irregularis* isolate
 09 and pre-germinated *S. hermonthica* in rhizotrons.
- 2) Co-colonise/infect with *R. irregularis* and *S. hermonthica* at the same time.
- 3) Pre-colonise with *R. irregularis* for five days before infecting with *S. hermonthica* for 14 days.
- Pre-infect with S. hermonthica for five days before colonising with R. irregularis for 14 days.
- 5) In a separate experiment, pre-colonise with *R. irregularis* 21 days before infecting with *S. hermonthica* to investigate the effect of well-established colonisation on parasite infection.
- 6) Measure *S. hermonthica* infection of roots colonised by *R. irregularis* and roots not colonised by *R. irregularis* separately.
- 7) Measure colonisation of roots infected with *S. hermonthica* and roots not infected by *S. hermonthica* separately.

4.2 Materials and methods

4.2.1 Plant and fungal materials

Plant and fungal materials were the same as those described in section 3.2.1.

4.2.2 Growth of the rice cultivar IAC 165 in rhizotrons

Rice seeds of cultivar IAC 165 were surface sterilised with 10% (v/v) bleach for 15 min followed by extensive washing with water. IAC 165 seeds were placed 1 cm below the top long edge between two wet (with de-ionised H₂O) 20 x 7 cm strips of glass-fibre filter paper (Whatman®), which themselves were then placed between two wet blocks of horticultural rockwool (growndan®Vital, UK) of equal size. The rockwool blocks were placed in a seed tray containing ~1 cm deionised water and covered with a propagator lid. IAC 165 seeds were then germinated for 5 days in a controlled environment chamber with a day/night temperature of 28 / 24°C with a 16 h photoperiod and 60% relative humidity, and an irradiance of 450 µmol s⁻¹ m⁻² at plant height.

After 5 days of germination, IAC 165 seeds were transferred to a root observation chamber (rhizotron) as described by Gurney et al. (2006). A rhizotron consisted of a modified 25 x 25 x 2 cm Perspex tissue culture plate with a hole in the top to allow for growth of the rice stem and access of nutrient solution and a hole in the bottom to allow for drainage of excess nutrient solution. The rhizotron was packed with moist vermiculite with a rockwool block at the base to prevent the loss of vermiculite. A dampened square polyester mesh (Plastok Group, Birkenhead, UK) with a 100 μ m pore size was placed on top of the vermiculite to provide a surface for root growth, *R. irregularis* inoculum and *S. hermonthica* seed application. After transferring germinated IAC 165 seeds to the rhizotron, the rhizotron cover was taped in place, and the rhizotron was covered in aluminium foil to prevent root exposure to light. Rhizotrons were then returned to the controlled environment chamber. Each rhizotron was watered two times a day using an automatic dripper system delivering a total of 30 ml per day of modified 40% Long Ashton solution containing 35 μ M P and 0.5 mM of ammonium nitrate (Fig. 4.3).



Fig. 4.3 Rice cultivar IAC 165 growing in rhizotrons in the controlled environment chamber. Nutrients were supplied by the automatic drippers inserted into the top of each rhizotron.

4.2.3 Colonisation/infection of IAC 165 in rhizotrons with *R. irregularis* and *S. hermonthica*

The *R. irregularis* isolate 09 inoculum was prepared as described in section 3.2.1. On the day of colonisation, 10 ml of the spore suspension was pipetted onto the roots resulting in 4000 spores per rhizotron. *S. hermonthica* seeds were surface sterilised in 10% sodium hypochlorite solution for 4 min before being washed into a Ø90 mm glass-fibre filter paper disc (Whatman®) fashioned into a funnel and rinsed thoroughly with demineralized water. *S. hermonthica* seeds require preconditioning before germination (Matusova et al., 2004). Seeds were preconditioned on moistened glass-fibre filter paper in a 90 mm diameter petri dish sealed with parafilm at 30 °C in darkness for 14 days. After preconditioning, *S. hermonthica* seeds were germinated in petri dishes using 3 ml a 0.1 mg L⁻¹ solution of the artificial germination simulant GR24 or 16 hours overnight in order to promote synchronous germination and attachment to host roots (Gurney et al., 2006). Germination rates were between 60 and 70%. On the day of infection, plants were infected with 12.5 mg of seeds by aligning them along the roots using a paint brush. The rice root system is made up of three main types of root; crown roots, large lateral roots and fine lateral roots (Hochholdinger et al., 2004, Rebouillat et al., 2009). Crown roots are the thickest and grow straight down in rhizotrons, large lateral roots grow horizontally and downwards from the crown roots, and fine lateral roots grow from both crown and large lateral roots agravitropically (Hochholdinger et al., 2004, Rebouillat et al., 2004, Rebouillat et al., 2004, Rebouillat et al., 2004, Root, and fine lateral roots grow from both crown and large lateral roots agravitropically (Hochholdinger et al., 2004, Rebouillat et al., 2009). AM fungi predominantly colonise the large lateral roots but also colonise crown roots, whereas fine lateral roots are not colonised (Gutjahr et al., 2009). To encourage interaction between the two symbionts, large lateral roots were preferentially infected with *S. hermonthica* and fine lateral roots were avoided.

4.2.4 Experimental timeline for co-colonisation/infection and invasion after 5 days.

Roots of IAC 165 were colonised/infected either at the same time, or by giving a 5day head start to either *R. irregularis* or *S. hermonthica* as shown in Fig. 4.4. At the point of pre-colonisation and pre-infection with the first symbiont (day 19), a subset of plants was also colonised or infected and were left until the end of the experiment to act as controls for either *R. irregularis* colonisation without the later addition of *S. hermonthica* or as a control for *S. hermonthica* infection without the later addition of *R. irregularis*. Co-colonised/infected plants were colonised/infected on the same day as the invading symbionts were added to the pre-colonised/infected plants (day 24). At this point, another subset of plants either colonised with *R. irregularis* alone or *S. hermonthica* alone were established and left until the end of the experiment to provide aged-matched plants for the point of colonisation/infection at day 24. Plants were then left for 14 d before harvest. Five biological replicates were established for each treatment.



Fig. 4.4 Timeline of the 5-day pre-colonisation/infection experiment showing the times of colonisation with *R. irregularis* and infection with *S. hermonthica* in (a) IAC 165 co-colonised/infected with both symbionts simultaneously (b) IAC 165 pre-colonised with *R. irregularis* 5 days before infection with *S. hermonthica* and (c) IAC 165 pre-infected with *S. hermonthica* 5 days before colonisation with *R. irregularis*.

4.2.5 Experimental timeline for pre-colonisation with *R. irregularis* for 21 days before *S. hermonthica* invasion.

In a separate experiment, *R. irregularis* was left to colonise host roots for 21 days before *S. hermonthica* infection. After *S. hermonthica* infection, the parasite was left to infect and grow for 21 days before harvest (Fig. 4.5). Six biological reps were established for each treatment.



Pre-colonised with R. irregularis for 21d

Harvest

Day 61

Fig. 4.5 Timeline of the 21-day pre-colonisation experiment showing the time of colonisation with *R. irregularis* and infection with *S. hermonthica*. Plants were harvested 21 days after *S. hermonthica* infection.

4.2.6 Quantification of *S. hermonthica* infection

Fourteen days after the final colonisation/infection stage, individual *S. hermonthica* parasites were harvested from the roots of *S. hermonthica*-infected plants, placed in petri dishes and photographed using a Canon EOS 300D digital camera. The number and length of *S. hermonthica* from each plant was determined from the petri dish photographs using ImageJ 1.45s (1.4.3.67) software. *S. hermonthica* plants were then oven dried at 48 °C for 3 days for the determination of dry weight per host plant.

4.2.7 Staining of roots and quantification of mycorrhizal colonisation

From plants which were colonised by *R. irregularis* and infected by *S. hermonthica*, roots from which *S. hermonthica* individuals were harvested were kept separate from roots which did not have *S. hermonthica* attachments and each subsample was preserved separately in 50 % ethanol and stained for quantification of mycorrhizal colonisation via microscopy (Fig. 4.6). Roots from plants which were not infected with *S. hermonthica* at any point in the experiment were harvested and preserved in the same way. Therefore, mycorrhizal colonisation was quantified in three different types of roots (1) Roots which were inoculated with *R. irregularis* alone throughout the experiment (2) Roots which were inoculated with *R. irregularis* but which also had *S. hermonthica* attached to them (3) Roots from the same plants as (2) which did not have *S. hermonthica* attached to them at the time of harvest.

Mycorrhizal staining and quantification was carried out as detailed in section 2.2.5, except that 50 intersections between roots and grid lines were counted as the root systems were relatively small compared to those from the pot experiments in chapters 2 and 3.



Fig. 4.6 Rhizotron system used to colonise/infect rice with *R. irregularis* and *S. hermonthica*. At harvest, rice roots which were infected by *S. hermonthica* were harvested, stained and analysed for mycorrhizal colonisation separately from root which did not have any *S. hermonthica* growing on them (red circles) in order to investigate spatial distribution trends of the two symbionts.

4.2.8 Statistical analyses

Comparisons of AM colonisation and *S. hermonthica* infection levels were made using Student's t-test in Excel. Graphs were generated using GraphPad Prism 6.

4.3 Results

4.3.1 *R. irregularis* colonisation and *S. hermonthica* infection after cocolonisation/infection and after arrival 5 days after pre-colonisation/infection.

At harvest, roots that were infected by *S. hermonthica* and uninfected roots were collected separately and the colonisation of these roots by the AM fungus assessed independently of roots that had not been infected by the parasitic plant. I observed very different colonisation patterns in these two sub sets of roots. Of the roots infected by the parasite, only a single root (representing 1 of approximately 45 roots studied that were infected with *S. hermonthica*) showed the presence of both intraradical AM structures on the same root as an attached S. hermonthica parasite (Fig.4.7d). In the rest of my samples, roots infected with *S. hermonthica* colonisation data presented in Fig. 4.8a-d therefore shows the colonisation of roots which did not have *S. hermonthica* attached to them (NB because AM colonisation of roots infected by *S. hermonthica* within the root system was essentially zero).

Fig. 4.8 shows both the *R. irregularis* colonisation and *S. hermonthica* infection of plants grown with each symbiont alone, plants co-colonised/infected with both, and plants pre-colonised/pre-infected with each symbiont for 5 days (NB these data refer to the entire root system). Fig. 4.9 shows representative pictures of rhizotrons for plants co-colonised/infected by both symbionts, plants pre-colonised by *R. irregularis* for 5 days before *S. hermonthica* infection, and plants grown with *S. hermonthica* alone.

Simultaneous co-colonisation/infection with *R. irregularis* and *S. hermonthica* and pre-colonisation with *R. irregularis* for 5 days before infection with *S. hermonthica* significantly reduced *S. hermonthica* number (p < 0.01), dry weight (p < 0.01) and total length (p < 0.05) compared to plants infected with *S. hermonthica* alone (Fig. 4.8a and b; Fig. a – c). Colonisation by *R. irregularis* 5 days after infection with *S. hermonthica* total significantly reduce (p < 0.05) the total length of the parasite (Fig. 4.8c).



Fig. 4.7 Example images of roots from which *S. hermonthica* were harvested and which were subsequently stained for mycorrhizal colonisation. (a) The base of a successful attachment site left behind after harvesting an *S. hermonthica* parasite. (b) Failed *S. hermonthica* attachments. (c) *S. hermonthica* attachments sites and spores on the host root. None of the roots in (a) to (c) show any intraradical colonisation. (d) Only one example of was found of a root with both an *S. hermonthica* attachment site and intraradical colonisation by *R. irregularis*. This was seen in a root from a plant which had been colonised/infected simultaneously with both symbionts (co-colonised/infected). The parasite had made two attachments to the host root, and intraradical colonisation including arbuscules formation was observed in the root in between and upstream of the attachment sites and towards the root tip.

Mycorrhizal colonisation was also influenced by the experimental treatments with simultaneous co-colonisation/infection with *R. irregularis* and *S. hermonthica* and pre-infection with *S. hermonthica* 5 days before colonisation by *R. irregularis* significantly reducing *R. irregularis* % root length colonisation (p < 0.01), % vesicle (p < 0.01) and % arbuscule (p < 0.01) presence (Fig. 4.7a and c). However, infection with *S. hermonthica* 5 days after colonisation by R. irregularis did not alter *R. irregularis* colonisation (Fig. 4.8b). Mycorrhizal roots had a high abundance of arbuscules similar to those seen in chapter 3 (section 3.3.3 Fig. 3.6 in chapter 3 and Fig. 4.10 in this section).



Fig. 4.8 *R. irregularis* colonisation and *S. hermonthica* infection in the three orders tested. (a) Simultaneous colonisation/infection (co-colonised/infected) (b) Precolonisation with *R. irregularis* for 5 days before *S. hermonthica* infection (c) Preinfection with *S. hermonthica* for 5 days before *R. irregularis* colonisation. SN = *S. hermonthica* number, SDW = *S. hermonthica* dry weight, STL = *S. hermonthica* total length, RLC = root length colonisation (total), Ves = vesicles, Arb = arbuscules. Data shown is mean *S. hermonthica* number, dry weight and total length, and mean total root length, vesicle, and arbuscule colonisation \pm SE. Columns sharing the same letters are not significantly different (p > 0.05, Student's t-test), n = 5.



Fig. 4.9 *S. hermonthica* harvested from the roots of IAC 165 after 14 days when (a) co-infected with *R. irregularis* (b) infected 5 days after colonisation by *R. irregularis* (c) infected without the addition of *R. irregularis*.



Fig. 4.10 Mycorrhizal colonisation 2 weeks after inoculation was 25-30% in the absence of *S. hermonthica* or if roots were colonised by *R. irregularis* 5 days before *S. hermonthica* infection. Colonisation was characterised by a high level or arbuscules in comparison to vesicles.

In summary of the results above, when *S. hermonthica* arrives first, it excludes mycorrhizal colonisation in roots that it has infected and also suppresses colonisation in un-infected roots. When *R. irregularis* arrives first, it excludes *S. hermonthica* infection of roots in which the fungus forms intraradical structures. Late arrival (invasion) by either symbiont does not lead to the suppression of the first to arrive. When both arrive at the same time, they suppress each other.

4.3.2 Pre-colonisation with *R. irregularis* for 21 days before *S. hermonthica* invasion.

In order to investigate the effect of well-established mycorrhizal colonisation on *S. hermonthica* infection, an experiment was performed where *R. irregularis* was allowed to colonise for 21 days before *S. hermonthica* was introduced to the roots.

As with the experiment in section 4.3.1 above, roots that were infected by *S. hermonthica* and roots that were not infected by *S. hermonthica* were collected separately from each plant and the colonisation of these roots by *R. irregularis* was assessed independently in these two sub sets of roots. Similar to section 4.3.1, only 2 roots from approximately 60 root pieces studied showed the presence of both intraradical AM structures on the same root as an attached *S. hermonthica* parasite. In the rest of the roots which were infected by *S. hermonthica*, there was no intraradical fungal material. Again, because of this, the mycorrhizal colonisation data presented in Fig. 4.11 shows the colonisation of roots which did not have *S. hermonthica* was essentially zero).

Fig. 4.11 shows *R. irregularis* colonisation and *S. hermonthica* infection of roots colonised/infected with *R. irregularis* and *S. hermonthica* alone and roots precolonised by *R. irregularis* for 21 days before *S. hermonthica* invasion. Infection by *S. hermonthica* 21 days after *R. irregularis* colonisation did not alter *S. hermonthica* number, dry weight or total length compared to when IAC 165 was infected by *S. hermonthica* without pre-colonisation by *R. irregularis* (Fig. 4.11). However, total % root length colonisation by the fungus (p < 0.01), and the presence of arbuscules (p < 0.01).

0.01) was significantly reduced compared to when *R. irregularis* colonised without the later addition of *S. hermonthica* (Fig.4.11).



Fig. 4.11 *R. irregularis* colonisation and *S. hermonthica* infection in IAC 165 precolonised with *R. irregularis* for 21 days before infection by *S. hermonthica*, which was left to infect and grow on the host for 21 days before harvest. SN = S. *hermonthica* number, SDW = S. *hermonthica* dry weight, STL = S. *hermonthica* total length, RLC = root length colonisation (total), Ves = vesicles, Arb = arbuscules. Data shown is mean *S. hermonthica* number, dry weight and total length, and mean total root length, vesicle, and arbuscule colonisation \pm SE. Columns sharing the same letters are not significantly different (p > 0.05, Student's t-test), n = 5.

4.4 Discussion

In chapters 2 and 3 of this thesis, the result of the interaction between AM fungi and Striga was hypothesised to be determined by the order of arrival and the downstream consequences of this on host defences and nutrient status. In this chapter I investigated how the order of infection by R. irregularis and S. hermonthica alters the relative success and spatial distribution of both symbionts by alternating their arrival order in rhizotrons and by measuring R. irregularis colonisation in roots with and without S. hermonthica attachments. Priority effects describe the impact of the early arrival of one species on the success of later arrivals. I hypothesised that the first symbiont to colonise/infect the host plant will suppress infection by the other because early arrival will establish a priority effect via competition for space, resources and effects on host defences, which may act antagonistically on the invading symbiont. In agreement with this hypothesis, pre-colonisation/infection for 5 days resulted in a clear priority effect, suppressing colonisation/infection by the invading symbiont, while simultaneous co-colonisation/infection resulted in the suppression of both symbionts. The occurrence of intraradical fungal structures and parasite attachments on the same root was exceedingly rare, showing a strong localised effect of early arrival on the incoming symbiont (Fig. 4.12).



Fig. 4.12 Summary of the result of pre-colonisation with AM fungi, pre-infection with *Striga*, and co-colonisation/infection with both symbionts. The exclusion of AM fungi from *Striga*-infected roots, and *Striga* from AM-colonised roots demonstrates that there is a strong localised effect of each symbiont on host physiology. Decreased colonisation in roots not infected by *Striga* suggests a systemic effect of *Striga* infection across the root system.
4.4.1 What is the mechanistic basis for the priority effect observed for *R*. *irregularis*?

R. irregularis pre-colonisation for 5 days resulted in a clear priority effect which suppressed infection by the invading *S. hermonthica* parasite, but also meant that the later arrival and infection by *S. hermonthica* did not alter the established level of AM colonisation (Fig. 4.13). This is a particularly interesting result because very few roots showed any intraradical colonisation at 5 days. This suggests that pre-symbiotic signalling by the fungus suppressed *Striga* infection at the pre-attachment stages of the parasite lifecycle, which may have included adverse effect of radicle growth, haustoria formation and attachment. The parasite seeds used in this experiment were pre-germinated, so any adverse effect on parasite seed germination can be ruled out. Therefore, the mycorrhizal signalling effect may have happened in two main ways; by direct fungal effects or by indirect effects of AM fungi on host physiology.

First, *Striga* may have been suppressed directly by fungal chemicals produced during the pre-symbiotic life cycle of *R. irregularis*. The ability of AM fungi to directly suppress *Striga* after germination but before root invasion has not been demonstrated. However, compounds produced by AM fungi are thought to have a suppressive effect on germination, so there is potential for this idea. For example, Louarn *et al.* (2012) reported reduced *Orobanche cumana* seed germination specifically in the presence of germinated spore exudates from *R. irregularis* and *Gigaspora rosea*, and suggested that this was partly responsible for a moderate reduction in parasite attachments in mycorrhizal sunflower co-inoculated with both symbionts. Furthermore, fungal toxins such as phyllostictine A produced by *Phyllosticta cirsii* have been shown to reduce germination and germ tube elongation in *Orobanche ramose* and *Cuscuta campestris* (Vurro et al., 2009).

Second, *Striga* may have been suppressed by host-produced chemicals which were produced as a result of *R. irregularis* signalling. Pre-symbiotic signalling by AM fungi involves the synthesis and release of mycorrhizal (Myc) factors, chito-oligosaccharides (COs) and lipo-chitooligosaccharides (LCOs) (Kosuta et al., 2003, Genre et al., 2013, Maillet et al., 2011).



Fig. 4.13 Possible effects of colonisation by AM fungi on *Striga* infection. In the current experiment, *Striga* was excluded from attaching to mycorrhizal roots. Possible indirect effects of AM fungi on *Striga* via changes to host physiology, and possible direct effects of AM fungi on the *Striga* parasite before attachment are shown.

Myc factors, COs and LCOs trigger a range of host responses including calcium spiking and the expression of symbiosis-related genes (Kosuta et al., 2008, Czaja et al., 2012, Genre et al., 2013). As well as these known changes to root physiology, pre-symbiotic signalling may also lead to the release of host chemicals which suppressed the ability of S. hermonthica to attach to the root. Host-released chemicals have previously been shown to interfere with parasite radicle elongation and haustoria formation (Vurro et al., 2009, Fernandez-Aparicio et al., 2013). For example, the flavonoid isoschaftoside isolated from *Desmodium uncinatum* root exudates has been identified as an allelochemical which inhibits growth of the S. hermonthica radicle (Hooper et al., 2010). Furthermore, germination and radicle development of Orobanche crenata is inhibited by a number of cereal-produced allelochemicals (Fernandez-Aparicio et al., 2013). However, the induction of host release of allelochemicals due to pre-symbiotic AM signalling has not been shown. Pre-symbiotic AM signals can also induce morphological changes in host roots. For example, Olah et al. (2005) reported that a diffusible signal release by AM fungi before root contact induced lateral root formation in M. truncatula. It may be possible that diffusible signals involved in changes in host root anatomy can also influence the parasite haustorium (Olah et al., 2005).

The apparent exclusion of *S. hermonthica* from specific roots demonstrates a strong localised effect of AM colonisation, which again with only a 5-day head start for the fungus suggests that pre-symbiotic signalling was involved in this. Although pre-symbiotic signalling has not been shown to have such a tightly restricted, root level effect on host physiology, it is interesting to note the work of Gutjahr et al., (2009), who demonstrated that, of the three main orders of roots produced by rice, AM fungi show highly preferentially colonisation of one. This suggests that only specific roots may be amenable to AM colonisation at the pre-symbiotic signalling stage. After the detection of AM Myc factors, it is known that plant-derived cutin monomers are released from the root surface, which may be involved in the stimulation of hyphopodium differentiation in the fungus and a switch to a penetration stage of the symbiosis, forming a specialised type of appressoria called the hyphopodium (Wang et al., 2012, Murray et al., 2013). The prepenetration apparatus (PPA) is then formed by the plant to determine the path of the infecting fungal hyphae through the

epidermis and outer cortical cells (Genre et al., 2005). It makes sense that this complex re-organising of the host root in preparation for AM colonisation would only occur in roots which the fungus will eventually colonise. This idea provides a basis for a root-specific effect of AM colonisation on the host, and therefore for root-specific effects on the *Striga* parasite. The fact that there was even a lack of *Striga* attachments on mycorrhizal roots is both striking and puzzling. Overall, the mechanisms by which this could have occurred are elusive, but the suggestions above may provide some clues.

As well as the strong localised effect of AM colonisation on Striga at the preattachment stages of the parasite lifecycle, it is also possible that R. irregularis could have had systemic effects on Striga success, suppressing its attachment and infection elsewhere in the root system. After only 5 days on the host root system, host defences could have been altered by the presence of fungal MAMPs such as chitin, which can initiate SA-dependent defences when plants first detect fungi (Blilou et al., 1999, Blilou et al., 2000a, Blilou et al., 2000b). However, successful AM colonisation involves suppression of the SA-response (Herrera Medina et al., 2003, Herrera-Medina et al., 2007, Mohr and Cahill, 2007a), so it seems unlikely that in such a well colonised plant, SA-dependent defences would be activated by the fungus. Systemic suppression of the initial host defence response may occur via increased host ABA production and transport (Cameron et al., 2013). However, it has been suggested that the induction of ABA synthesis in the host by AM fungi may also promote systemic cell-wall strengthening (Ton et al., 2009, Cameron et al., 2013). Cell wall strengthening, for example by lignification, is a well-known resistance response against a range of pathogens (Xu et al., 2011, Miedes et al., 2014) and parasitic plants (Perez-De-Luque et al., 2005). It is unlikely that R. irregularis caused cell wall strengthening in the same root that the fungus then colonised. For example, Harrison and Dixon (1994) observed a lack of lignification specifically in cells of *M. truncatula* colonised by *Diversispora epigaea* (syn. *Glomus versiforme*). However, systemic cell wall strengthening may have reduced the ability of S. *hermonthica* to infect the host globally. For example, prevention of parasitic plant development at the cortex is associated with the deposition of cell wall physical barriers such as lignin (Perez-De-Luque et al., 2008), and lignification of cell walls at

the root endodermis can be seen at the host-parasite interface between resistant legume hosts and *O. crenata* (Perez-De-Luque et al., 2005).

Successful colonisation by AM fungi can result in the systemic priming of JA- and ethylene- dependent defences (Jung et al., 2012, Van der Ent et al., 2009, Van Wees et al., 2008). However, it is highly unlikely that this occurred when R. irregularis was only allowed to colonise for 5 days before the application of S. hermonthica. In this chapter, a separate experiment was set up to analyse the long-term effect of fully established mycorrhizal colonisation by applying S. hermonthica after 21 days after AM application. In this experiment, S. hermonthica infection was not altered, while mycorrhizal colonisation was suppressed. Clearly, the priority effect of the early arrival of the fungus was not sustained after the establishment of AM colonisation. After successful colonisation AM fungi are known to prime host defences, and colonisation is often associated with protective effects against pathogens (Jung et al., 2012). However, since the fungus did not alter S. hermonthica infection and was suppressed itself, this suggests that resource competition was more likely responsible. Obligate hemiparasites parasites such as Striga spp. receive about 30% of their carbon from their host plant (Irving and Cameron, 2009), while AM fungi can obtain as much as 20% of host photosynthate (Jakobsen and Rosendahl, 1990). It is possible that in order to cope with the demand imposed by late the invading parasite, the host plant could not sustain previous levels of AM colonisation.

Throughout this thesis, *S. hermonthica* has been the more dominant of the two symbionts both in terms of its own success and its effects on the host plant. The fact that *S. hermonthica* can override the priority effect of *R. irregularis* at such a late stage further correlates with this observation. In chapter 3, where the same isolate of *R. irregularis* was used, *S. hermonthica* reduced AM colonisation. By comparison with the results in this chapter, it is possible to speculate that *R. irregularis* could have colonised the host long before *S. hermonthica* infection, as was suggested in chapter 3. However, it is also possible that in chapter 3 *S. hermonthica* infected before *R. irregularis* colonisation resulting in suppression of AM colonisation. The next section will now discuss how early arrival of *S. hermonthica* in the present chapter led to a decrease in AM colonisation.

4.4.2 What is the mechanistic basis for the priority effect observed for *S*. *hermonthica*?

When the order of arrival was reversed, and *S. hermonthica* was applied 5 days before *R. irregularis*, the priority effect was reversed, and the parasite excluded the fungus from roots that it attached to, and also suppressed fungal colonisation elsewhere in the root system. Furthermore, the late arrival of the fungus did not reduce subsequent parasite biomass by competing for host nutrients. Unlike *R. irregularis*, 5 days is enough time for pre-germinated *S. hermonthica* to reach the late stages of symbiosis by penetrating the host root, establishing xylem continuity, and extracting host nutrients. The rice cultivar used in this study, IAC 165, is known to be highly susceptible to *Striga* (Swarbrick et al., 2008). Susceptible interactions with *Striga* have been shown to involve large-scale down-regulations in gene expression compared to resistant interactions (Swarbrick et al., 2008), and this thesis demonstrated sustained down-regulation of phenylpropanoid biosynthesis due to parasite infection (chapter 2). However, the exclusion of *R. irregularis* likely involved an antagonistic up-regulation of specific plant defences by the parasite.

Localised effects of *Striga* on susceptible host defences have been shown to involve both SA and JA induction. For example, Hiraoka and Sugimoto (2008) analysed gene expression in root sections next to the site of parasite attachment during the early stages of S. hermonthica parasitism (when attachment and tubercle formation was observed). Susceptible interactions with S. hermonthica involved the induction of JA- and the suppression of SA-induced genes. However, Mutuku et al., 2015 showed that susceptible interactions involved a low level of JA accumulation 1 day after infection (where initial root contact was made), which is then suppressed by the time the parasite invades the host root and establish xylem continuity by 3 and 7 days, while a sharp increase in root SA content can be observed 7 days after infection. An increase in SA would likely have an antagonistic effect on AM colonisation, since successful AM colonisation appears to involve the suppression of SA accumulation (Herrera-Medina et al., 2007, Mohr and Cahill, 2007a). Therefore, in this chapter, it could be hypothesised that the strong localised suppression of Striga on mycorrhizal colonisation could have due to an induction of SA accumulation in the host roots, as shown by (Mutuku et al., 2015).

The mechanistic basis for the systemic suppression of AM colonisation seen in my results is unlikely to be due to systemic effects of *Striga* on host defences. For example, the study by Hiraoka and Sugimoto (2008) mentioned above and a study by Hiraoka et al., (2009) found little evidence for systemic effects of *S. hermonthica* on host gene expression. However, the priority effect of early arrival of *S. hermonthica* in acquiring host resources may be an important factor. As mentioned above, obligate hemiparasites parasites such as *Striga* spp. receive about 30% of their carbon from their host plant (Irving and Cameron, 2009), AM fungi can obtain as much as 20% of host photosynthate (Jakobsen and Rosendahl, 1990). The systemic suppression of mycorrhizal colonisation seen in this chapter probably occurs because the host plant cannot support a further demand for resources.

4.4.3 Conclusions

This chapter has shown that priority effects can determine the success of AM fungi and Striga as they compete for host infection. Overall, a combination of the antagonistic effects of AM colonisation and Striga infection, together with their high demand for host resources, is probably what led to their suppression of each other when plants were simultaneously colonised/infected by both symbionts. It is unclear exactly how R. irregularis suppressed S. hermonthica infection and vice versa in this chapter because direct measurements of host defence hormones and nutrient transfers were not made. However, the individual spatiotemporal regulation of host defences during each symbionts interaction with the host can provide us with some hypotheses for the mechanisms involved. The use of rhizotrons to allow controlled timing of symbiont arrival in combination with gene expression, metabolomic analyses and analysis of nutrient transfers could be a useful tool for deciphering the mechanistic basis of tripartite interactions. Critically though, it must always be remembered that the suitability of highly controlled experimental results for considering what happens in the field must be evaluated. For example, in the field, rapid colonisation by AM fungi may occur because hyphal networks and spores already exist in plant roots and the soil left behind by previous crops. Whether or not Striga will infect in advance of AM colonisation, as was enabled in this experiment, is something that should be considered when relating these results to the field.

Chapter 5

General discussion

5.1 Beyond the SL mechanism for understanding the interaction between AM fungi and *Striga*

In this thesis, I have significantly developed our understanding of the interaction between AM fungi and *Striga* by exploring beyond the SL mechanism, and by taking into account the importance of the order of arrival on symbiont success. In chapter 2, I showed for the first time that the presence of AM fungi can increase *Striga* infection. In chapter 3, a more competitive isolate of the same fungal species resulted in no alteration to *Striga* infection under two different nutrient conditions, thus showing the importance of context on the result of the interaction. In chapter 4, I developed a novel system to explore the effect of the order of arrival on symbionts success, and showed that early arrival by one symbiont suppresses the invader. Indeed, the only time that AM fungi suppressed *Striga* infection in this thesis is when their arrival was manipulated to occur simultaneously or before the parasite.

Striga spp. are the most widespread parasitic weeds in sub-Saharan Africa, and severely reduce yields of economically important cereal crops such as rice (Rodenburg et al., 2010). In contrast, AM fungi are often described as a key component to the future of sustainable agriculture, where their exploitation will benefit crops by enhancing plant nutrient uptake and plant defence against disease (Johansson et al., 2004, Fitter et al., 2011, Vejan et al., 2016). In agreement with this view, AM fungi have been shown to decrease Striga infection (Lendzemo et al., 2005, Lendzemo et al., 2007, Othira et al., 2012). The mechanistic basis for this is that the enhancement of host nutrient status by the fungus down-regulates the release of parasite seed germinating strigolactones (SLs) from host roots (Lendzemo et al., 2009, Lopez-Raez et al., 2011). The adoption of the SL signal, which induces hyphal branching in AM fungi, as a germination cue by Striga, is illustrative of the similarities between the two symbioses. Individually, both symbionts need to regulate host defences, and both impose a C demand on the host. So far, the interaction is mainly understood in terms of the signalling role of SLs. In such a complex interaction, further understanding is required, and this can be garnered when considering the individual effect of both symbionts on host physiology.

The SL mechanism makes critical assumptions about the progression of the interaction. It requires AM fungi to be recruited by the SL signal, and for them to colonise the host, enhance host nutrient status, and down-regulate host SL release, all before Striga detects the same signal and germinates. This seems unlikely considering the fact that Striga has evolved an incredibly high sensitivity to the presence of host SLs, with the ability to detect SLs down to concentrations of just 10⁻ ¹²M (Kim et al., 2010, Conn et al., 2015, Tsuchiya et al., 2015, Toh et al., 2015), and that germination to infection can take as little as 3 days (Gurney et al., 2006). Furthermore, caution must be exercised when making assumptions about mycorrhizal interactions, because the AM symbiosis is known to lead to commensal and even parasitic effects on host plants (Johnson et al., 1997, Klironomos, 2003), and that farming practices such as tillage, fertilisation, and monoculture can select for AM species which favour nutrient storage strategies over nutrient trade to host plants (Nijjer et al., 2010, Verbruggen and Kiers, 2010). Therefore, despite the fact that AM fungi and the parasitic plant Striga appear to have opposing symbiotic strategies, it is important that the interaction is fully understood.

5.2 The order of colonisation/infection is critical for determining the influence that nutrients or defences will have on symbiont and host success

Fig. 5.1 shows the progression of AM colonisation and the possible impacts on *Striga* infection and host growth reported in this thesis, and the SL mechanism reported previously. The different results of the interaction can ultimately be attributed to symbiont and host identity and abiotic conditions (e.g. nutrient availability). These factors influence the timing of colonisation/infection, mycorrhizal nutrient exchange, and the ability of the host to support symbiont demand for resources. The progression of the interaction can be considered as a timeline of events with the outcome dependent on the timing of symbiont arrival. Plants produce and release more SLs under N and P stress (Lopez-Raez et al., 2008, Yoneyama et al., 2012). SLs represent the initial signal to which AM fungi and *Striga* respond by initiating hyphal branching and germination respectively (Akiyama et al., 2005, Cook et al., 1972, Matusova et al., 2005).



Fig. 5.1 Summary of the possible outcomes of the interaction between AM fungi and *Striga* for symbiont success. Symbiont success depends largely on the timing of colonisation/infection. (a) Arrival of *Striga* during the pre-symbiotic stages of AM colonisation may favour AM colonisation and suppress *Striga* infection as seen in chapter 4. NC = no change (b) Arrival of *Striga* during the suppression of host defences may benefit *Striga* infection and suppress AM colonisation as seen in chapter 2, particularly if the host has enough resources to support increased parasite biomass. (c) Arrival of *Striga* after successful colonisation by AM fungi may not alter *Striga* infection but could still suppress AM colonisation, potentially due to an increased demand on host resources by the invading parasite.

The SL signal allows plants to enhance recruitment of AM fungi so as to exploit their hyphal network to scavenge for nutrients, while the same signal has been hijacked by Striga for germination near to a host root (Akiyama et al., 2005). If the Striga seeds are appropriately conditioned, then infection may occur rapidly before AM colonisation. It can take days for Striga seeds to condition in the laboratory (Matusova et al., 2004). However, the warm, rain fed, nutrient-poor arable soils of SSA are where Striga thrives (Ejeta, 2007, Rodenburg et al., 2010), so it is likely that there is always at least a subset of seeds which are ready to germinate in the field. Nutrient-poor soils can also favour AM colonisation (Mader et al., 2000). However, colonisation may be perturbed in agricultural soils by tillage, which disrupt hyphal networks (Jansa et al., 2003, Verbruggen and Kiers, 2010). On the other hand, in the field, rapid colonisation by AM fungi may occur because hyphal networks, both in the soil but critically already existing in plant roots left behind by previous crops, may allow rapid contact with the growing roots of new crops. Indeed, the mycorrhizal state in roots is considered a normality for mycorrhizal plants. An often quoted statement by American plant pathologist Stephen Wilhelm says that, '...in agricultural field conditions, plants do not, strictly speaking, have roots, they have mycorrhizas'. The speed at which both AM fungi and Striga can colonise/infect is therefore variable, and as such is difficult to predict.

Fig. 5.1a shows a possible outcome of the interaction where *Striga* infects during the pre-symbiotic signalling stages of AM colonisation. In chapter 4, it was observed that the application of AM inoculum onto rice roots just five days before the application or pre-germinated *Striga* seed resulted in the suppression of *Striga* infection. In the rhizotron system used, intraradical AM colonisation was not established by 5 days, so it was hypothesised that pre-symbiotic AM signalling, which is known to occur even before hyphal contact with the host root (Kosuta et al., 2003, Czaja et al., 2012, Genre et al., 2013), could be responsible for the suppression of *Striga* invasion, early arrival resulted in a clear priority effect, and fungal colonisation was not altered by *Striga* invasion.

Fig. 5.1b shows how parasite infection may increase if *Striga* infects as AM fungi suppress host defences. In chapter 2, it was observed for the first time that the

presence of AM fungi can increase *Striga* infection. This occurred despite the fact that the fungus was clearly mutualistic, enhancing host nutrient status alone and in combination with the parasite. This suggested that the fungus could not have improved host nutrient status in time to decrease SL release and *Striga* seed germination. I hypothesised that the transient, localised down-regulation of host defences known to occur at the early stages of AM colonisation (Herrera Medina et al., 2003, Herrera-Medina et al., 2007, Mohr and Cahill, 2007, Kloppholz et al., 2011) were responsible for enhancing the ability of *Striga* to infect the host plant. In addition to this, the supply of nutrients to the plants in this experiment, possibly in combination with the fungal supply, allowed the host to support this increase in resource demand by the parasite.

In contrast to the result seen in chapter 2, previous studies had shown that AM fungi can suppress *Striga* infection as a result of host nutrient status enhancement and a reuction in SL release (Lendzemo et al., 2005, Lendzemo et al., 2007, Lopez-Raez et al., 2011). Assuming a mutualistic interaction, the enhancement of host nutrient status is one of the end results of AM colonisation, so must therefore occur significantly before *Striga* germination.

The SL mechanism assumes a mutualistic interaction, where the fungus enhances host nutrient status quickly enough to sufficiently down-regulate SL release and *Striga* germination. However, Fig. 5.1c shows the possible outcome of the interaction of *Striga* with a more competitive isolate of AM fungi than was used in chapter 2. In chapter 3, the same pot experiment design was used as in chapter 2, but one of the major differences was the isolate of AM fungus used. The isolate of AM fungus used in chapter 3 colonised the host roots extensively, and had a commensal effect on host nutrient status and growth. The more competitive isolate did not alter host nutrient status or growth. Furthermore, the vigorous nature of this isolate suggests that relative timing of colonisation/infection was different in chapter 3 in comparison to chapter 2. Overall, the interaction in chapter 3 did not result in an increase in *Striga* infection when *Striga* arrived 5 days before the fungus, but also when the parasite arrived 21 days after the fungus. One of these two timing scenarios may have also occurred in the pot experiment in chapter 3. Additionally, the high fungal

demand showed some signs of competition with *Striga* for host resources, with some reduction in parasite biomass observed at the first harvest in chapter 3.

This thesis has shown that the impact of AM fungi on the Striga problem is contextdependent and may not necessarily be beneficial. However, it is noted that experimental contexts are likely to significantly alter the result of the interaction. For example, a particularly crucial factor in the field may be the diversity of AM fungi and the presence of other plant growth-promoting rhizobacteria in the soil compared to highly controlled experiments. A number of studies have shown that plants grown with multiple AM species benefit from increased biomass (van der Heijden et al., 1998). This suggests that partner choice may benefit host plants, although some studies have shown that single isolates can be as beneficial as mixtures (Lekberg et al., 2007). Regardless, in the field at least, partner selection may completely alter the interaction with Striga due to variable nutrient exchange dynamics and effects of AM fungi on host defences. Some studies suggest that the addition of AM inoculum can enhance crop yields (Ceballos et al., 2013) although results of inoculum addition do vary (Tarbell and Koske, 2007). Furthermore, the study by Lendzemo et al. (2005) suggested that inoculum addition reduced Striga infection in the field. Ultimately, our present uncertainty about the interaction between AM fungi and other plant symbionts, combined with the desire to exploit natural over chemical means to enhance crop yields means that further understanding of AM fungal interactions is required. Using approaches like those used in this thesis in combination with field trials will allow us to assess the value of AM fungi to sustainable agriculture, and provide insights into the mechanistic basis underlying complex interactions such as the interaction with Striga.

- ACKROYD, R. D. & GRAVES, J. D. 1997. The regulation of the water potential gradient in the host and parasite relationship between Sorghum bicolor and Striga hermonthica. *Annals of Botany*, 80.
- ADAGBA, M., LAGOKE, S. & IMOLEHIN, E. 2002. Nitrogen effect on the incidence of *Striga hermonthica* (Del.) Benth in upland rice. *Acta Agronomica Hungarica*, 50, 145-150.
- AHONSI, M. O., BERNER, D. K., EMECHEBE, A. M. & LAGOKE, S. T. 2002. Effects of soil pasteurisation and soil N status on severity of Striga hermonthica (Del.) Benth. in maize. *Soil Biology & Biochemistry*, 34, 1675-1681.
- AHUJA, I., KISSEN, R. & BONES, A. M. 2012. Phytoalexins in defense against pathogens. *Trends in Plant Science*, 17, 73-90.
- AKIYAMA, K. & HAYASHI, H. 2006. Strigolactones: Chemical signals for fungal symbionts and parasitic weeds in plant roots. *Annals of Botany*, 97.
- AKIYAMA, K., MATSUOKA, H. & HAYASHI, H. 2002. Isolation and identification of a phosphate deficiency-induced C-glycosylflavonoid that stimulates arbuscular mycorrhiza formation in melon roots. *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions*, 15, 334-340.
- AKIYAMA, K., MATSUZAKI, K. & HAYASHI, H. 2005. Plant sesquiterpenes induce hyphal branching in arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi. *Nature*, 435.
- AKIYAMA, K., OGASAWARA, S., ITO, S. & HAYASHI, H. 2010. Structural Requirements of Strigolactones for Hyphal Branching in AM Fungi. *Plant and Cell Physiology*, 51.
- ALBRECHT, H., YODER, J. I. & PHILLIPS, D. A. 1999. Flavonoids promote haustoria formation in the root parasite Triphysaria versicolor. *Plant Physiology*, 119, 585-591.
- ALLEN, S. E. 1989. Chemical analysis of ecological materials second edition. Allen, S. E. (Ed.). Chemical Analysis of Ecological Materials, Second Edition. Xii+368p. Blackwell Scientific Publications Inc.: Cambridge, Massachusetts, USA; Oxford, England, Uk. Illus, XII+368P-XII+368P.
- AMUSAN, I. O., RICH, P. J., MENKIR, A., HOUSLEY, T. & EJETA, G. 2008. Resistance to Striga hermonthica in a maize inbred line derived from Zea diploperennis. *New Phytologist*, 178, 157-166.
- ASAI, S. & SHIRASU, K. 2015. Plant cells under siege: plant immune system versus pathogen effectors. *Current Opinion in Plant Biology*, 28, 1-8.
- AYRE, B. G., KELLER, F. & TURGEON, R. 2003. Symplastic continuity between companion cells and the translocation stream: Long-distance transport is controlled by retention and retrieval mechanisms in the phloem. *Plant Physiology*, 131, 1518-1528.
- BAGO, B., AZCON-AGUILAR, C., GOULET, A. & PICHE, Y. 1998. Branched absorbing structures (BAS): a feature of the extraradical mycelium of symbiotic arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi. *New Phytologist*, 139, 375-388.
- BALASUBRAMANIAN, V., SIE, M., HIJMANS, R. J. & OTSUKA, K. 2007. Increasing rice production in Sub-Saharan Africa: Challenges and opportunities. *Advances in Agronomy, Vol 94*, 94, 55-133.

- BENDER, S. F., WAGG, C. & VAN DER HEIJDEN, M. G. A. 2016. An underground revolution: biodiversity and soil ecological engineering for agricultural sustainability. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 31, 440-452.
- BENNETT, A. E., MACRAE, A. M., MOORE, B. D., CAUL, S. & JOHNSON, S. N. 2013. Early root herbivory impairs arbuscular mycorrhizal fungal colonization and shifts defence allocation in establishing Plantago lanceolata. *Plos One*, 8.
- BERENDSEN, R. L., PIETERSE, C. M. J. & BAKKER, P. 2012. The rhizosphere microbiome and plant health. *Trends in Plant Science*, 17, 478-486.
- BESSERER, A., PUECH-PAGES, V., KIEFER, P., GOMEZ-ROLDAN, V., JAUNEAU, A., ROY, S., PORTAIS, J.-C., ROUX, C., BECARD, G. & SEJALON-DELMAS, N. 2006. Strigolactones stimulate arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi by activating mitochondria. *Plos Biology*, 4.
- BEVER, J. D., RICHARDSON, S. C., LAWRENCE, B. M., HOLMES, J. & WATSON, M. 2009. Preferential allocation to beneficial symbiont with spatial structure maintains mycorrhizal mutualism. *Ecology Letters*, 12, 13-21.
- BIRSCHWILKS, M., HAUPT, S., HOFIUS, D. & NEUMANN, S. 2006. Transfer of phloem-mobile substances from the host plants to the holoparasite Cuscuta sp. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 57, 911-921.
- BLILOU, I., BUENO, P., OCAMPO, J. A. & GARCIA-GARRIDO, J. 2000a. Induction of catalase and ascorbate peroxidase activities in tobacco roots inoculated with the arbuscular mycorrhizal Glomus mosseae. *Mycological Research*, 104, 722-725.
- BLILOU, I., OCAMPO, J. A. & GARCIA-GARRIDO, J. M. 1999. Resistance of pea roots to endomycorrhizal fungus or Rhizobium correlates with enhanced levels of endogenous salicylic acid. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 50, 1663-1668.
- BLILOU, I., OCAMPO, J. A. & GARCIA-GARRIDO, J. M. 2000b. Induction of Ltp (lipid transfer protein) and Pal (phenylalanine ammonia-lyase) gene expression in rice roots colonized by the arbuscular mycorrhizal fungus Glomus mosseae. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 51, 1969-1977.
- BONFANTE, P. & REQUENA, N. 2011. Dating in the dark: how roots respond to fungal signals to establish arbuscular mycorrhizal symbiosis. *Current Opinion in Plant Biology*, 14.
- BORSTLER, B., THIERY, O., SYKOROVA, Z., BERNER, A. & REDECKER, D. 2010. Diversity of mitochondrial large subunit rDNA haplotypes of Glomus intraradices in two agricultural field experiments and two semi-natural grasslands. *Molecular Ecology*, 19, 1497-1511.
- BOSE, J. & SCHULTE, D. 2014. Testing GxG interactions between coinfecting microbial parasite genotypes within hosts. *Frontiers in Genetics*, 5.
- BOUWMEESTER, H. J., ROUX, C., LOPEZ-RAEZ, J. A. & BECARD, G. 2007. Rhizosphere communication of plants, parasitic plants and AM fungi. *Trends in Plant Science*, 12.
- BRENCHLEY, R., SPANNAGL, M., PFEIFER, M., BARKER, G. L. A., D'AMORE, R., ALLEN, A. M., MCKENZIE, N., KRAMER, M., KERHORNOU, A., BOLSER, D., KAY, S., WAITE, D., TRICK, M., BANCROFT, I., GU, Y., HUO, N., LUO, M.-C., SEHGAL, S., GILL, B., KIANIAN, S., ANDERSON, O., KERSEY, P., DVORAK, J., MCCOMBIE, W. R., HALL, A., MAYER, K. F. X., EDWARDS, K. J., BEVAN, M. W. &

HALL, N. 2012. Analysis of the breadwheat genome using whole-genome shotgun sequencing. *Nature*, 491, 705-710.

- BRUNDRETT, M. C., PICHE, Y. & PETERSON, R. L. 1985. A developmental study of the early stages in vescular arbuscular mycorrhiza formation. *Canadian Journal of Botany-Revue Canadienne De Botanique*, 63, 184-194.
- BRUNETTI, C., GEORGE, R. M., TATTINI, M., FIELD, K. & DAVEY, M. P. 2013. Metabolomics in plant environmental physiology. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 64, 4011-4020.
- BULGARELLI, D., SCHLAEPPI, K., SPAEPEN, S., VAN THEMAAT, E. V. L. & SCHULZE-LEFERT, P. 2013. Structure and functions of the bacterial microbiota of plants. *Annual Review of Plant Biology*, Vol 64, 64, 807-838.
- CAMERON, D. D. 2010. Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi as (agro)ecosystem engineers. *Plant and Soil*, 333, 1-5.
- CAMERON, D. D., COATS, A. M. & SEEL, W. E. 2006. Differential resistance among host and non-host species underlies the variable success of the hemiparasitic plant Rhinanthus minor. *Annals of Botany*, 98, 1289-1299.
- CAMERON, D. D., GENIEZ, J. M., SEEL, W. E. & IRVING, L. J. 2008a. Suppression of host photosynthesis by the parasitic plant Rhinanthus minor. *Annals of Botany*, 101, 573-578.
- CAMERON, D. D., JOHNSON, I., READ, D. J. & LEAKE, J. R. 2008b. Giving and receiving: measuring the carbon cost of mycorrhizas in the green orchid, Goodyera repens. *New Phytologist*, 180, 176-184.
- CAMERON, D. D., NEAL, A. L., VAN WEES, S. C. M. & TON, J. 2013. Mycorrhiza-induced resistance: more than the sum of its parts? *Trends in Plant Science*, 18, 539-545.
- CAO, H., GLAZEBROOK, J., CLARKE, J. D., VOLKO, S. & DONG, X. N. 1997. The Arabidopsis NPR1 gene that controls systemic acquired resistance encodes a novel protein containing ankyrin repeats. *Cell*, 88, 57-63.
- CARDOSO, C., CHARNIKHOVA, T., JAMIL, M., DELAUX, P.-M., VERSTAPPEN, F., AMINI, M., LAURESSERGUES, D., RUYTER-SPIRA, C. & BOUWMEESTER, H. 2014. Differential activity of Striga hermonthica seed germination stimulants and Gigaspora rosea hyphal branching factors in rice and their contribution to underground communication. *Plos One*, 9.
- CARDOSO, C., RUYTER-SPIRA, C. & BOUWMEESTER, H. J. 2011. Strigolactones and root infestation by plant-parasitic Striga, Orobanche and Phelipanche spp. *Plant Science*, 180.
- CATFORD, J. G., STAEHELIN, C., LAROSE, G., PICHE, Y. & VIERHEILIG, H. 2006. Systemically suppressed isoflavonoids and their stimulating effects on nodulation and mycorrhization in alfalfa split-root systems. *Plant and Soil*, 285, 257-266.
- CEBALLOS, I., RUIZ, M., FERNANDEZ, C., PENA, R., RODRIGUEZ, A. & SANDERS, I. R. 2013. The in vitro mass-produced model mycorrhizal fungus, Rhizophagus irregularis, significantly increases yields of the globally important food security crop cassava. *Plos One*, 8.
- CECHIN, I. & PRESS, M. C. 1993a. Nitrogen relations of the Sorghum-Striga hermonthica host-parasite association germination, attachment and early growth. *New Phytologist*, 124, 681-687.
- CECHIN, I. & PRESS, M. C. 1993b. Nitrogen relations of the Sorghum-Striga hermonthica host-parasite association growth and photosynthesis. *Plant Cell and Environment*, 16, 237-247.

- CECHIN, I. & PRESS, M. C. 1994. Influence of nitrogen on growth and photosynthesis of a C3 cereal, Oryza sativa, infected with the root hemiparasite Striga hermonthica. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 45, 925-930.
- CHANG, M. & LYNN, D. G. 1986. The haustorium and the chemistry of host recognition in parasitic angiosperms. *Journal of Chemical Ecology*, 12, 561-579.
- CHAVEZ-CALVILLO, G., CONTRERAS-PAREDES, C. A., MORA-MACIAS, J., NOA-CARRAZANA, J. C., SERRANO-RUBIO, A. A., DINKOVA, T. D., CARRILLO-TRIPP, M. & SILVA-ROSALES, L. 2016. Antagonism or synergism between papaya ringspot virus and papaya mosaic virus in Carica papaya is determined by their order of infection. *Virology*, 489, 179-191.
- CHERIFARI, O., HOUSLEY, T. L. & EJETA, G. 1990. Sorghum root length density and the potential for avoiding Striga parasitism. *Plant and Soil*, 121, 67-72.
- CHO, M. H. & LEE, S. W. 2015. Phenolic phytoalexins in rice: Biological functions and biosynthesis. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 16, 29120-29133.
- CISSOKO, M., BOISNARD, A., RODENBURG, J., PRESS, M. C. & SCHOLES, J. D. 2011. New Rice for Africa (NERICA) cultivars exhibit different levels of post-attachment resistance against the parasitic weeds Striga hermonthica and Striga asiatica. *New Phytologist*, 192.
- CONN, C. E., BYTHELL-DOUGLAS, R., NEUMANN, D., YOSHIDA, S., WHITTINGTON, B., WESTWOOD, J. H., SHIRASU, K., BOND, C. S., DYER, K. A. & NELSON, D. C. 2015. Convergent evolution of strigolactone perception enabled host detection in parasitic plants. *Science*, 349, 540-543.
- COOK, C. E., COGGON, P., MCPHAIL, A. T., WALL, M. E., WHICHARD, L. P., EGLEY, G. H. & LUHAN, P. A. 1972. Germination stimulants .2. Structure of Strigol - potent seed germination stimulant for witchwed (Striga lutea lour). *Journal of the American Chemical Society*, 94, 6198-&.
- COSGROVE, D. J. 2000. Loosening of plant cell walls by expansins. *Nature*, 407, 321-326.
- COX, G., MORAN, K. J., SANDERS, F., NOCKOLDS, C. & TINKER, P. B. 1980. Translocation and transfer of nutrients in vsicular-arbuscular mycorrhizas .3.
 Polyphosphate granules and phosphorus translocation. *New Phytologist*, 84, 649-&.
- CZAJA, L. F., HOGEKAMP, C., LAMM, P., MAILLET, F., MARTINEZ, E. A., SAMAIN, E., DENARIE, J., KUESTER, H. & HOHNJEC, N. 2012. Transcriptional responses toward diffusible signals from symbiotic microbes reveal MtNFP- and MtDMI3-dependent reprogramming of host gene expression by arbuscular mycorrhizal fungal lipochitooligosaccharides. *Plant Physiology*, 159, 1671-1685.
- DAI, M., HAMEL, C., BAINARD, L. D., ST ARNAUD, M., GRANT, C. A., LUPWAYI, N. Z., MALHI, S. S. & LEMKE, R. 2014. Negative and positive contributions of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungal taxa to wheat production and nutrient uptake efficiency in organic and conventional systems in the Canadian prairie. *Soil Biology & Biochemistry*, 74, 156-166.
- DE DEYN, G. B., BIERE, A., VAN DER PUTTEN, W. H., WAGENAAR, R. & KLIRONOMOS, J. N. 2009. Chemical defense, mycorrhizal colonization and growth responses in Plantago lanceolata L. *Oecologia*, 160, 433-442.

- DECLERCK, S., STRULLU, D. G. & PLENCHETTE, C. 1996. In vitro massproduction of the arbuscular mycorrhizal fungus, Glomus versiforme, associated with Ri T-DNA transformed carrot roots. *Mycological Research*, 100, 1237-1242.
- DECLERCK, S., STRULLU, D. G. & PLENCHETTE, C. 1998. Monoxenic culture of the intraradical forms of Glomus sp. isolated from a tropical ecosystem: a proposed methodology for germplasm collection. *Mycologia*, 90, 579-585.
- DEGUCHI, Y., BANBA, M., SHIMODA, Y., CHECHETKA, S. A., SUZURI, R., OKUSAKO, Y., OOKI, Y., TOYOKURA, K., SUZUKI, A., UCHIUMI, T., HIGASHI, S., ABE, M., KOUCHI, H., IZUI, K. & HATA, S. 2007. Transcriptome profiling of Lotus japonicus roots during arbuscular mycorrhiza development and comparison with that of nodulation. *DNA Research*, 14, 117-133.
- DOEBLEY, J. F., GAUT, B. S. & SMITH, B. D. 2006. The molecular genetics of crop domestication. *Cell*, 127, 1309-1321.
- DORDAS, C. 2008. Role of nutrients in controlling plant diseases in sustainable agriculture. A review. Agronomy for Sustainable Development, 28, 33-46.
- DORR, I. & KOLLMANN, R. 1995. Symplastic sieve element continuity between Orobanche and its host. *Botanica Acta*, 108, 47-55.
- DORR, I., VISSER, J. & KOLLMANN, R. 1979. On the parasitism of *Alectra vogelii* Benth. (Scrophulariaceae) III. The occurrence of phloem between host and parasite. *Z. Pflanzenphysoil*, 84, 213-22.
- DOUGLAS, A. E. 1994. Symbiotic interactions. Symbiotic interactions., i-vi, 1-148.
- DOWNIE, J. A. 2010. The roles of extracellular proteins, polysaccharides and signals in the interactions of rhizobia with legume roots. *Fems Microbiology Reviews*, 34, 150-170.
- DUNN, W. B., BAILEY, N. J. C. & JOHNSON, H. E. 2005. Measuring the metabolome: current analytical technologies. *Analyst*, 130, 606-625.
- DZOMEKU, I. & MURDOCH, A. 2007. Effects of prolonged conditioning on dormancy and germination of *Striga hermonthica*. *Journal of Agronomy*, 6, 29-36.
- EATON, A. D., CLESCERI, L. S., RICE, E. W., GREENBER, A. E., FRANSON, M. H. & EDS. 2005. Standard methods for the examination of water and wastewater, American public health association: Washington, DC, Water Environment Federation: Alexandria, VA, and American Water Works Association: Denver, CO.
- ECHEGOYEN-NAVA, R. 2012a. *Mechanisms underlying changes in the morphology of rice plants infected with the parasitic weed Striga hermonthica* PhD thesis, The University of Sheffield.
- ECHEVARRIA-ZOMENO, S., PEREZ-DE-LUQUE, A., JORRIN, J. & MALDONADO, A. M. 2006. Pre-haustorial resistance to broomrape (Orobanche cumana) in sunflower (Helianthus annuus): cytochemical studies. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 57, 4189-4200.
- ECKARDT, N. A. 2008. Chitin signaling in plants: insights into the perception of fungal pathogens and rhizobacterial symbionts. *The Plant cell*, 20, 241-3.
- EJETA, G. 2007. "The Striga scourge in Africa: a growing pandemic." In Integrating New Technologies for Striga Control, Towards Ending the Witchhunt, eds. by Ejeta G. and Grussel J., World Scientific Publishing Co. Pte Ltd, Singapore.

- ENGELMOER, D. J. P., BEHM, J. E. & KIERS, E. T. 2014. Intense competition between arbuscular mycorrhizal mutualists in an in vitro root microbiome negatively affects total fungal abundance. *Molecular Ecology*, 23, 1584-1593.
- ERIKSSON, L., JOHANSSON, E., KETTANEH-WOLD, N., TRYGG, J., WIKSTROM, C. & WOLD, S. 2006a. *Multi- and mega-variate data analysis, part 1, basic principles and applications, second revised and enlarged edition,* MKS Umetrics AM.
- ERIKSSON, L. J., E., KETTANEH-WOLD, N., TRYGG, J., WIKSTROM, C. & WOLD, S. 2006b. *Multi- and mega-variate data analysis, part 2, advanced applications and method extensions, second revised and enlarged edition*, MKS Umetrics AM.
- ESTABROOK, E. M. & YODER, J. I. 1998. Plant-plant communications: Rhizosphere signaling between parasitic angiosperms and their hosts. *Plant Physiology*, 116.
- FELLBAUM, C. R., MENSAH, J. A., CLOOS, A. J., STRAHAN, G. E., PFEFFER, P. E., KIERS, E. T. & BUCKING, H. 2014. Fungal nutrient allocation in common mycorrhizal networks is regulated by the carbon source strength of individual host plants. *New Phytologist*, 203, 646-656.
- FERNANDEZ-APARICIO, M., CIMMINO, A., EVIDENTE, A. & RUBIALES, D. 2013. Inhibition of Orobanche crenata seed germination and radicle growth by allelochemicals identified in cereals. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 61, 9797-9803.
- FERNANDEZ-APARICIO, M., YONEYAMA, K. & RUBIALES, D. 2011. The role of strigolactones in host specificity of Orobanche and Phelipanche seed germination. *Seed Science Research*, 21, 55-61.
- FIEHN, O. 2001. Combining genomics, metabolome analysis, and biochemical modelling to understand metabolic networks. *Comparative and Functional Genomics*, 2, 155-168.
- FIEHN, O., KOPKA, J., DORMANN, P., ALTMANN, T., TRETHEWEY, R. N. & WILLMITZER, L. 2000. Metabolite profiling for plant functional genomics. *Nature Biotechnology*, 18, 1157-1161.
- FIELD, K. J., LEAKE, J. R., TILLE, S., ALLINSON, K. E., RIMINGTON, W. R., BIDARTONDO, M. I., BEERLING, D. J. & CAMERON, D. D. 2015. From mycoheterotrophy to mutualism: mycorrhizal specificity and functioning in Ophioglossum vulgatum sporophytes. *New Phytologist*, 205, 1492-1502.
- FITTER, A. H., HELGASON, T. & HODGE, A. 2011. Nutritional exchanges in the arbuscular mycorrhizal symbiosis: Implications for sustainable agriculture. *Fungal Biology Reviews*, 25, 68-72.
- FOO, E., YONEYAMA, K., HUGILL, C. J., QUITTENDEN, L. J. & REID, J. B. 2013. Strigolactones and the regulation of pea symbioses in response to nitrate and phosphate deficiency. *Molecular Plant*, 6, 76-87.
- FORSTER, J., FAMILI, I., FU, P., PALSSON, B. O. & NIELSEN, J. 2003. Genome-scale reconstruction of the Saccharomyces cerevisiae metabolic network. *Genome Research*, 13, 244-253.
- FROST, D. L., GURNEY, A. L., PRESS, M. C. & SCHOLES, J. D. 1997. Striga hermonthica reduces photosynthesis in sorghum: The importance of stomatal limitations and a potential role for ABA? *Plant Cell and Environment*, 20.
- GARCIA-GARRIDO, J. M. & OCAMPO, J. A. 2002. Regulation of the plant defence response in arbuscular mycorrhizal symbiosis. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 53, 1377-1386.

- GENRE, A., CHABAUD, M., TIMMERS, T., BONFANTE, P. & BARKER, D. G. 2005. Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi elicit a novel intracellular apparatus in Medicago truncatula root epidermal cells before infection. *Plant Cell*, 17.
- GENRE, A., CHABAUD, M., FACCIO, A., BARKER, D. G. & BONFANTE, P. 2008. Prepenetration apparatus assembly precedes and predicts the colonization patterns of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi within the root cortex of both Medicago truncatula and Daucus carota. *Plant Cell*, 20.
- GENRE, A., CHABAUD, M., BALZERGUE, C., PUECH-PAGES, V., NOVERO, M., REY, T., FOURNIER, J., ROCHANGE, S., BECARD, G., BONFANTE, P. & BARKER, D. G. 2013. Short-chain chitin oligomers from arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi trigger nuclear Ca2+ spiking in Medicago truncatula roots and their production is enhanced by strigolactone. *New Phytologist*, 198, 179-189.
- GEORGE, E., MARSCHNER, H. & JAKOBSEN, I. 1995. Role of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi in uptake of phosphorus and nitrogen from soil. *Critical Reviews in Biotechnology*, 15, 257-270.
- GERLACH, N., SCHMITZ, J., POLATAJKO, A., SCHLUTER, U., FAHNENSTICH, H., WITT, S., FERNIE, A. R., UROIC, K., SCHOLZ, U., SONNEWALD, U. & BUCHER, M. 2015. An integrated functional approach to dissect systemic responses in maize to arbuscular mycorrhizal symbiosis. *Plant Cell and Environment*, 38, 1591-1612.
- GHOUL, M., GRIFFIN, A. S. & WEST, S. A. 2014. Toward an evolutionary definition of cheating. *Evolution*, 68, 318-331.
- GIOVANNETTI, M. & MOSSE, B. 1980. Evaluation of techniques for measuring vesicular arbuscular mycorrhizal infection in roots. *New Phytologist*, 84, 489-500.
- GLAZEBROOK, J. 2005. Contrasting mechanisms of defense against biotrophic and necrotrophic pathogens. *Annual Review of Phytopathology*, 43, 205-227.
- GOMEZ, S. K. & HARRISON, M. J. 2009. Laser microdissection and its application to analyze gene expression in arbuscular mycorrhizal symbiosis. *Pest Management Science*, 65, 504-511.
- GOMEZ-ROLDAN, V., FERMAS, S., BREWER, P. B., PUECH-PAGES, V., DUN, E. A., PILLOT, J.-P., LETISSE, F., MATUSOVA, R., DANOUN, S., PORTAIS, J.-C., BOUWMEESTER, H., BECARD, G., BEVERIDGE, C. A., RAMEAU, C. & ROCHANGE, S. F. 2008. Strigolactone inhibition of shoot branching. *Nature*, 455.
- GOVINDARAJULU, M., PFEFFER, P. E., JIN, H. R., ABUBAKER, J., DOUDS, D. D., ALLEN, J. W., BUCKING, H., LAMMERS, P. J. & SHACHAR-HILL, Y. 2005. Nitrogen transfer in the arbuscular mycorrhizal symbiosis. *Nature*, 435, 819-823.
- GUIMIL, S., CHANG, H. S., ZHU, T., SESMA, A., OSBOURN, A., ROUX, C., IONNIDIS, V., OAKELEY, E. J., DOCQUIER, M., DESCOMBES, P., BRIGGS, S. P. & PASZKOWSKI, U. 2005. Comparative transcriptomics of rice reveals an ancient pattern of response to microbial colonization. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 102, 8066-8070.
- GURNEY, A. L., GRIMANELLI, D., KANAMPIU, F., HOISINGTON, D., SCHOLES, J. D. & PRESS, M. C. 2003. Novel sources of resistance to Striga hermonthica in Tripsacum dactyloides, a wild relative of maize. *New Phytologist*, 160, 557-568.

- GURNEY, A. L., PRESS, M. C. & SCHOLES, J. D. 1999. Infection time and density influence the response of sorghum to the parasitic angiosperm Striga hermonthica. *New Phytologist*, 143.
- GURNEY, A. L., PRESS, M. C. & SCHOLES, J. D. 2002. Can wild relatives of sorghum provide new sources of resistance or tolerance against Striga species? *Weed Research*, 42, 317-324.
- GURNEY, A. L., SLATE, J., PRESS, M. C. & SCHOLES, J. D. 2006. A novel form of resistance in rice to the angiosperm parasite Striga hermonthica. *New Phytologist*, 169.
- GUTJAHR, C., CASIERI, L. & PASZKOWSKI, U. 2009. Glomus intraradices induces changes in root system architecture of rice independently of common symbiosis signaling. *New Phytologist*, 182, 829-837.
- HAMILTON, W. D. 1980. SEX VERSUS NON-SEX VERSUS PARASITE. *Oikos*, 35, 282-290.
- HARRISON, M. J. 1999. Biotrophic interfaces and nutrient transport in plant fungal symbioses. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 50, 1013-1022.
- HARRISON, M. J. & DIXON, R. A. 1994. Spatial patterns of expression of flavonoid/isoflavonoid pathway genes during interactions between roots of *Medicago truncatula* and the mycorrhizal fungus *Glomus versiforme*. *Plant Journal*, 6, 9-20.
- HARRISON, M. J., DEWBRE, G. R. & LIU, J. Y. 2002. A phosphate transporter from Medicago truncatula involved in the acquisiton of phosphate released by arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi. *Plant Cell*, 14, 2413-2429.
- HASEGAWA, M., MITSUHARA, I., SEO, S., OKADA, K., YAMANE, H., IWAI, T. & OHASHI, Y. 2014. Analysis on blast fungus-responsive characters of a flavonoid phytoalexin sakuranetin; Accumulation in infected rice leaves, antifungal activity and detoxification by fungus. *Molecules*, 19, 11404-11418.
- HAWKINS, S. & BOUDET, A. 2003. 'Defence lignin' and hydroxycinnamyl alcohol dehydrogenase activities in wounded Eucalyptus gunnii. *Forest Pathology*, 33, 91-104.
- HAYASHI, T., SHIMODA, Y., SATO, S., TABATA, S., IMAIZUMI-ANRAKU, H. & HAYASHI, M. 2014. Rhizobial infection does not require cortical expression of upstream common symbiosis genes responsible for the induction of Ca2+ spiking. *Plant Journal*, 77, 146-159.
- HEIDEJORGENSEN, H. S. & KUIJT, J. 1995. The haustorium of the root parasite Triphysaria (Scrophulariacea), with special reference to xylem bridge ultrastructure. *American Journal of Botany*, 82, 782-797.
- HELGASON, T., DANIELL, T. J., HUSBAND, R., FITTER, A. H. & YOUNG, J. P. W. 1998. Ploughing up the wood-wide web? *Nature*, 394.
- HERRERA MEDINA, M. J., GAGNON, H., PICHE, Y., OCAMPO, J. A., GARCIA GARRIDO, J. M. & VIERHEILIG, H. 2003. Root colonization by arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi is affected by the salicylic acid content of the plant. *Plant Science (Oxford)*, 164, 993-998.
- HERRERA-MEDINA, M. J., STEINKELLNER, S., VIERHEILIG, H., BOTE, J. A. O. & GARRIDO, J. M. G. 2007. Abscisic acid determines arbuscule development and functionality in the tomato arbuscular mycorrhiza. *New Phytologist*, 175, 554-564.
- HIBBERD, J. M., BUNGARD, R. A., PRESS, M. C., JESCHKE, W. D., SCHOLES, J. D. & QUICK, W. P. 1998. Localization of photosynthetic metabolism in the parasitic angiosperm Cuscuta reflexa. *Planta*, 205, 506-513.

- HIJRI, I., SYKOROVA, Z., OEHL, F., INEICHEN, K., MADER, P., WIEMKEN, A. & REDECKER, D. 2006. Communities of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi in arable soils are not necessarily low in diversity. *Molecular Ecology*, 15, 2277-2289.
- HIRAOKA, Y. & SUGIMOTO, Y. 2008. Molecular responses of sorghum to purple witchweed (Striga hermonthica) parasitism. *Weed Science*, 56, 356-363.
- HIRAOKA, Y., UEDA, H. & SUGIMOTO, Y. 2009. Molecular responses of Lotus japonicus to parasitism by the compatible species Orobanche aegyptiaca and the incompatible species Striga hermonthica. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 60, 641-650.
- HIROCHIKA, H., GUIDERDONI, E., AN, G., HSING, Y. I., EUN, M. Y., HAN, C. D., UPADHYAYA, N., RAMACHANDRAN, S., ZHANG, Q. F., PEREIRA, A., SUNDARESAN, V. & LEUNG, H. 2004. Rice mutant resources for gene discovery. *Plant Molecular Biology*, 54, 325-334.
- HOCHHOLDINGER, F., PARK, W. J., SAUER, M. & WOLL, K. 2004. From weeds to crops: genetic analysis of root development in cereals. *Trends in Plant Science*, 9, 42-48.
- HOFFLAND, E., JEGER, M. J. & VAN BEUSICHEM, M. L. 2000. Effect of nitrogen supply rate on disease resistance in tomato depends on the pathogen. *Plant and Soil*, 218, 239-247.
- HOLBEIN, J., GRUNDLER, F. M. W. & SIDDIQUE, S. 2016. Plant basal resistance to nematodes: an update. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 67, 2049-2061.
- HOLE, D. G., PERKINS, A. J., WILSON, J. D., ALEXANDER, I. H., GRICE, P. V. & EVANS, A. D. 2005. Does organic farming benefit biodiversity? *Biological Conservation*, 122, 113-130.
- HONAAS, L. A., WAFULA, E. K., YANG, Z. Z., DER, J. P., WICKETT, N. J., ALTMAN, N. S., TAYLOR, C. G., YODER, J. I., TIMKO, M. P., WESTWOOD, J. H. & DEPAMPHILIS, C. W. 2013. Functional genomics of a generalist parasitic plant: Laser microdissection of host-parasite interface reveals host-specific patterns of parasite gene expression. *Bmc Plant Biology*, 13.
- HOOPER, A. M., TSANUO, M. K., CHAMBERLAIN, K., TITTCOMB, K., SCHOLES, J., HASSANALI, A., KHAN, Z. R. & PICKETT, J. A. 2010. Isoschaftoside, a C-glycosylflavonoid from Desmodium uncinatum root exudate, is an allelochemical against the development of Striga. *Phytochemistry*, 71, 904-908.
- HUANG, K., MELLOR, K. E., PAUL, S. N., LAWSON, M. J., MACKEY, A. J. & TIMKO, M. P. 2012. Global changes in gene expression during compatible and incompatible interactions of cowpea (Vigna unguiculata L.) with the root parasitic angiosperm Striga gesnerioides. *Bmc Genomics*, 13.
- IGBINNOSA, I., CARDWELL, K. F. & OKONKWO, S. N. C. 1996. The effect of nitrogen on the growth and development of giant witchweed, Striga hermonthica Benth: Effect on cultured germinated seedlings in host absence. *European Journal of Plant Pathology*, 102, 77-86.
- IRVING, L. J. & CAMERON, D. D. 2009. You are what you eat: Interactions between root parasitic plants and their hosts. *Advances in Botanical Research*, *Vol 50*, 50, 87-138.
- ISHIHARA, A., HASHIMOTO, Y., TANAKA, C., DUBOUZET, J. G., NAKAO, T., MATSUDA, F., NISHIOKA, T., MIYAGAWA, H. & WAKASA, K. 2008.

The tryptophan pathway is involved in the defense responses of rice against pathogenic infection via serotonin production. *Plant Journal*, 54, 481-495.

- IVANOVA, K. A., TSYGANOVA, A. V., BREWIN, N. J., TIKHONOVICH, I. A. & TSYGANOV, V. E. 2015. Induction of host defences by Rhizobium during ineffective nodulation of pea (Pisum sativum L.) carrying symbiotically defective mutations sym40 (PsEFD), sym33 (PsIPD3/PsCYCLOPS) and sym42. *Protoplasma*, 252, 1505-1517.
- JAKOBSEN, I. & ROSENDAHL, L. 1990. Carbon flow into soil and external hyphae from roots of mycorrhizal cucumber plants. *New Phytologist*, 115, 77-83.
- JAMIL, M., CHARNIKHOVA, T., CARDOSO, C., JAMIL, T., UENO, K., VERSTAPPEN, F., ASAMI, T. & BOUWMEESTER, H. J. 2011a. Quantification of the relationship between strigolactones and Striga hermonthica infection in rice under varying levels of nitrogen and phosphorus. *Weed Research*, 51.
- JAMIL, M., RODENBURG, J., CHARNIKHOVA, T. & BOUWMEESTER, H. J. 2011b. Pre-attachment Striga hermonthica resistance of New Rice for Africa (NERICA) cultivars based on low strigolactone production. *New Phytologist*, 192, 964-975.
- JAMIL, M., KANAMPIU, F. K., KARAYA, H., CHARNIKHOVA, T. & BOUWMEESTER, H. J. 2012. Striga hermonthica parasitism in maize in response to N and P fertilisers. *Field Crops Research*, 134, 1-10.
- JAMIL, M., VAN MOURIK, T. A., CHARNIKHOVA, T. & BOUWMEESTER, H. J. 2013. Effect of diammonium phosphate application on strigolactone production and Striga hermonthica infection in three sorghum cultivars. Weed Research, 53, 121-130.
- JAMIL, M., CHARNIKHOVA, T., JAMIL, T., ALI, Z., MOHAMED, N., VAN MOURIK, T. & BOUWMEESTER, H. J. 2014. Influence of fertilizer microdosing on strigolactone production and Striga hermonthica parasitism in pearl millet. *International Journal of Agriculture and Biology*, 16, 935-940.
- JANSA, J., MOZAFAR, A., KUHN, G., ANKEN, T., RUH, R., SANDERS, I. R. & FROSSARD, E. 2003. Soil tillage affects the community structure of mycorrhizal fungi in maize roots. *Ecological Applications*, 13, 1164-1176.
- JAVOT, H., PENMETSA, R. V., TERZAGHI, N., COOK, D. R. & HARRISON, M. J. 2007. A Medicago truncatula phosphate transporter indispensable for the arbuscular mycorrhizal symbiosis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 104, 1720-1725.
- JIANG, F., JESCHKE, W. D. & HARTUNG, W. 2004. Abscisic acid (ABA) flows from Hordeum vulgare to the hemiparasite Rhinanthus minor and the influence of infection on host and parasite abscisic acid relations. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 55, 2323-2329.
- JIANG, F., JESCHKE, W. D., HARTUNG, W. & CAMERON, D. D. 2010. Interactions between Rhinanthus minor and its hosts: A review of water, mineral nutrient and hormone flows and exchanges in the hemiparasitic association. *Folia Geobotanica*, 45, 369-385.
- JOEL, D., GRESSEL, J. & MUSSELMAN, L. 2013. Parasitic Orobanchaceae: Parasitic mechanisms and control strategies, Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg.

- JOEL, D. M. & LOSNERGOSHEN, D. 1994. The attachment organ of the parasitic angiosperms Orobanche cumana and O. aegyptiaca and its development. *Canadian Journal of Botany-Revue Canadienne De Botanique*, 72, 564-574.
- JOHANSSON, J. F., PAUL, L. R. & FINLAY, R. D. 2004. Microbial interactions in the mycorrhizosphere and their significance for sustainable agriculture. *Fems Microbiology Ecology*, 48, 1-13.
- JOHNSON, D., MARTIN, F., CAIRNEY, J. W. G. & ANDERSON, I. C. 2012. The importance of individuals: intraspecific diversity of mycorrhizal plants and fungi in ecosystems. *New Phytologist*, 194, 614-628.
- JOHNSON, N. C., GRAHAM, J. H. & SMITH, F. A. 1997. Functioning of mycorrhizal associations along the mutualism-parasitism continuum. *New Phytologist*, 135, 575-586.
- JOHNSON, N. C., ANGELARD, C., SANDERS, I. R. & KIERS, E. T. 2013. Predicting community and ecosystem outcomes of mycorrhizal responses to global change. *Ecology Letters*, 16, 140-153.
- JOHNSON, S. N., HALLETT, P. D., GILLESPIE, T. L. & HALPIN, C. 2010. Below-ground herbivory and root toughness: a potential model system using lignin-modified tobacco. *Physiological Entomology*, 35, 186-191.
- JONES, E. I., AFKHAMI, M. E., AKCAY, E., BRONSTEIN, J. L., BSHARY, R., FREDERICKSON, M. E., HEATH, K. D., HOEKSEMA, J. D., NESS, J. H., PANKEY, M. S., PORTER, S. S., SACHS, J. L., SCHARNAGL, K. & FRIESEN, M. L. 2015. Cheaters must prosper: reconciling theoretical and empirical perspectives on cheating in mutualism. *Ecology Letters*, 18, 1270-1284.
- JONES, M. D. & SMITH, S. E. 2004. Exploring functional definitions of mycorrhizas: Are mycorrhizas always mutualisms? *Canadian Journal of Botany-Revue Canadienne De Botanique*, 82, 1089-1109.
- JUNG, S. C., MARTINEZ-MEDINA, A., LOPEZ-RAEZ, J. A. & POZO, M. J. 2012. Mycorrhiza-induced resistance and priming of plant defenses. *Journal of Chemical Ecology*, 38, 651-664.
- KAMARA, A., EKELEME, F., OMOIGU, L., MENKIR, A., CHIKOYE, D., DUGJE, I., ABDOULAYE, T. & AMAZA, P. 2009. Influence of nitrogen fertilization on the performance of early and late maturing maize varieties under natural infestation with *Striga hermonthica* (Del.) Benth. *Archives of Agronomy and Soil Science*, 55, 125-145.
- KAMOUN, S. 2007. Groovy times: filamentous pathogen effectors revealed. *Current Opinion in Plant Biology*, 10, 358-365.
- KAUL, S., KOO, H. L., JENKINS, J., RIZZO, M., ROONEY, T., TALLON, L. J., FELDBLYUM, T., NIERMAN, W., BENITO, M. I., LIN, X. Y., TOWN, C. D., VENTER, J. C., FRASER, C. M., TABATA, S., NAKAMURA, Y., KANEKO, T., SATO, S., ASAMIZU, E., KATO, T., KOTANI, H., SASAMOTO, S., ECKER, J. R., THEOLOGIS, A., FEDERSPIEL, N. A., PALM, C. J., OSBORNE, B. I., SHINN, P., CONWAY, A. B., VYSOTSKAIA, V. S., DEWAR, K., CONN, L., LENZ, C. A., KIM, C. J., HANSEN, N. F., LIU, S. X., BUEHLER, E., ALTAFI, H., SAKANO, H., DUNN, P., LAM, B., PHAM, P. K., CHAO, Q., NGUYEN, M., YU, G. X., CHEN, H. M., SOUTHWICK, A., LEE, J. M., MIRANDA, M., TORIUMI, M. J., DAVIS, R. W., WAMBUTT, R., MURPHY, G., DUSTERHOFT, A., STIEKEMA, W., POHL, T., ENTIAN, K. D., TERRYN, N., VOLCKAERT, G., SALANOUBAT, M., CHOISNE, N., RIEGER, M., ANSORGE, W.,

UNSELD, M., FARTMANN, B., VALLE, G., ARTIGUENAVE, F., WEISSENBACH, J., QUETIER, F., WILSON, R. K., DE LA BASTIDE, M., SEKHON, M., HUANG, E., SPIEGEL, L., GNOJ, L., PEPIN, K., MURRAY, J., JOHNSON, D., HABERMANN, K., DEDHIA, N., PARNELL, L., PRESTON, R., HILLIER, L., CHEN, E., MARRA, M., MARTIENSSEN, R., MCCOMBIE, W. R., MAYER, K., WHITE, O., BEVAN, M., LEMCKE, K., CREASY, T. H., BIELKE, C., HAAS, B., HAASE, D., MAITI, R., RUDD, S., PETERSON, J., SCHOOF, H., FRISHMAN, D., MORGENSTERN, B., et al. 2000. Analysis of the genome sequence of the flowering plant Arabidopsis thaliana. *Nature*, 408, 796-815.

- KEYES, W., PALMER, A., ERBIL, W., TAYLOR, J., APKARIAN, R., WEEKS, E. & LYNN, D. 2007a. Semagenesis and the parasitic angiosperm *Striga asiatica*. *The Plant Journal*, 51, 707-716.
- KEYES, W. J., PALMER, A. G., ERBIL, W. K., TAYLOR, J. V., APKARIAN, R. P., WEEKS, E. R. & LYNN, D. G. 2007b. Sernagenesis and the parasitic angiosperm Striga asiaticae. *Plant Journal*, 51.
- KIERS, E. T., DUHAMEL, M., BEESETTY, Y., MENSAH, J. A., FRANKEN, O., VERBRUGGEN, E., FELLBAUM, C. R., KOWALCHUK, G. A., HART, M. M., BAGO, A., PALMER, T. M., WEST, S. A., VANDENKOORNHUYSE, P., JANSA, J. & BUCKING, H. 2011. Reciprocal rewards stabilize cooperation in the mycorrhizal symbiosis. *Science*, 333, 880-882.
- KIM, D. J., KOCZ, R., BOONE, L., KEYES, W. J. & LYNN, D. G. 1998. On becoming a parasite: evaluating the role of wall oxidases in parasitic plant development. *Chemistry & Biology*, 5, 103-117.
- KIM, G. & WESTWOOD, J. H. 2015. Macromolecule exchange in Cuscuta-host plant interactions. *Current Opinion in Plant Biology*, 26, 20-25.
- KIM, H. I., XIE, X. N., KIM, H. S., CHUN, J. C., YONEYAMA, K., NOMURA, T. & TAKEUCHI, Y. 2010. Structure-activity relationship of naturally occurring strigolactones in Orobanche minor seed germination stimulation. *Journal of Pesticide Science*, 35, 344-347.
- KISUGI, T., XIE, X. N., KIM, H. I., YONEYAMA, K., SADO, A., AKIYAMA, K., HAYASHI, H., UCHIDA, K., YOKOTA, T. & NOMURA, T. 2013. Strigone, isolation and identification as a natural strigolactone from Houttuynia cordata. *Phytochemistry*, 87, 60-64.
- KIVLIN, S. N., HAWKES, C. V. & TRESEDER, K. K. 2011. Global diversity and distribution of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi. *Soil Biology & Biochemistry*, 43, 2294-2303.
- KLIRONOMOS, J. N. 2003. Variation in plant response to native and exotic arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi. *Ecology*, 84, 2292-2301.
- KLOPPHOLZ, S., KUHN, H. & REQUENA, N. 2011. A secreted fungal effector of Glomus intraradices promotes symbiotic biotrophy. *Current Biology*, 21, 1204-1209.
- KOHL, L., OEHL, F. & VAN DER HEIJDEN, M. G. A. 2014. Agricultural practices indirectly influence plant productivity and ecosystem services through effects on soil biota. *Ecological Applications*, 24, 1842-1853.
- KOHLEN, W., CHARNIKHOVA, T., LAMMERS, M., POLLINA, T., TOTH, P., HAIDER, I., POZO, M. J., DE MAAGD, R. A., RUYTER-SPIRA, C., BOUWMEESTER, H. J. & LOPEZ-RAEZ, J. A. 2012. The tomato CAROTENOID CLEAVAGE DIOXYGENASE8 (SICCD8) regulates rhizosphere signaling, plant architecture and affects reproductive

development through strigolactone biosynthesis. *New Phytologist*, 196, 535-547.

- KOPKA, J., FERNIE, A., WECKWERTH, W., GIBON, Y. & STITT, M. 2004. Metabolite profiling in plant biology: platforms and destinations. *Genome Biology*, 5.
- KOSUTA, S., CHABAUD, M., LOUGNON, G., GOUGH, C., DENARIE, J., BARKER, D. G. & BECARD, G. 2003. A diffusible factor from arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi induces symbiosis-specific MtENOD11 expression in roots of Medicago truncatula. *Plant Physiology*, 131.
- KOSUTA, S., HAZLEDINE, S., SUN, J., MIWA, H., MORRIS, R. J., DOWNIE, J. A. & OLDROYD, G. E. D. 2008. Differential and chaotic calcium signatures in the symbiosis signaling pathway of legumes. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 105.
- KROM, M. D. 1980. Spectrophotometric determination of ammonia A study of a modified berthelot reaction using salicylate and dichloroisocyanurate. *Analyst*, 105, 305-316.
- LAMBERS, H., SHANE, M. W., CRAMER, M. D., PEARSE, S. J. & VENEKLAAS, E. J. 2006. Root structure and functioning for efficient acquisition of phosphorus: Matching morphological and physiological traits. *Annals of Botany*, 98.
- LANDGRAF, R., SCHAARSCHMIDT, S. & HAUSE, B. 2012. Repeated leaf wounding alters the colonization of Medicago truncatula roots by beneficial and pathogenic microorganisms. *Plant Cell and Environment*, 35, 1344-1357.
- LAPARRE, J., MALBREIL, M., LETISSE, F., PORTAIS, J. C., ROUX, C., BECARD, G. & PUECH-PAGES, V. 2014. Combining metabolomics and gene expression analysis reveals that propionyl- and butyryl-carnitines are involved in late stages of arbuscular mycorrhizal symbiosis. *Molecular Plant*, 7, 554-566.
- LAROSE, G., CHENEVERT, R., MOUTOGLIS, P., GAGNE, S., PICHE, Y. & VIERHEILIG, H. 2002. Flavonoid levels in roots of Medicago sativa are modulated by the developmental stage of the symbiosis and the root colonizing arbuscular mycorrhizal fungus. *Journal of Plant Physiology*, 159, 1329-1339.
- LEAKE, J. R. 1994. The biology of myco-heterotrophic (saprophytic) plants. *New Phytologist*, 127, 171-216.
- LEKBERG, Y., KOIDE, R. T., ROHR, J. R., ALDRICH-WOLFE, L. & MORTON, J. B. 2007. Role of niche restrictions and dispersal in the composition of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungal communities. *Journal of Ecology*, 95, 95-105.
- LEKBERG, Y., HAMMER, E. C. & OLSSON, P. A. 2010. Plants as resource islands and storage units - adopting the mycocentric view of arbuscular mycorrhizal networks. *Fems Microbiology Ecology*, 74, 336-345.
- LENDZEMO, V. W. & KUYPER, T. W. 2001. Effects of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi on damage by Striga hermonthica on two contrasting cultivars of sorghum, Sorghum bicolor. Agriculture Ecosystems & Environment, 87, 29-35.
- LENDZEMO, V. W., KUYPER, T. W., KROPFF, M. J. & VAN AST, A. 2005. Field inoculation with arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi reduces Striga hermonthica performance on cereal crops and has the potential to contribute to integrated Striga management. *Field Crops Research*, 91.

- LENDZEMO, V. W., KUYPER, T. W., MATUSOVA, R., BOUWMEESTER, H. J. & VAN AST, A. 2007. Colonization by arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi of sorghum leads to reduced germination and subsequent attachment and emergence of Striga hermonthica. *Plant signaling & behavior*, 2.
- LENDZEMO, V. W., KUYPER, T. W. & VIERHEILIG, H. 2009. Striga seedgermination activity of root exudates and compounds present in stems of Striga host and nonhost (trap crop) plants is reduced due to root colonization by arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi. *Mycorrhiza*, 19, 287-294.
- LETOUSEY, P., DE ZELICOURT, A., DOS SANTOS, C. V., THOIRON, S., MONTEAU, F., SIMIER, P., THALOUARN, P. & DELAVAULT, P. 2007. Molecular analysis of resistance mechanisms to Orobanche cumana in sunflower. *Plant Pathology*, 56, 536-546.
- LI, H. Y., SMITH, F. A., DICKSON, S., HOLLOWAY, R. E. & SMITH, S. E. 2008. Plant growth depressions in arbuscular mycorrhizal symbioses: not just caused by carbon drain? *New Phytologist*, 178, 852-862.
- LI, J. X. & TIMKO, M. P. 2009. Gene-for-gene resistance in Striga-cowpea associations. *Science*, 325, 1094-1094.
- LIN, X. G., FENG, Y. Z., ZHANG, H. Y., CHEN, R. R., WANG, J. H., ZHANG, J. B. & CHU, H. Y. 2012. Long-term balanced fertilization decreases arbuscular mycorrhizal fungal diversity in an arable soil in North China revealed by 454 pyrosequencing. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 46, 5764-5771.
- LIN, Z. Y., WANG, J. H., BAO, Y. X., GUO, Q., POWELL, C. A., XU, S. Q., CHEN, B. S. & ZHANG, M. Q. 2016. Deciphering the transcriptomic response of Fusarium verticillioides in relation to nitrogen availability and the development of sugarcane pokkah boeng disease. *Scientific Reports*, 6.
- LODWIG, E. & POOLE, P. 2003. Metabolism of Rhizobium bacteroids. *Critical Reviews in Plant Sciences*, 22, 37-78.
- LOPEZ-RAEZ, J. A., CHARNIKHOVA, T., FERNANDEZ, I., BOUWMEESTER, H. & POZO, M. J. 2011. Arbuscular mycorrhizal symbiosis decreases strigolactone production in tomato. *Journal of Plant Physiology*, 168.
- LOPEZ-RAEZ, J. A., CHARNIKHOVA, T., GOMEZ-ROLDAN, V., MATUSOVA, R., KOHLEN, W., DE VOS, R., VERSTAPPEN, F., PUECH-PAGES, V., BECARD, G., MULDER, P. & BOUWMEESTER, H. 2008. Tomato strigolactones are derived from carotenoids and their biosynthesis is promoted by phosphate starvation. *New Phytologist*, 178, 863-874.
- LOUARN, J., CARBONNE, F., DELAVAULT, P., BECARD, G. & ROCHANGE, S. 2012. Reduced germination of Orobanche cumana seeds in the presence of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi or their exudates. *Plos One*, 7.
- LOZANO-TORRES, J. L., WILBERS, R. H. P., WARMERDAM, S., FINKERS-TOMCZAK, A., DIAZ-GRANADOS, A., VAN SCHAIK, C. C., HELDER, J., BAKKER, J., GOVERSE, A., SCHOTS, A. & SMANT, G. 2014. Apoplastic venom allergen-like proteins of cyst nematodes modulate the activation of basal plant innate immunity by cell surface receptors. *Plos Pathogens*, 10.
- LUGTENBERG, B. & KAMILOVA, F. 2009. Plant-growth-promoting rhizobacteria. Annual Review of Microbiology, 63, 541-556.
- MADER, P., EDENHOFER, S., BOLLER, T., WIEMKEN, A. & NIGGLI, U. 2000. Arbuscular mycorrhizae in a long-term field trial comparing low-input (organic, biological) and high-input (conventional) farming systems in a crop rotation. *Biology and Fertility of Soils*, 31, 150-156.

- MAILLET, F., POINSOT, V., ANDRE, O., PUECH-PAGES, V., HAOUY, A., GUEUNIER, M., CROMER, L., GIRAUDET, D., FORMEY, D., NIEBEL, A., MARTINEZ, E. A., DRIGUEZ, H., BECARD, G. & DENARIE, J. 2011. Fungal lipochitooligosaccharide symbiotic signals in arbuscular mycorrhiza. *Nature*, 469, 58-U1501.
- MANSFIELD, J., GENIN, S., MAGORI, S., CITOVSKY, V., SRIARIYANUM, M., RONALD, P., DOW, M., VERDIER, V., BEER, S. V., MACHADO, M. A., TOTH, I., SALMOND, G. & FOSTER, G. D. 2012. Top 10 plant pathogenic bacteria in molecular plant pathology. *Molecular Plant Pathology*, 13, 614-629.
- MATSUMOTO, T., WU, J. Z., KANAMORI, H., KATAYOSE, Y., FUJISAWA, M., NAMIKI, N., MIZUNO, H., YAMAMOTO, K., ANTONIO, B. A., BABA, T., SAKATA, K., NAGAMURA, Y., AOKI, H., ARIKAWA, K., ARITA, K., BITO, T., CHIDEN, Y., FUJITSUKA, N., FUKUNAKA, R., HAMADA, M., HARADA, C., HAYASHI, A., HIJISHITA, S., HONDA, M., HOSOKAWA, S., ICHIKAWA, Y., IDONUMA, A., IIJIMA, M., IKEDA, M., IKENO, M., ITO, K., ITO, S., ITO, T., ITO, Y., IWABUCHI, A., KAMIYA, K., KARASAWA, W., KURITA, K., KATAGIRI, S., KIKUTA, A., KOBAYASHI, H., KOBAYASHI, N., MACHITA, K., MAEHARA, T., MASUKAWA, M., MIZUBAYASHI, T., MUKAI, Y., NAGASAKI, H., NAGATA, Y., NAITO, S., NAKASHIMA, M., NAKAMA, Y., NAKAMICHI, Y., NAKAMURA, M., MEGURO, A., NEGISHI, M., OHTA, I., OHTA, T., OKAMOTO, M., ONO, N., SAJI, S., SAKAGUCHI, M., SAKAI, K., SHIBATA, M., SHIMOKAWA, T., SONG, J. Y., TAKAZAKI, Y., TERASAWA, K., TSUGANE, M., TSUJI, K., UEDA, S., WAKI, K., YAMAGATA, H., YAMAMOTO, M., YAMAMOTO, S., YAMANE, H., YOSHIKI, S., YOSHIHARA, R., YUKAWA, K., ZHONG, H. S., YANO, M., SASAKI, T., YUAN, Q. P., SHU, O. T., LIU, J., JONES, K. M., GANSBERGER, K., MOFFAT, K., HILL, J., BERA, J., FADROSH, D., JIN, S. H., JOHRI, S., KIM, M., OVERTON, L., REARDON, M., TSITRIN, T., VUONG, H., WEAVER, B., CIECKO, A., et al. 2005. The map-based sequence of the rice genome. Nature, 436, 793-800.
- MATUSOVA, R., VAN MOURIK, T. & BOUWMEESTER, H. J. 2004. Changes in the sensitivity of parasitic weed seeds to germination stimulants. *Seed Science Research*, 14, 335-344.
- MATUSOVA, R., RANI, K., VERSTAPPEN, F. W. A., FRANSSEN, M. C. R., BEALE, M. H. & BOUWMEESTER, H. J. 2005. The strigolactone germination stimulants of the plant-parasitic Striga and Orobanche spp. are derived from the carotenoid pathway. *Plant Physiology*, 139, 920-934.
- MENDEN, B., KOHLHOFF, M. & MOERSCHBACHER, B. M. 2007. Wheat cells accumulate a syringyl-rich lignin during the hypersensitive resistance response. *Phytochemistry*, 68, 513-520.
- MIEDES, E., VANHOLME, R., BOERJAN, W. & MOLINA, A. 2014. The role of the secondary cell wall in plant resistance to pathogens. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 5.
- MITSUMASU, K., SETO, Y. & YOSHIDA, S. 2015. Apoplastic interactions between plants and plant root intruders. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 6.
- MOHAMED, K. I., MUSSELMAN, L. J. & RICHES, C. R. 2001. The genus Striga (Scrophulariaceae) in Africa. *Annals of the Missouri Botanical Garden*, 88, 60-103.

- MOHR, P. G. & CAHILL, D. M. 2007a. Suppression by ABA of salicylic acid and lignin accumulation and the expression of multiple genes, in Arabidopsis infected with Pseudomonas syringae pv. tomato. *Functional & Integrative Genomics*, 7, 181-191.
- MOHR, P. G. & CAHILL, D. M. 2007b. Suppression by ABA of salicylic acid and lignin accumulation and the expression of multiple genes, in Arabidopsis infected with Pseudomonas syringae pv. tomato. *Functional & amp; Integrative Genomics,* 7, 181-191.
- MUNKVOLD, L., KJOLLER, R., VESTBERG, M., ROSENDAHL, S. & JAKOBSEN, I. 2004. High functional diversity within species of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi. *New Phytologist*, 164, 357-364.
- MURPHY, J. & RILEY, J. P. 1986. Citation-classic Amodified single solution method for the determination of phosphate in natural waters. *Current Contents/Agriculture Biology & Environmental Sciences*, 16-16.
- MURRAY, J. D., COUSINS, D. R., JACKSON, K. J. & LIU, C. 2013. Signaling at the root surface: The role of cutin monomers in mycorrhization. *Molecular Plant*, 6, 1381-1383.
- MUTUKU, J. M., YOSHIDA, S., SHIMIZU, T., ICHIHASHI, Y., WAKATAKE, T., TAKAHASHI, A., SEO, M. & SHIRASU, K. 2015. The WRKY45dependent signaling pathway is required for resistance against Striga hermonthica parasitism. *Plant Physiology*, 168, 1152-1163.
- NEUMANN, U., VIAN, B., WEBER, H. C. & SALLE, G. 1999. Interface between haustoria of parasitic members of the Scrophulariaceae and their hosts: a histochemical and immunocytochemical approach. *Protoplasma*, 207, 84-97.
- NIJJER, S., ROGERS, W. E. & SIEMANN, E. 2010. The impacts of fertilization on mycorrhizal production and investment in Western Gulf Coast grasslands. *American Midland Naturalist*, 163, 124-133.
- NOMURA, S., NAKASHIMA, H., MIZUTANI, M., TAKIKAWA, H. & SUGIMOTO, Y. 2013. Structural requirements of strigolactones for germination induction and inhibition of Striga gesnerioides seeds. *Plant Cell Reports*, 32, 829-838.
- OLAH, B., BRIERE, C., BECARD, G., DENARIE, J. & GOUGH, C. 2005. Nod factors and a diffusible factor from arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi stimulate lateral root formation in Medicago truncatula via the DMI1/DMI2 signalling pathway. *Plant Journal*, 44, 195-207.
- OLDROYD, G. E. D. & DOWNIE, J. M. 2008. Coordinating nodule morphogenesis with rhizobial infection in legumes. *Annual Review of Plant Biology*. Palo Alto: Annual Reviews.
- OLDROYD, G. E. D., MURRAY, J. D., POOLE, P. S. & DOWNIE, J. A. 2011. The rules of engagement in the legume-rhizobial symbiosis. *Annual Review of Genetics*, 45, 119-144.
- OLIVER, S. G., WINSON, M. K., KELL, D. B. & BAGANZ, F. 1998. Systematic functional analysis of the yeast genome. *Trends in Biotechnology*, 16, 373-378.
- OSWALD, A. 2005. Striga control technologies and their dissemination. Crop Protection, 24.
- OSWALD, A. & RANSOM, J. K. 2004. Response of maize varieties to Striga infestation. *Crop Protection*, 23, 89-94.
- OTHIRA, J. O., OMOLO, J. O., WACHIRA, F. N. & ONEK, L. A. 2012. Effectiveness of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi in protection of maize (Zea

mays L.) against witchweed (Striga hermonthica Del Benth) infestation. Journal of Agricultural Biotechnology and Sustainable Development, 4(3), 37-44.

- PARKER, C. 2009. Observations on the current status of Orobanche and Striga problems worldwide. *Pest Management Science*, 65, 453-459.
- PARKER, C. & RICHES, C. 1993. Parasitic weeds of the world: Biology and control. CAB International, Wallingford, UK.
- PARNISKE, M. 2000. Intracellular accommodation of microbes by plants: a common developmental program for symbiosis and disease? *Current Opinion in Plant Biology*, 3, 320-328.
- PARNISKE, M. 2008. Arbuscular mycorrhiza: the mother of plant root endosymbioses. *Nature Reviews Microbiology*, 6.
- PATERSON, A. H., BOWERS, J. E., BRUGGMANN, R., DUBCHAK, I., GRIMWOOD, J., GUNDLACH, H., HABERER, G., HELLSTEN, U., MITROS, T., POLIAKOV, A., SCHMUTZ, J., SPANNAGL, M., TANG, H., WANG, X., WICKER, T., BHARTI, A. K., CHAPMAN, J., FELTUS, F. A., GOWIK, U., GRIGORIEV, I. V., LYONS, E., MAHER, C. A., MARTIS, M., NARECHANIA, A., OTILLAR, R. P., PENNING, B. W., SALAMOV, A. A., WANG, Y., ZHANG, L., CARPITA, N. C., FREELING, M., GINGLE, A. R., HASH, C. T., KELLER, B., KLEIN, P., KRESOVICH, S., MCCANN, M. C., MING, R., PETERSON, D. G., MEHBOOB UR, R., WARE, D., WESTHOFF, P., MAYER, K. F. X., MESSING, J. & ROKHSAR, D. S. 2009. The Sorghum bicolor genome and the diversification of grasses. *Nature*, 457, 551-556.
- PEREZ-DE-LUQUE, A., MORENO, M. T. & RUBIALES, D. 2008. Host plant resistance against broomrapes (Orobanche spp.): defence reactions and mechanisms of resistance. *Annals of Applied Biology*, 152, 131-141.
- PEREZ-DE-LUQUE, A., RUBIALES, D., CUBERO, J. I., PRESS, M. C., SCHOLES, J., YONEYAMA, K., TAKEUCHI, Y., PLAKHINE, D. & JOEL, D. M. 2005. Interaction between Orobanche crenata and its host legumes: unsuccessful haustorial penetration and necrosis of the developing parasite. *Annals of Botany*, 95, 935-942.
- PETERSON, R. L. & HOWARTH, M. J. 1991. Morphometric and energy dispersive-x-ray analysis of polyphosphate distribution in the VAM fungus Glumus versiforme associated with leek. *Symbiosis*, 11, 63-71.
- PHILLIPS, J. M. & HAYMAN, D. S. 1970. Improved procedures for clearing roots and staining parasitic and vesicular-arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi for rapid assessment of infection. *Transactions of the British Mycological Society*, 55, 158-161.
- PIROZYNSKI, K. A. & MALLOCH, D. W. 1975. Origin of land plants Matter of mycotropism. *Biosystems*, 6, 153-164.
- PORCEL, R., REDONDO-GOMEZ, S., MATEOS-NARANJO, E., AROCA, R., GARCIA, R. & RUIZ-LOZANO, J. M. 2015. Arbuscular mycorrhizal symbiosis ameliorates the optimum quantum yield of photosystem II and reduces non-photochemical quenching in rice plants subjected to salt stress. *Journal of Plant Physiology*, 185, 75-83.
- PRESS, M. C. & PHOENIX, G. K. 2005. Impacts of parasitic plants on natural communities. *New Phytologist*, 166, 737-751.

- REBOUILLAT, J., DIEVART, A., VERDEIL, J. L., ESCOUTE, J., GIESE, G., BREITLER, J. C., GANTET, P., ESPEOUT, S., GUIDERDONI, E. & PERIN, C. 2009. Molecular genetics of rice root development. *Rice*, 2, 15-34.
- REDECKER, D., KODNER, R. & GRAHAM, L. E. 2000. Glomalean fungi from the Ordovician. *Science*, 289, 1920-1921.
- REDECKER, D., SCHUSSLER, A., STOCKINGER, H., STURMER, S. L., MORTON, J. B. & WALKER, C. 2013. An evidence-based consensus for the classification of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (*Glomeromycota*). *Mycorrhiza*, 23, 515-531.
- REYNOLDS, T. W., WADDINGTON, S. R., ANDERSON, C. L., CHEW, A., TRUE, Z. & CULLEN, A. 2015. Environmental impacts and constraints associated with the production of major food crops in Sub-Saharan Africa and South Asia. *Food Security*, 7, 795-822.
- RICH, P. & EJETA, G. 2008. Towards effective resistance to *Striga* in African maize. *Plant Signaling and Behaviour*, 3, 618-621.
- RICHES, C., MBWAGA, A., MBAPILA, J. & AHMED, G. 2005. Improved weed management delivers increased productivity and farm incomes from rice in Bangladesh and Tanzania. *Aspects of Applied Biology*, 75, 127-138.
- RINDOS, D. 1980. SYMBIOSIS, INSTABILITY, AND THE ORIGINS AND SPREAD OF AGRICULTURE - A NEW MODEL. *Current Anthropology*, 21, 751-772.
- RIVERO, J., GAMIR, J., AROCA, R., POZO, M. J. & FLORS, V. 2015. Metabolic transition in mycorrhizal tomato roots. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 6.
- RODENBURG, J., BASTIAANS, L., SCHAPENDONK, A., VAN DER PUTTEN, P. E. L., VAN AST, A., DINGEMANSE, N. J. & HAUSSMANN, B. I. G. 2008. CO2-assimilation and chlorophyll fluorescence as indirect selection criteria for host tolerance against Striga. *Euphytica*, 160, 75-87.
- RODENBURG, J., CISSOKO, M., KAYEKE, J., DIENG, I., KHAN, Z. R., MIDEGA, C. A. O., ONYUKA, E. A. & SCHOLES, J. D. 2015. Do NERICA rice cultivars express resistance to Striga hermonthica (Del.) Benth. and Striga asiatica (L.) Kuntze under field conditions? *Field Crops Research*, 170, 83-94.
- RODENBURG, J., RICHES, C. R. & KAYEKE, J. M. 2010. Addressing current and future problems of parasitic weeds in rice. *Crop Protection*, 29, 210-221.
- RODRIGUEZ, R. J., WHITE, J. F., ARNOLD, A. E. & REDMAN, R. S. 2009. Fungal endophytes: diversity and functional roles. *New Phytologist*, 182, 314-330.
- ROGERS, L. A. & CAMPBELL, M. M. 2004. The genetic control of lignin deposition during plant growth and development. *New Phytologist*, 164, 17-30.
- RUYTER-SPIRA, C., AL-BABILI, S., VAN DER KROL, S. & BOUWMEESTER, H. 2013. The biology of strigolactones. *Trends in Plant Science*, 18, 72-83.
- SANCHEZ-VALLET, A., MESTERS, J. R. & THOMMA, B. 2015. The battle for chitin recognition in plant-microbe interactions. *Fems Microbiology Reviews*, 39, 171-183.
- SCERVINO, J. M., PONCE, M. A., ERRA-BASSELLS, R., BOMPADRE, M. J., VIERHEILIG, H., OCAMPO, J. A. & GODEAS, A. 2006. Glycosidation of apigenin results in a loss of its activity on different growth parameters of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi from the genus Glomus and Gigaspora. *Soil Biology & Biochemistry*, 38, 2919-2922.

- SCHLIEMANN, W., AMMER, C. & STRACK, D. 2008. Metabolite profiling of mycorrhizal roots of Medicago truncatula. *Phytochemistry*, 69, 112-146.
- SCHNABLE, P. S., WARE, D., FULTON, R. S., STEIN, J. C., WEI, F., PASTERNAK, S., LIANG, C., ZHANG, J., FULTON, L., GRAVES, T. A., MINX, P., REILY, A. D., COURTNEY, L., KRUCHOWSKI, S. S., TOMLINSON, C., STRONG, C., DELEHAUNTY, K., FRONICK, C., COURTNEY, B., ROCK, S. M., BELTER, E., DU, F., KIM, K., ABBOTT, R. M., COTTON, M., LEVY, A., MARCHETTO, P., OCHOA, K., JACKSON, S. M., GILLAM, B., CHEN, W., YAN, L., HIGGINBOTHAM, J., CARDENAS, M., WALIGORSKI, J., APPLEBAUM, E., PHELPS, L., FALCONE, J., KANCHI, K., THANE, T., SCIMONE, A., THANE, N., HENKE, J., WANG, T., RUPPERT, J., SHAH, N., ROTTER, K., HODGES, J., INGENTHRON, E., CORDES, M., KOHLBERG, S., SGRO, J., DELGADO, B., MEAD, K., CHINWALLA, A., LEONARD, S., CROUSE, K., COLLURA, K., KUDRNA, D., CURRIE, J., HE, R., ANGELOVA, A., RAJASEKAR, S., MUELLER, T., LOMELI, R., SCARA, G., KO, A., DELANEY, K., WISSOTSKI, M., LOPEZ, G., CAMPOS, D., BRAIDOTTI, M., ASHLEY, E., GOLSER, W., KIM, H., LEE, S., LIN, J., DUJMIC, Z., KIM, W., TALAG, J., ZUCCOLO, A., FAN, C., SEBASTIAN, A., KRAMER, M., SPIEGEL, L., NASCIMENTO, L., ZUTAVERN, T., MILLER, B., AMBROISE, C., MULLER, S., SPOONER, W., NARECHANIA, A., REN, L., WEI, S., KUMARI, S., FAGA, B., LEVY, M. J., MCMAHAN, L., VAN BUREN, P., VAUGHN, M. W., et al. 2009. The B73 Maize genome: Complexity, diversity, and dynamics. Science, 326, 1112-1115.
- SCHOLES, J. D. & PRESS, M. C. 2008. Striga infestation of cereal crops an unsolved problem in resource limited agriculture. *Current Opinion in Plant Biology*, 11.
- SCHUSSLER, A., SCHWARZOTT, D. & WALKER, C. 2001. A new fungal phylum, the Glomeromycota: phylogeny and evolution. *Mycological Research*, 105, 1413-1421.
- SCHUSSLER, A. & WALKER, C. 2010 The *Glomeromycota*. A species list with new families and new genera. *Effectively published in Gloucester, England*, 1-54.
- SCHUSSLER, A., KRUGER, M. & WALKER, C. 2011. Revealing natural relationships among arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi: Culture line BEG47 represents *Diversispora epigaea*, not *Glomus versiforme*. *Plos One* 6.
- SECK, P. A., TOLLENS, E., WOPEREIS, M. C. S., DIAGNE, A. & BAMBA, I. 2010. Rising trends and variability of rice prices: Threats and opportunities for sub-Saharan Africa. *Food Policy*, 35, 403-411.
- SERGHINI, K., DE LUQUE, A. P., CASTEJON-MUNOZ, M., GARCIA-TORRES, L. & JORRIN, J. V. 2001. Sunflower (Helianthus annuus L.) response to broomrape (Orobanche cernua Loefl.) parasitism: induced synthesis and excretion of 7-hydroxylated simple coumarins. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 52, 2227-2234.
- SHOWEMIMO, F. A., KIMBENG, C. A. & ALABI, S. O. 2002. Genotypic response of sorghum cultivars to nitrogen fertilization in the control of Striga hermonthica. *Crop Protection*, 21, 867-870.
- SMITH, F. A. & SMITH, S. E. 1997. Tansley Review No. 96 Structural diversity in (vesicular)-arbuscular mycorrhizal symbioses. *New Phytologist*, 137, 373-388.

- SMITH, J. D., MESCHER, M. C. & DE MORAES, C. M. 2013. Implications of bioactive solute transfer from hosts to parasitic plants. *Current Opinion in Plant Biology*, 16, 464-472.
- SMITH, S. E. & READ, D. J. 2008. Mycorrhizal Symbiosis, 3rd Edition. *Mycorrhizal Symbiosis, 3rd Edition*, 1-787.
- SMITH, S. E., JAKOBSEN, I., GRONLUND, M. & SMITH, F. A. 2011. Roles of arbuscular mycorrhizas in plant phosphorus nutrition: Interactions between pathways of phosphorus uptake in arbuscular mycorrhizal roots have important implications for understanding and manipulating plant phosphorus acquisition. *Plant Physiology*, 156, 1050-1057.
- STADDON, P. L. & FITTER, A. H. 1998. Does elevated atmospheric carbon dioxide affect arbuscular mycorrhizas? *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 13, 455-458.
- STEINKELLNER, S., LENDZEMO, V., LANGER, I., SCHWEIGER, P., KHAOSAAD, T., TOUSSAINT, J. P. & VIERHEILIG, H. 2007. Flavonoids and strigolactones in root exudates as signals in symbiotic and pathogenic plant-fungus interactions. *Molecules*, 12, 1290-1306.
- STOCKINGER, H., WALKER, C. & SCHUESSLER, A. 2009. 'Glomus intraradices DAOM197198', a model fungus in arbuscular mycorrhiza research, is not Glomus intraradices. *New Phytologist*, 183, 1176-1187.
- SU, Y. H., LIU, Y. B. & ZHANG, X. S. 2011. Auxin-cytokinin interaction regulates meristem development. *Molecular Plant*, 4, 616-625.
- SUGIMOTO, Y., ALI, A. M., YABUTA, S., KINOSHITA, H., INANAGA, S. & ITAI, A. 2003. Germination strategy of Striga hermonthica involves regulation of ethylene biosynthesis. *Physiologia Plantarum*, 119.
- SWARBRICK, P. J., HUANG, K., LIU, G., SLATE, J., PRESS, M. C. & SCHOLES, J. D. 2008. Global patterns of gene expression in rice cultivars undergoing a susceptible or resistant interaction with the parasitic plant Striga hermonthica. *New Phytologist*, 179.
- TARBELL, T. J. & KOSKE, R. E. 2007. Evaluation of commercial arbuscular mycorrhizal inocula in a sand/peat medium. *Mycorrhiza*, 18, 51-56.
- TAYLOR, A., MARTIN, J. & SEEL, W. E. 1996. Physiology of the parasitic association between maize and witchweed (Striga hermonthica): Is ABA involved? *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 47, 1057-1065.
- TESITEL, J. 2016. Functional biology of parasitic plants: a review. *Plant Ecology* and Evolution, 149, 5-20.
- TOH, S., HOLBROOK-SMITH, D., STOGIOS, P. J., ONOPRIYENKO, O., LUMBA, S., TSUCHIYA, Y., SAVCHENKO, A. & MCCOURT, P. 2015. Structure-function analysis identifies highly sensitive strigolactone receptors in Striga. *Science*, 350, 203-207.
- TOMILOV, A. A., TOMILOVA, N. B., WROBLEWSKI, T., MICHELMORE, R. & YODER, J. I. 2008. Trans-specific gene silencing between host and parasitic plants. *Plant Journal*, 56, 389-397.
- TON, J., FLORS, V. & MAUCH-MANI, B. 2009. The multifaceted role of ABA in disease resistance. *Trends in Plant Science*, 14, 310-317.
- TSANUO, M. K., HASSANALI, A., HOOPER, A. M., KHAN, Z., KABERIA, F., PICKETT, J. A. & WADHAMS, L. J. 2003. Isoflavanones from the allelopathic aqueous root exudate of Desmodium uncinatum. *Phytochemistry*, 64, 265-273.

- TSUCHIYA, Y. & MCCOURT, P. 2012. Strigolactones as small molecule communicators. *Molecular Biosystems*, 8.
- TSUCHIYA, Y., YOSHIMURA, M., SATO, Y., KUWATA, K., TOH, S., HOLBROOK-SMITH, D., ZHANG, H., MCCOURT, P., ITAMI, K., KINOSHITA, T. & HAGIHARA, S. 2015. Probing strigolactone receptors in Striga hermonthica with fluorescence. *Science*, 349, 864-868.
- UMEHARA, M., HANADA, A., YOSHIDA, S., AKIYAMA, K., ARITE, T., TAKEDA-KAMIYA, N., MAGOME, H., KAMIYA, Y., SHIRASU, K., YONEYAMA, K., KYOZUKA, J. & YAMAGUCHI, S. 2008. Inhibition of shoot branching by new terpenoid plant hormones. *Nature*, 455.
- VAN AST, A., BASTIAANS, L. & KATILE, S. 2005. Cultural control measures to diminish sorghum yield loss and parasite success under Striga hermonthica infestation. *Crop Protection*, 24.
- VAN DER ENT, S., VAN WEES, S. C. M. & PIETERSE, C. M. J. 2009. Jasmonate signaling in plant interactions with resistance-inducing beneficial microbes. *Phytochemistry*, 70, 1581-1588.
- VAN DER GAST, C. J., GOSLING, P., TIWARI, B. & BENDING, G. D. 2011. Spatial scaling of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungal diversity is affected by farming practice. *Environmental Microbiology*, 13, 241-249.
- VAN DER HEIJDEN, M. G. A., KLIRONOMOS, J. N., URSIC, M., MOUTOGLIS, P., STREITWOLF-ENGEL, R., BOLLER, T., WIEMKEN, A. & SANDERS, I. R. 1998. Mycorrhizal fungal diversity determines plant biodiversity, ecosystem variability and productivity. *Nature*, 396, 69-72.
- VAN WEES, S. C. M., VAN DER ENT, S. & PIETERSE, C. M. J. 2008. Plant immune responses triggered by beneficial microbes. *Current Opinion in Plant Biology*, 11, 443-448.
- VANHOLME, R., DEMEDTS, B., MORREEL, K., RALPH, J. & BOERJAN, W. 2010. Lignin biosynthesis and structure. *Plant Physiology*, 153, 895-905.
- VEJAN, P., ABDULLAH, R., KHADIRAN, T., ISMAIL, S. & BOYCE, A. N. 2016. Role of plant growth promoting rhizobacteria in agricultural sustainability-A review. *Molecules*, 21.
- VERBRUGGEN, E. & KIERS, E. T. 2010. Evolutionary ecology of mycorrhizal functional diversity in agricultural systems. *Evolutionary Applications*, 3, 547-560.
- VERESOGLOU, S. D., BARTO, E. K., MENEXES, G. & RILLIG, M. C. 2013. Fertilization affects severity of disease caused by fungal plant pathogens. *Plant Pathology*, 62, 961-969.
- VIERHEILIG, H. 2004. Further root colonization by arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi in already mycorrhizal plants is suppressed after a critical level of root colonization. *Journal of Plant Physiology*, 161, 339-341.
- VOGT, T. 2010. Phenylpropanoid Biosynthesis. *Molecular Plant*, 3, 2-20.
- VURRO, M., BOARI, A., EVIDENTE, A., ANDOLFI, A. & ZERMANE, N. 2009. Natural metabolites for parasitic weed management. *Pest Management Science*, 65, 566-571.
- WADDINGTON, S. R., LI, X. Y., DIXON, J., HYMAN, G. & DE VICENTE, M. C. 2010. Getting the focus right: production constraints for six major food crops in Asian and African farming systems. *Food Security*, 2, 27-48.
- WALDER, F., NIEMANN, H., NATARAJAN, M., LEHMANN, M. F., BOLLER, T.
 & WIEMKEN, A. 2012. Mycorrhizal networks: Common goods of plants shared under unequal terms of trade. *Plant Physiology*, 159, 789-+.

- WANG, E., SCHORNACK, S., MARSH, J. F., GOBBATO, E., SCHWESSINGER,
 B., EASTMOND, P., SCHULTZE, M., KAMOUN, S. & OLDROYD, G. E.
 D. 2012. A common signaling process that promotes mycorrhizal and oomycete colonization of plants. *Current Biology*, 22, 2242-2246.
- WATLING, J. R. & PRESS, M. C. 2000. Infection with the parasitic angiosperm Striga hermonthica influences the response of the C-3 cereal Oryza sativa to elevated CO2. *Global Change Biology*, 6, 919-930.
- WATLING, J. R. & PRESS, M. C. 2001. Impacts of infection by parasitic angiosperms on host photosynthesis. *Plant Biology*, 3, 244-250.
- WATSON, B. S., BEDAIR, M. F., URBANCZYK-WOCHNIAK, E., HUHMAN, D. V., YANG, D. S., ALLEN, S. N., LI, W. S., TANG, Y. H. & SUMNER, L. W. 2015. Integrated metabolomics and transcriptomics reveal enhanced specialized metabolism in Medicago truncatula root border cells. *Plant Physiology*, 167, 1699-1716.
- WEREMIJEWICZ, J. & JANOS, D. P. 2013. Common mycorrhizal networks amplify size inequality in Andropogon gerardii monocultures. *New Phytologist*, 198, 203-213.
- WERNER, G. D. A. & KIERS, E. T. 2015. Order of arrival structures arbuscular mycorrhizal colonization of plants. *New Phytologist*, 205, 1515-1524.
- WESTWOOD, J. H., YODER, J. I., TIMKO, M. P. & DEPAMPHILIS, C. W. 2010. The evolution of parasitism in plants. *Trends in Plant Science*, 15.
- WESTWOOD, J. H., DEPAMPHILIS, C. W., DAS, M., FERNANDEZ-APARICIO, M., HONAAS, L. A., TIMKO, M. P., WAFULA, E. K., WICKETT, N. J. & YODER, J. I. 2012. The parasitic plant genome project: New tools for understanding the biology of Orobanche and Striga. *Weed Science*, 60, 295-306.
- WING, R. A., YAMAGUCHI, J., LARABELL, S. K., URSIN, V. M. & MCCORMICK, S. 1990. Molecular and genetic characterization of 2 pollenexpressed genes that have sequence similarity to pectate lyases of the plant pathogen Erwinia. *Plant Molecular Biology*, 14, 17-28.
- WU, H., PRATLEY, J., LEMERLE, D. & HAIG, T. 1999. Crop cultivars with allelopathic capability. *Weed Research*, 39, 171-180.
- WYATT, G. A. K., KIERS, E. T., GARDNER, A. & WEST, S. A. 2014. A biological market analysis of the plant-mycorrhizal symbiosis. *Evolution*, 68, 2603-2618.
- WYATT, G. A. K., KIERS, E. T., GARDNER, A. & WEST, S. A. 2016. Restricting mutualistic partners to enforce trade reliance. *Nature Communications*, 7.
- XIE, X., YONEYAMA, K. & YONEYAMA, K. 2010. The Strigolactone Story. Annual Review of Phytopathology, Vol 48, 48.
- XIE, X. N., YONEYAMA, K., KISUGI, T., UCHIDA, K., ITO, S., AKIYAMA, K., HAYASHI, H., YOKOTA, T. & NOMURA, T. 2013. Confirming stereochemical structures of strigolactones produced by rice and tobacco. *Molecular Plant*, 6, 153-163.
- XING, X. K., KOCH, A. M., JONES, A. M. P., RAGONE, D., MURCH, S. & HART, M. M. 2012. Mutualism breakdown in breadfruit domestication. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B-Biological Sciences*, 279, 1122-1130.
- XU, L., ZHU, L. F., TU, L. L., LIU, L. L., YUAN, D. J., JIN, L., LONG, L. & ZHANG, X. L. 2011. Lignin metabolism has a central role in the resistance of cotton to the wilt fungus Verticillium dahliae as revealed by RNA-Seq-
dependent transcriptional analysis and histochemistry. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 62, 5607-5621.

- YODER, J. I. & SCHOLES, J. D. 2010. Host plant resistance to parasitic weeds; recent progress and bottlenecks. *Current Opinion in Plant Biology*, 13, 478-484.
- YONEYAMA, K., XIE, X., KUSUMOTO, D., SEKIMOTO, H., SUGIMOTO, Y., TAKEUCHI, Y. & YONEYAMA, K. 2007a. Nitrogen deficiency as well as phosphorus deficiency in sorghum promotes the production and exudation of 5-deoxystrigol, the host recognition signal for arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi and root parasites. *Planta*, 227.
- YONEYAMA, K., YONEYAMA, K., TAKEUCHI, Y. & SEKIMOTO, H. 2007b. Phosphorus deficiency in red clover promotes exudation of orobanchol, the signal for mycorrhizal symbionts and germination stimulant for root parasites. *Planta*, 225.
- YONEYAMA, K., XIE, X. N., SEKIMOTO, H., TAKEUCHI, Y., OGASAWARA, S., AKIYAMA, K. & HAYASHI, H. 2008. Strigolactones, host recognition signals for root parasitic plants and arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi, from Fabaceae plants. *New Phytologist*, 179, 484-494.
- YONEYAMA, K., AWAD, A. A., XIE, X. N. & TAKEUCHI, Y. 2010. Strigolactones as germination stimulants for root parasitic plants. *Plant and Cell Physiology*, 51, 1095-1103.
- YONEYAMA, K., XIE, X. N., KISUGI, T., NOMURA, T., SEKIMOTO, H. & YOKOTA, T. 2011. Characterization of strigolactones exuded by Asteraceae plants. *Plant Growth Regulation*, 65, 495-504.
- YONEYAMA, K., XIE, X., KIM, H. I., KISUGI, T., NOMURA, T., SEKIMOTO, H., YOKOTA, T. & YONEYAMA, K. 2012. How do nitrogen and phosphorus deficiencies affect strigolactone production and exudation? *Planta*, 235.
- YOSHIDA, S. & SHIRASU, K. 2009. Multiple layers of incompatibility to the parasitic witchweed, Striga hermonthica. *New Phytologist*, 183, 180-189.
- YOSHIDA, S., CUI, S. K., ICHIHASHI, Y. & SHIRASU, K. 2016a. The haustorium, a specialized invasive organ in parasitic plants. *Annual Review of Plant Biology, Vol 67, 67, 643-667.*
- YOSHIDA, S., KIM, S., WAFULA, E., TANSKANEN, J., KIM, Y.-M. & AL., E. 2016b. Genome sequencing of *Striga asiatica* provides insight into the evolution of plant parasitism. Submitted.
- ZHANG, J. & ZHOU, J.-M. 2010. Plant immunity triggered by microbial molecular signatures. *Molecular Plant*, 3, 783-793.
- ZHANG, X. H., DA SILVA, J. A. T., DUAN, J., DENG, R. F., XU, X. L. & MA, G. H. 2012. Endogenous hormone levels and anatomical characters of haustoria in Santalum album L. seedlings before and after attachment to the host. *Journal of Plant Physiology*, 169, 859-866.
- ZHAO, Y. D. 2010. Auxin biosynthesis and its role in plant development. Annual Review of Plant Biology, Vol 61, 61, 49-64.
- ZHOU, W. J., YONEYAMA, K., TAKEUCHI, Y., ISO, S., RUNGMEKARAT, S., CHAE, S. H., SATO, D. & JOEL, D. M. 2004. In vitro infection of host roots by differentiated calli of the parasitic plant Orobanche. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 55, 899-907.
- ZIPFEL, C. 2008. Pattern-recognition receptors in plant innate immunity. *Current Opinion in Immunology*, 20, 10-16.

Appendix A

ANOVA tables for statistics carried out in chapter 2

Adjusted R ²	93.13%			44.29%				
None	IAC165	Above ground dry weight (g) IAC165 Root bi			Root biomass (piomass (g)		
Source of variation	df	F	P	df	\overline{F}	P		
AM	1	73.31	< 0.000	1	1.37	0.252		
Striga	1	294.55	< 0.000	1	25.43	< 0.001		
AM x Striga	1	55.11	< 0.000	1	0.85	0.365		
Error	28			28				

Table A1 Results of the ANOVA testing for the effects of *R. irregularis* and *S. hermonthica* on above ground and root dry weight of IAC165.

Table A2 Results of the ANOVA testing for the effects of *R. irregularis* and *S. hermonthica* on leaf and root nitrogen concentration of IAC165.

Adjusted R ²	15.75%			46.34%				
None	IAC165	AC165 Leaf N (mg/g)			IAC165 Root N (mg/g)			
Source of variation	df	F	Р	df	F	Р		
AM	1	2.94	0.97	1	4.59	0.041		
Striga	1	3.55	0.7	1	22.1	< 0.001		
AM x Striga	1	2.3	0.141	1	3.08	0.09		
Error	28			28				

Table A3 Results of the ANOVA testing for the effects of *R. irregularis* and *S. hermonthica* on leaf and root phosphorus concentration of IAC165.

Adjusted R ²	71.649	71.64%			81.02%			
	IAC16	55 Leaf P (r	ng/g)	IAC165 Root P (mg/g)				
Source of variation	df	F	Р	df	F	Р		
AM	1	55.75	< 0.001	1	95.23	< 0.001		
Striga	1	21.04	< 0.001	1	35.18	< 0.001		
AM x Striga	1	4.51	0.043	1	4.96	0.034		
Error	28							

Table A4 Results of the ANOVA testing for the effects of *R. irregularis* and *S. hermonthica* on main stem diameter and height of IAC165.

Adjusted R ²	87.73%			83.16%				
	IAC165 Diameter of main stem (cm)			IAC165 Height of main stem (cm)				
Source of variation	df	F	Р	df	F	Р		
AM	1	0.09	0.767	1	0.99	0.329		
Striga	1	223.54	< 0.001	1	154.11	< 0.001		
AM x Striga	1	0.97	0.333	1	0.99	0.329		
Error	28			28				

Adjusted R ²	47.45%			68.86%			
	IAC165	Total number	r of leaves	IAC165 Total number of tillers			
Source of variation	df	F	Р	df	F	Р	
AM	1	30.4	< 0.001	1	31.11	< 0.001	
Striga	1	0	0.945	1	25.2	< 0.001	
AM x Striga	1	0.59	0.449	1	15.24	0.001	
Error	28			28			

Table A5 Results of the ANOVA testing for the effects of *R. irregularis* and *S. hermonthica* on total number of leaves and tillers of IAC165.

Adjusted R ²	90.93%		0%			
	Shiokari	Above ground	dry weight (g)	Shiokari Root dry weight (g)		
Source of variation	df	F	Р	df	F	Р
AM	1	40.65	< 0.001	1	0.07	0.799
Striga	1	261.23	< 0.001	1	0.68	0.415
AM x Striga	1	11.75	0.002	1	1.06	0.312
Error	28			28		

Table A6 Results of the ANOVA testing for the effects of *R. irregularis* and *S. hermonthica* on above ground and root dry weight of Shiokari.

Table A7 Results of the ANOVA testing for the effects of *R. irregularis* and *S. hermonthica* on leaf and root nitrogen concentration of Shiokari.

Adjusted R ²	44.67%)		12.13%			
	Shiokari Leaf N (mg/g)			Shioka	ari Root N	(mg/g)	
Source of variation	df	F	Р	df	F	Р	
AM	1	18.05	< 0.001	1	2.56	0.121	
Striga	1	5.11	0.032	1	3.88	0.059	
AM x Striga	1	4.86	0.036	1	0.84	0.366	
Error	28			28			

Table A8 Results of the ANOVA testing for the effects of *R. irregularis* and *S. hermonthica* on leaf and root phosphorus concentration of Shiokari.

Adjusted R ²	54.67%	54.67%			74.12%			
	Shioka	Shiokari Leaf P (mg/g)			Shiokari Root P (mg/g)			
Source of variation	df	F	Р	df	F	Р		
AM	1	34.8	< 0.001	1	53.6	< 0.001		
Striga	1	5.37	0.028	1	29.76	< 0.001		
AM x Striga	1	0.22	0.64	1	8.44	0.007		
Error	28			28				

Table A9 Results of the ANOVA testing for the effects of *R. irregularis* and *S. hermonthica* on main stem diameter and height of Shiokari.

Adjusted R² 69.31%

89.82%

	Shiokari Diameter of main stem (cm)			Shiokari Height of main stem (cm)			
Source of variation	df	F	Р	df	F	Р	
AM	1	3.32	0.079	1	3.06	0.092	
Striga	1	66.55	< 0.001	1	222.59	< 0.001	
AM x Striga	1	3.15	0.087	1	36.52	< 0.001	
Error	28			28			

Adjusted R ²	46.83%			18.42%			
	IAC165	Total number	of leaves	IAC165 Total number of tillers			
Source of variation	df	F	Р	df	F	Р	
AM	1	23.08	< 0.001	1	8	0.009	
Striga	1	3.13	0.088	1	2	0.168	
AM x Striga	1	4.09	0.053	1	0	1	
Error	28			28			

Table A10 Results of the ANOVA testing for the effects of *R. irregularis* and *S. hermonthica* on total number of leaves and tillers of Shiokari.

Appendix B

ANOVA tables for statistics carried out in chapter 3

Table B1 Results of the ANOVA testing for the effects of *R. irregularis*, *S. hermonthica* and nutrients (high and low N/P) on the above ground and root dry weight of rice cultivar IAC165 at 5 weeks after sowing (WAS).

Adjusted R ²	97.51%			84.36%				
	Above ground dry weight (g)			Root dr	Root dry weight (g)			
Source of variation	df	F	Р	df	F	Р		
Nutrients	1	2054.33	< 0.001	1	251.74	< 0.001		
AM	1	16.97	< 0.001	1	0.03	0.862		
Striga	1	380.31	< 0.001	1	68.84	< 0.001		
Nutrients x AM	1	0.86	0.357	1	0.02	0.878		
Nutrients x Striga	1	11.84	0.001	1	25.15	< 0.001		
AM x Striga	1	2.97	0.09	1	0.14	0.706		
Nutrient x AM x Striga	1	8.63	0.005	1	0.91	0.344		
Error	56			56				

Table B2 Results of the ANOVA testing for the effects of *R. irregularis*, *S. hermonthica* and nutrients (high and low N/P) on leaf and root nitrogen concentration of rice cultivar IAC165 at 5 WAS.

Adjusted R ²	86.85%				63.87%			
	Leaf N	Leaf N (mg/g)			Root N (mg/g)			
Source of variation	df	F	Р		df	F	Р	
Nutrients	1	412.59	< 0.001		1	94.69	< 0.001	
AM	1	7.17	0.01		1	4.14	0.047	
Striga	1	0.06	0.813		1	16.08	>0.001	
Nutrients x AM	1	0.16	0.693		1	1.98	0.165	
Nutrients x Striga	1	2	0.163		1	0.32	0.575	
AM x Striga	1	0.39	0.537		1	0.31	0.581	
Nutrient x AM x Striga	1	0.75	0.389		1	0.84	0.363	
Error	56				56			

Adjusted R ²	63.909	%		21.56%	, D	
		Leaf P (mg/g)		Root P	(mg/g)	
Source of variation	df	F	Р	df	F	Р
Nutrients	1	52.18	< 0.001	1	4.12	0.047
AM	1	0.13	0.723	1	0.09	0.761
Striga	1	44.3	< 0.001	1	16.01	< 0.001
Nutrients x AM	1	0.44	0.509	1	0.37	0.546
Nutrients x Striga	1	20.23	< 0.001	1	0.88	0.351
AM x Striga	1	0.01	0.923	1	1.02	0.317
Nutrient x AM x Striga	1	1.25	0.268	1	1.82	0.182
Error	56			56		

Table B3 Results of the ANOVA testing for the effects of *R. irregularis*, *S. hermonthica* and nutrients (high and low N/P) on leaf and root phosphorus concentration of rice cultivar IAC165 at 5 WAS

Adjusted R ²	96.10	%		82.14%				
	Above	e ground dry	weight (g)	Root dry weight (g)				
Source of variation	df	F	Р	df	F	Р		
Nutrients	1	469.74	< 0.001	1	81.71	< 0.001		
AM	1	12.37	0.001	1	0.11	0.745		
Striga	1	716.9	< 0.001	1	210.41	< 0.001		
Nutrients x AM	1	0.96	0.332	1	0.14	0.706		
Nutrients x Striga	1	358.4	< 0.001	1	0.19	0.668		
AM x Striga	1	0.72	0.399	1	0.15	0.696		
Nutrient x AM x Striga	1	0.13	0.724	1	4.11	0.047		
Error	56			56				

Table B4 Results of the ANOVA testing for the effects of *R. irregularis*, *S. hermonthica* and nutrients (high and low N/P) on the above ground and root dry weight of rice cultivar IAC165 at 10 WAS.

Table B5 Results of the ANOVA testing for the effects of *R. irregularis*, *S. hermonthica* and nutrients (high and low N/P) on leaf and root nitrogen concentration of rice cultivar IAC165 at 10 WAS.

Adjusted R ²	33.05%	6		66.97%	66.97%			
	Leaf N	l (mg/g)		Root N	(mg/g)			
Source of variation	df	F	Р	df	F	Р		
Nutrients	1	18.48	< 0.001	1	24.87	< 0.001		
AM	1	2.7	0.106	1	1.13	0.293		
Striga	1	9.70	0.003	1	94.1	< 0.001		
Nutrients x AM	1	0.39	0.537	1	1.12	0.293		
Nutrients x Striga	1	5.29	0.025	1	1.11	0.297		
AM x Striga	1	1.44	0.236	1	5.79	0.019		
Nutrient x AM x Striga	1	0.11	0.743	1	6.63	0.013		
Error	56			56				

Table B6 Results of the ANOVA testing for the effects of *R. irregularis*, *S. hermonthica* and nutrients (high and low N/P) on leaf and root phosphorus concentration of rice cultivar IAC165 at 10 WAS.

Adjusted R ²	58.12%			70.74%	70.74%			
	Leaf P	(mg/g)		Root P	(mg/g)			
Source of variation	df	F	Р	df	F	Р		
Nutrients	1	9.73	0.003	1	0.07	0.793		
AM	1	0.87	0.354	1	1.64	0.205		
Striga	1	81.2	< 0.001	1	125.65	< 0.001		
Nutrients x AM	1	0.76	0.388	1	1.84	0.18		
Nutrients x Striga	1	0.01	0.918	1	24.21	< 0.001		
AM x Striga	1	1.49	0.227	1	4.09	0.048		
Nutrient x AM x Striga	1	0.35	0.556	1	1.82	0.183		
Error	56			56				

Adjusted R ²	87.68%	87.68%			84.82%				
	Diame	er of main ste	m (mm)	Height	of main stem	(mm)			
Source of variation	df	F	Р	df	F	Р			
Nutrients	1	55.91	< 0.001	1	69.64	< 0.001			
AM	1	5.31	0.025	1	5.46	0.023			
Striga	1	390.07	< 0.001	1	281.54	< 0.001			
Nutrients x AM	1	1.12	0.295	1	0.07	0.792			
Nutrients x Striga	1	1.99	0.164	1	1.21	0.277			
AM x Striga	1	0.87	0.355	1	1.05	0.311			
Nutrient x AM x Striga	1	0.17	0.685	1	0.01	0.93			
Error	56			56					

Table B7 Results of the ANOVA testing for the effects of *R. irregularis*, *S. hermonthica* and nutrients (high and low N/P) on main stem diameter and height of rice cultivar IAC165 at 10 WAS.

Table B8 Results of the ANOVA testing for the effects of *R. irregularis*, *S. hermonthica* and nutrients (high and low N/P) on total number of leaves of rice cultivar IAC165 at 10 WAS.

5			
	Total num	ber of leave	es
Source of variation	df	F	Р
Nutrients	1	41.89	< 0.001
AM	1	0.03	0.874
Striga	1	3.48	0.068
Nutrients x AM	1	1.84	0.18
Nutrients x Striga	1	3.18	0.08
AM x Striga	1	0.18	0.672
Nutrient x AM x Striga	1	1.44	0.236
Error	56		

41.68%

Adjusted R²

Table B9 Results of the ANOVA testing for the effects of *R. irregularis*, *S. hermonthica* on total number of tillers of rice cultivar IAC165 supplied with high N/P at 10 WAS. Rice supplied with low did not develop any tillers at any stage of the experiment.

Adjusted R ²	47.84%					
	Total r	umber of tille	ers			
Source of variation	df	F	Р			
AM	1	1.14	0.294			
Striga	1	23.14	< 0.001			
AM x Striga	1	7.14	0.012			
Error	28					

Table B10 Results of the ANOVA testing for the effects of *S. hermonthica* and nutrients (high and low N/P) on *R. irregularis* colonisation of rice cultivar IAC165 at 5 WAS.

Adjusted R ²	90.18%			81.62%			75.27%		
	Intrarac	lical root colo	nisation	Vesicle	es colonisatio	n	Arbusc	ule colonisati	ion
Source of variation	df	F	Р	df	F	Р	df	F	Р
Nutrients	1	256.68	< 0.001	1	118.6	< 0.001	1	94.93	< 0.001
AM/Striga	1	17.83	< 0.001	1	12.47	0.001	1	0.54	0.47
Nutrients x AM/Striga	1	13.15	0.001	1	9.55	0.004	1	1.89	0.18
Error	28			28			28		

Table B11 Results of the ANOVA testing for the effects of *S. hermonthica* and nutrients (high and low N/P) on *R. irregularis* colonisation of rice cultivar IAC165 at 10 WAS.

Adjusted R ² 35.97%		49.81%	49.81%			24.90%			
	Intrara	dical root col	onisation	Vesicle	es colonisatio	n	Arbusc	ule colonisa	tion
Source of variation	df	F	Р	df	F	Р	df	F	Р
Nutrients	1	0.59	0.45	1	1.07	0.31	1	0.19	0.665
AM/Striga	1	19.59	< 0.001	1	32.52	< 0.001	1	12.9	0.001
Nutrients x AM/Striga	1	0.24	0.631	1	0.18	0.671	1	0.19	0.665
Error	28			28			28		

Adjusted R ²	50.68%	50.68%			30.86%			
	Striga ni	umber		Striga nur	<i>Striga</i> number per unit root biomass			
Source of variation	df	F	Р	df	F	Р		
Nutrients	1	43.06	< 0.001	1	16.48	< 0.001		
AM/Striga	1	0.49	0.491	1	0.04	0.842		
Nutrients x AM/Striga	1	0.3	0.586	1	0.31	0.58		
Error	28			28				
Adjusted R ²	40.68%			12.25%				
	<i>Striga</i> bi	omass (mg))	Average S	Striga biomass	5		
Source of variation	df	F	Р	df	F	Р		
Nutrients	1	16.66	< 0.001	1	0.59	0.449		
AM/Striga	1	6.36	0.018	1	5.39	0.028		
Nutrients x AM/Striga	1	1.24	0.275	1	1.35	0.255		
Error	28			28				

Table B12 Results of the ANOVA testing for the effects of *R. irregularis* and nutrients (high and low N/P) on *S. hermonthica* infection of rice cultivar IAC165 at 5 WAS.

Adjusted R ²	16.84%	16.84%			13.57%			
	Striga 1	number		<i>Striga</i> number per unit root biomass				
Source of variation	df	F	Р	df	F	Р		
Nutrients	1	7.51	0.011	1	6.71	0.015		
AM/Striga	1	1.49	0.232	1	0.08	0.784		
Nutrients x AM/Striga	1	0.28	0.601	1	1.09	0.306		
Error	28			28				
Adjusted R ²	48.31%)		24.64%				
	Striga l	piomass (mg)		Average	e Striga biomass	5		
Source of variation	df	F	Р	df	F	Р		
Nutrients	1	29.28	< 0.001	1	12.26	0.002		
AM/Striga	1	0.99	0.328	1	0.17	0.685		
Nutrients x AM/Striga	1	0.06	0.814	1	0.03	0.868		
Error	28			28				

Table B13 Results of the ANOVA testing for the effects of *R. irregularis* and nutrients (high and low N/P) on *S. hermonthica* infection of rice cultivar IAC165 at 10 WAS.